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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that are forward-looking and as such are not historical facts. These statements are based on
the expectations and beliefs of the management of PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company,” “PLBY,” “we,” “us,” “our”) in light of historical results and trends,
current conditions and potential future developments, and are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include all statements other than historical fact, including statements about our
future performance and opportunities; benefits of acquisitions and corporate transactions; statements of the plans, strategies and objectives of management for
future operations; and statements regarding future economic conditions or performance. When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,”
“strive,” “would” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, and include the assumptions that underlie such statements, but the absence
of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. When we discuss our strategies and/or plans, we are making projections, forecasts or
forward-looking statements. Such statements are based on the beliefs of, as well as assumptions made by and information currently available to, our
management.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on current expectations and beliefs concerning future
developments and their potential effects on the Company. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting the Company will be those that the
Company has anticipated. These forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties that could cause the actual results to differ materially
from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to: (1) the impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on the Company’s business and acquisitions; (2) the inability to maintain the listing of the Company’s shares of common stock on Nasdaq; (3)
the risk that the Company’s acquisitions or any proposed transactions disrupt the Company’s current plans and/or operations, including the risk that the
Company does not complete any such proposed transactions or achieve the expected benefits from them; (4) the ability to recognize the anticipated benefits of
acquisitions, commercial collaborations, commercialization of digital assets and proposed transactions, which may be affected by, among other things,
competition, the ability of the Company to grow and manage growth profitably, and retain its key employees; (5) costs related to being a public company,
acquisitions, commercial collaborations and proposed transactions; (6) changes in applicable laws or regulations; (7) the possibility that the Company may be
adversely affected by global hostilities, supply chain delays or other economic, business, and/or competitive factors; (8) risks relating to the uncertainty of the
projected financial information of the Company; (9) risks related to the organic and inorganic growth of the Company’s businesses, and the timing of expected
business milestones; and (10) other risks and uncertainties indicated in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including those under “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”
Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of the Company’s assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in
material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements. The Company cautions that the foregoing list of factors is not exclusive, and
readers should not place undue reliance upon any forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any
earlier date specified for such statements. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect any change in our
expectations or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statement is based, except as may be required under applicable law. All
subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on the Company’s behalf are qualified in their entirety by
this Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.
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PART I
Item 1. Business

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this section to the “Company”, “we”, “us”, “our” and other similar terms refer to
Playboy Enterprises, Inc. (“Playboy”) and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to Playboy's February 10, 2021 business combination with Mountain Crest
Acquisition Corp (the “Business Combination”), and to PLBY Group, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries after giving effect to the Business Combination.

Overview

We are a pleasure and leisure company. We provide consumers around the world with products, content and experiences that help them lead happier,
healthier and more fulfilling lives. Our flagship consumer brand, Playboy, is one of the most recognizable brands in the world, driving billions of dollars
annually in global consumer spending with products and content available in approximately 180 countries.

Our mission — to create a culture where all people can pursue pleasure — builds upon almost seven decades of creating groundbreaking media and
hospitality experiences and fighting for cultural progress rooted in the core values of equality, freedom of expression and the idea that pleasure is a
fundamental human right.

Driven by our cause of “Pleasure for All,” our goal is to build the leading pleasure and leisure lifestyle platform for all people around the world.

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, our consolidated revenue was $147.7 million and $246.6 million, respectively, consolidated
net loss was $5.3 million and $77.7 million, respectively.

Our Products

Our products and content connect consumers to a lifestyle of pleasure and leisure. Our offerings help consumers around the world look good, feel
good, and enjoy their lives. Our offerings are focused on areas where nearly 70 years of building consumer trust give us a unique position to lead:

• Sexual Wellness is a category that encompasses products, content and experiences that enable a state of physical, emotional, mental, and social
sexual health and fulfillment. Offerings include products that enhance sexual experience, lingerie, bedroom accessories and intimacy products, as
well as offerings that improve sexual health. Our offerings today—including lingerie, intimates and adult content—comprise the Company’s largest
driver of revenue.

• Style and Apparel includes a variety of apparel and accessories products for men and women globally, including one of the leading men’s apparel
brands in China, and collaborations with fashion and streetwear brands such as Missguided, PacSun, and Supreme available to consumers in the US
and UK. Our style and apparel offerings build on seven decades of standing for free expression and today represent the second-largest consumer
category in our business.

• Gaming and Lifestyle is a category that encompasses all the ways we stand for sophisticated, fun and leisure-filled living. Our gaming offerings
today include digital casino and social games in partnership with such industry leaders as Scientific Games and Microgaming, and other home and
hospitality offerings. These offerings are primarily delivered by our strategic licensing partners, and some products are offered for resale on
Playboy.com.

• Beauty and Grooming builds on our long role serving as a platform for beauty and the brand’s commercial success in the fragrance category. Today,
we approach this category through the lens of confidence, providing our consumers with products and content that inspire body positivity and
creative expression. With strong adjacency to Sexual Wellness, Beauty and Grooming offerings include men's and women’s skincare, haircare, bath
and body, grooming, cosmetics and fragrance. These offerings are primarily delivered by our strategic licensing partners, and some products are
offered for resale on Playboy.com.

Each of the foregoing categories represent very large and growing markets, providing us with significant opportunities for growth from the
increased sales of our current products, as well as through the introduction of new products within these categories.

Our Business Segments

We generate revenue through the sales of our products to consumers around the world. We employ multiple business models, including brand
licensing, direct-to-consumer and third-party retail sales, and digital sales and subscriptions, to help maximize the value of our assets and promote long-term
revenue and profitability growth. We report on our business operations in three segments:
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• Licensing, including licensing our brand to third parties for products, services, venues and events.

• Direct-to-Consumer, including sales of third-party products through our owned-and-operated e-commerce platforms; and sales of our proprietary
products through our platforms and/or third-party retailers; and

• Digital Subscriptions and Content, including revenues generated from the sales of creator offerings to consumers on centerfold.com, our creator-led
platform launched in December 2021, trademark licensing for online gaming products, the sale of subscriptions to Playboy programming and the
sales of tokenized digital art and collectibles.

Licensing

We license the Playboy name, Rabbit Head Design, and other trademarks and related properties to partners around the world. Our licensing
agreements permit licensees the right to use certain Playboy trademarks for certain categories of products in certain territories for a fee, which is typically a
royalty calculated as a percentage of net revenue from wholesale and/or retail sales of such products, subject to an annual, bi-annual or quarterly minimum
royalty payment. Our top five license agreements range from three to nine years in length and generated approximately $49.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, our licensing contracts included future royalty guarantee payments of approximately $325 million through
2031, assuming no renewals of such contracts.

Our partner CAA-GBG LLP, an agency with significant global reach and infrastructure, acts as our exclusive licensing agent for the Playboy brand
trademarks and intellectual property for consumer products in a broad range of categories in most of the world.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, our Licensing segment contributed $64.0 million in revenue and $47.5 million in operating income.

Direct-to-Consumer

Our owned digital commerce retail platforms include Playboy.com, HoneyBirdette.com and Honey Birdette retail stores (as of August 9, 2021),
Yandy.com, and LoversStores.com and Lovers retail stores (as of March 1, 2021). We manage the inventory and shipping for our owned digital and retail
commerce channels through a combination of our own warehouse and fulfillment centers and through third-party logistics centers, providing a flexible and
scalable base from which to continue the expansion of our direct-to-consumer sales platform model. In addition to our owned channels, we have actively
expanded the third-party sales of our proprietary products across major retailers in Western markets.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, our Direct-to-Consumer segment contributed $147.8 million in revenue and $2.8 million in operating
loss.

Digital Subscriptions and Content

Our Digital Subscriptions and Content today comprise centerfold.com, our creator-led platform launched in December 2021, non-fungible token
(“NFTs”) art and collectibles offerings, and Playboy’s adult content offerings, including playboyplus.com and playboy.tv.

Playboy-branded digital content offerings reach more than 150,000 subscribers and users across Playboy-managed digital platforms. In addition, The
Playboy Channel is offered through leading MSOs (multiple-system operators) around the globe, including AT&T, Cablevision, Charter, Comcast, Cox,
DirecTV, Dish, Time Warner and Verizon. Pursuant to its agreements with the MSOs, Playboy programs the Playboy Channel and typically receives a royalty
based on the numbers of subscribers to the Channel.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, our Digital Subscriptions and Content segment contributed $33.8 million in revenue and $7.9 million of
operating income.

Our Strategy

We aim to build the leading pleasure and leisure lifestyle platform for all people around the world. Our commercial strategy is to capture high
consumer lifetime value while maintaining low consumer acquisition costs. We do this by building direct relationships with our customers through our owned-
and-operated digital commerce and digital offerings and by utilizing our significant organic reach for marketing efficiency.
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We are focused on three key growth pillars: first, accelerating our direct-to-consumer commerce business, where we target an 18-34-year-old
consumer base with Sexual Wellness and Apparel offerings. Second, strategically expanding our licensing business in key categories and territories with a
focus on China, India and gaming. In addition, we use our licensing business as a marketing tool and brand builder for us, in particular through our high-end
designer collaborations and our large-scale partnerships with partners such as PacSun. Third, investing in new emerging growth opportunities, with a focus on
scalable digital products and services, that deliver recurring or long tail revenue and allow us to generate significant returns over a three-to-five-year time
horizon.

centerfold.com, our new creator-led platform dedicated to creative freedom, artistic expression and sex positivity, is the cornerstone of our digital
strategy in 2022. Creators can set up their own subscription or membership services, directly message with their fans and interact with consumers in other
ways. As we expand, we plan to offer creators services that only Playboy can, including the ability to tap into our merchandise design, production and
distribution capabilities, artist collaborations, merchandise collaborations with Playboy and Honey Birdette, and access NFTs and blockchain tools.

Lastly, building on our acquisitions of Yandy in December 2019, TLA Acquisition Corp., the owner of the Lovers brand, in March 2021, Honey
Birdette (Aust) Pty Limited, owner of the luxury lingerie brand Honey Birdette, in August 2021, and GlowUp Digital Inc., owner of the Dream web platform
which has become our centerfold.com content-creator platform, in October 2021, we will continue to identify and assess potentially advantageous merger,
acquisition and investment opportunities. Utilizing the flexibility of our operating cash flow, and management expertise, we may pursue additional
acquisitions or other strategic opportunities to complement and accelerate our organic growth.

Our Competition

We operate in the consumer goods space across a variety of different industries and face competition from broad direct-to-consumer platforms such
as Amazon, as well as brands and retailers that are more targeted to particular markets. In the men’s apparel space in China, we compete with other leading
men’s apparel brands such as Uniqlo, Semir, Levi’s, Nautica and Lacoste on the breadth and quality of our products, and in Western markets, our apparel
collaborations and owned and operated e-commerce business compete with retailers and brands more focused on lingerie, costumes, accessories and
streetwear. In the sexual wellness industry, we compete with lingerie brands and e-commerce businesses such as La Perla, Fleur du Mal, Victoria’s Secret and
AdoreMe, and other suppliers of products in this fragmented and rapidly growing space, as well as with Sexual Wellness e-commerce platforms and brick and
mortar retail chains, such as Lovehoney, Fashion Nova and Adam & Eve. Our digital products and services compete with social content and creator-led
platforms and providers of digital art, collectibles and paid and free adult content, and our digital games compete with other real-money and social casino-
style games available in the iOS and Android app stores. We compete with much larger companies, including the brands referenced above, that have
significantly greater financial and operational resources and pose meaningful competitive challenges. However, we believe we have successfully competed,
and will continue to do so, with such companies because of our strong brands with extensive consumer followings, high quality products and relationships
with creators and influencers that we have developed.

Our Corporate History

Playboy was founded in 1953 as a men’s lifestyle magazine. Over the following decades, Playboy grew into a leader and pioneer in the
entertainment, hospitality, and licensing businesses.

From 1973 to 2011, Playboy's stock was publicly traded on the New York Stock Exchange. Playboy’s current corporate entity, Playboy Enterprises,
Inc., was incorporated in the State of Delaware in April 1998. On March 4, 2011, Icon Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Icon Acquisition
Holdings, L.P. (“Icon”), an affiliate of Rizvi Traverse Management, LLC, successfully completed its offer to purchase all of the issued and outstanding shares
of Playboy, which was further reorganized effective August 14, 2018. As part of the restructuring, Icon was dissolved and liquidated its equity interest in
Playboy to its members, consisting of RT-ICON Holdings LLC (with its affiliates, "RT") and the Hugh M. Hefner 1991 Trust (the “Trust”), resulting in RT
holding 3,034,192 shares of common stock in Playboy and the Trust holding 1,868,910 shares of common stock in Playboy. The Trust then sold to Playboy,
and Playboy redeemed, all of the common stock in Playboy held by the Trust for a total of $35 million.

On February 10, 2021, we consummated the transactions contemplated by that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 30,
2020 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp (“MCAC”), MCAC Merger Sub Inc. (“Merger Sub”), and Playboy, and
Suying Liu. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Playboy merged with and into Merger Sub, with Playboy surviving the merger as a wholly-
owned subsidiary of MCAC, and MCAC changed its name to “PLBY Group, Inc.” upon consummation of the Business Combination.

Over the past several years, we have undertaken a process of transforming and streamlining our business model to transition Playboy’s primary
business from a print and digital media entity, generating advertising and sponsorship revenues, to our primarily commerce business which markets consumer
products and digital content. As part of that transformation, revenue generation has shifted away from being driven largely through third parties and toward
direct-to-consumer sales.
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These transformational changes include: reorganizing and streamlining our Playboy TV operation by reducing headcount, content costs and
marketing spend, and renegotiating certain agreements with service providers; reorganizing and streamlining our digital subscription business by reducing
headcount and content spend, and outsourcing certain functions that can be more efficiently performed by third parties; eliminating our advertising sales force;
and consolidating our marketing, website development and creative services into a single group within our commerce-focused division, allowing us to reduce
headcount and capture scale economies. We also ceased publication of our legacy Playboy magazine after the Spring 2020 issue, allowing us to reduce staff
and eliminate costs associated with the print publication, such as printing, shipping, newsstand distribution and customer list management, and concurrently
shifted our Playboy.com website from a content and media centric site to a largely e-commerce site in support of our direct-to-consumer business.

With these changes, we are able to better focus our workforce, capital and other resources on the products, consumer categories and revenue models
that we believe best position us for growth and success in the future.

In December 2019, we acquired the assets of Yandy.com, a leading online retailer of lingerie, dresses, costumes and accessories, as part of the
expansion of our proprietary sales platform. In March 2021, we acquired TLA Acquisition Corp., the parent company of the Lovers family of stores
(“Lovers”), a leading omni-channel online and brick-and-mortar sexual wellness chain, with 40 stores in five states. In August 2021, we acquired Honey
Birdette (Aust) Pty Limited, owner of the luxury lingerie brand Honey Birdette (“Honey Birdette”), with 58 stores across three continents (59 stores as of
December 31, 2021). In October 2021, we acquired GlowUp Digital Inc., owner of the Dream platform that was redeveloped as the technology foundation for
our curated and creator-led site, centerfold.com, which launched in December 2021.

Our Team

We seek to recruit, retain, and incentivize highly talented existing and future employees. We believe that creating a respectful and inclusive
environment where team members can be themselves and be supported is critical to attracting, developing and retaining talent. A set of fundamental values
guide our thinking and actions both inside the company and as we pursue our mission through our interaction with our consumers and our partners around the
world. We created these values with the goal of holding ourselves accountable, of preserving what is special, and to inspire and guide ourselves moving
forward as we grow and take on new challenges. We believe staying true to these values will drive the long-term value we create in consumers’ lives.

Our Employees

As of December 31, 2021, we had 781 full-time and full-time-equivalent employees and 232 part-time employees. None of the employees are
represented by a labor union. Our team values support our employee relations, which we believe to be positive and productive. We promote the well-being of
our employees through programs and benefits that support physical health, financial security and good morale.

Our Values

Do You (But Do No Harm). We’re authentic to who we are. We say what we mean, and we mean what we say. We create a safe and encouraging
environment for others to do the same, bringing their authentic selves forward. We welcome and value varying perspectives and opinions, and we assume best
intentions. We celebrate and bring out the best in each other. We pay attention to others discomfort. We respect boundaries. And we fiercely believe that our
diversity positions us for greater success and impact in the world.

Embrace the Next Challenge. We have a growth mindset. We don’t let ourselves get too comfortable. We are constantly questioning our existing
knowledge and recognize that our blind spots are bigger than we think. We actively seek out opportunities to learn. We come from a place of curiosity. The
next challenge may be in a place we’ve never thought to look, and we leverage a vast diversity of perspectives to find it. We know we can always do better,
and good enough is not enough. We believe in questioning taboos. We are bold and thoughtful in challenging the status quo and finding fault in the default,
even when it seems we are alone. We are okay with uncertainty, and we aim to adapt quickly and be resourceful in an ever-changing environment.

Debate, Then Commit. We take the time to make sure we are informed. We provide a platform and make space for the different voices in the room,
ask thoughtful questions, and consider all angles before coming to a conclusion. We question everything. We engage in self-reflection, and we recognize and
share openly when we are wrong. We are solutions oriented. We take an active approach to solving problems and coming to decisions rather than fixating on
them. We passionately discuss ideas but respect when a decision is reached and abide by the process to execute it. We communicate decisions thoroughly and
thoughtfully.
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Be a Leader. We develop and exercise inclusive leadership. So, everyone knows they belong, and equitable treatment is our standard. We recognize
that trust, respect, and responsibility go hand-in-hand and must be heard. With that, it is up to each of us to earn that responsibility every day. We listen first,
ask questions, speak up and are accountable for our work (and our mistakes). We help others feel confident and comfortable doing the same. We take
initiative. We don’t wait for things to happen to us or wait to be told. We are willing to wear many hats and roll our sleeves up when others need help, even if
it means working outside our job description. We lead by example.

Stay Playful. We are a fun team and though we often deal with heavy subject matter, we recognize the importance of a playful spirit and a positive
outlook. We realize that we are a work in progress, and that we won’t always get it right the first time. We pride ourselves in being able to pick ourselves up,
be positive about our mistakes (while learning from them) and move forward. We celebrate creativity and the importance of trying new things out. We know
you to have a good time and we understand boundaries. We celebrate each other. We value our time both in and out of work.

Government Regulation

In connection with the products we provide, we must comply with various laws and regulations from federal, state, local and foreign regulatory
agencies. We believe that we are in material compliance with regulatory requirements applicable to our business. These regulatory requirements include,
without limitation:

• federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations involving minimum wage, health care, overtime, sick leave, lunch and rest breaks and other
similar wage, benefits and hour requirements and other similar laws;

• Title VII of the Civil Rights Act and the Americans with Disabilities Act and regulations of the U.S. Department of Labor, the Occupational Safety &
Health Administration, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and the equivalent state agencies and other similar laws;

• alcohol beverage marketing regulations, custom and import matters with respect to products imported to and exported from the United States;

• the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act and other similar anti-bribery and anti- kickback laws and regulations that generally
prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business; and

• federal, state and foreign anticorruption, data protection, privacy, consumer protection, content regulation and other laws and regulations, including
without limitation, GDPR and the CCPA.

Our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could adversely affect the Company. See “Item 1A. Risk Factors” for additional
information regarding regulatory risks to the Company.

Intellectual Property

We own various trademarks, copyrights and software comprising our intellectual property holdings including, without limitation, the “Playboy”
name, the “RABBIT HEAD DESIGN” logo, the “Yandy” name, the “Lovers” name, the “Honey Birdette” name and the “Centerfold” name.

We currently have active trademark registrations in more than 150 countries for our key trademarks, including variations of the PLAYBOY and the
RABBIT HEAD DESIGN logo, which are typically the core intellectual property we license pursuant to our licensing agreements and use on our branded
consumer products. Trademark registrations typically allow us to exclusively use or permit licensed use of the marks in the product categories in which they
are registered. These registrations are typically valid for 10 years from the original date of registration or the date of renewal. When these registrations become
due for renewal, we typically renew them unless the registrations have become redundant due to overlapping coverage from other existing registered marks or
they cover marks or categories that we no longer actively use or have plans to use in the future. Most jurisdictions allow for an unlimited number of renewals
provided that the criteria to apply for renewal are met in the applicable jurisdiction.
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Available Information

We make available, free of charge, on our investor relations website, www.plbygroup.com/investors, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “SEC”). We are required to file Annual Reports on Form 10-K and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q with the SEC on a regular basis, and are
required to disclose certain material events in a Current Report on Form 8-K. The SEC maintains a website that contains our periodic reports, proxy and
information statements and other information regarding us that we file electronically with the SEC. The SEC’s website is located at http://www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully all of the risks described below, together with the other
information contained in this Annual Report, before making a decision to invest in our securities. If any of the following events occur, our business, financial
condition and operating results may be materially adversely affected. In that event, the trading price of our securities could decline, and you could lose all or
part of your investment. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of,
or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this subsection to the “Company,” “we”, “us” or “our” refer to PLBY Group, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries following the Business Combination, which was completed on February 10, 2021, other than certain historical information which
refers to the business of Playboy prior to the consummation of the Business Combination.

Summary of Risk Factors

We have in the past been adversely affected by certain of, and may in the future be materially and adversely affected by, the following risks:

• our ability to maintain the value and reputation of the Playboy brand;

• operating in highly competitive industries;

• our ability to anticipate changes in the market for our adult oriented products and rapidly adapt;

• our ability to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights, in particular trademarks and copyrights;

• our ability to identify, fund investment in and commercially exploit new technology;

• negative publicity, lawsuits and boycotts as a result of our business involving the provision of sexually explicit content;

• the refusal of companies upon which we rely for products and services to do business with us because some of our products contain adult content;

• material weaknesses identified with respect to our internal controls over financial reporting;

• various taxation related risks in multiple jurisdictions;

• potential systems failures in our digital operations;

• our exposure to data security and privacy risks;

• compliance with government regulations;

• challenges relating to operations and expansion outside of the U.S.;

• adverse results in litigation;

• our ability to attract and retain key employees and hire qualified management and personnel;

• difficulties in making strategic acquisitions on economically acceptable terms;

• integration risks from significant future acquisitions;

• our debt and other financial obligations;

• our ability to attract and retain new customers and subscribers through our marketing efforts;

• the demand for our products;

• the COVID-19 pandemic;

11



• global economic conditions;

• our ability to manage the various licensing and selling models in our operations;

• the concentration of a substantial portion of our licensing revenue with a limited number of licensees and retail partners;

• our dependence on third parties to help operate certain aspects of our e-commerce business;

• cybersecurity and impairment risks related to the holding of digital assets;

• the adoption, implementation, and performance of new enterprise systems;

• increasing competition for and changing dynamics in the marketplace for our adult content products;

• our ability to maintain our agreements with multiple system operators and direct-to-home operators on favorable terms;

• shifts in consumer behavior as a result of technological innovations and changes in the distribution of content; and

• our ability to meet the listing requirements to be listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market and maintain the listing of our securities in the future.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

Our success depends on our ability to maintain the value and reputation of the Playboy brand.

Our success depends on the value and reputation of the Playboy brand. The Playboy name is integral to our business as well as to the implementation
of our strategies for expanding our business. Maintaining, promoting, and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our marketing and
merchandising efforts and our ability to provide a consistent, high quality product, and customer experience.

We rely on social media, as one of our marketing strategies, to have a positive impact on both our brand value and reputation. Our brand and
reputation could be adversely affected if we fail to achieve these objectives, if our public image was to be tarnished by negative publicity, which could be
amplified by social media, if we fail to deliver innovative and high-quality products and experiences acceptable to our customers, or if we face or mishandle a
product recall.

We license our brand to third parties to use in connection with various goods and services, subject to our approval. Our financial condition could be
negatively impacted if any such third parties use our brand in a manner that adversely reflects on our businesses or our brand.

Additionally, while we devote considerable efforts and resources to protecting our intellectual property, if these efforts are not successful, the value of
our brand may be harmed. Any harm to our brand and reputation could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Our businesses operate in highly competitive industries.

The sexual wellness, lifestyle experiences, apparel and accessories, and beauty and grooming industries in which we operate are highly competitive.
The ability of our businesses to compete in each of these industries successfully depends on a number of factors, including our ability to consistently supply
high quality and popular content and products, adapt to new technologies and distribution platforms, maintain our brand reputation and produce new and
successful products and content. There can be no assurance that we will be able to compete successfully in the future against existing or new competitors, or
that increasing competition will not result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share, any of which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, many of our competitors, including large entertainment and media enterprises and apparel and beauty retailers, have greater financial
and human resources than we do. We cannot assure you that we can remain competitive with companies that have greater resources or that offer alternative
entertainment or product offerings.

The market for our adult oriented products is changing rapidly, and unless we are able to anticipate these changes and rapidly adapt, we will lose market
share.

Online usage is changing rapidly as technological advancements allow the deployment of more advanced and interactive multimedia product
offerings and the Internet and mobile device usage have resulted in new digital distribution channels. As a result, we have to rapidly develop new business
models, products and distribution models that will allow us to otherwise capitalize on our large library of titles that we own and license as well as our product
offerings.

12



Unless we are able to effectively modify our business model to compete with the products offered digitally on the Internet or elsewhere, our market
share, revenues and profits from our product offerings could decrease. Although we are currently developing new products and seeking potential acquisition
targets, no assurance can be given that we will remain competitive in the rapidly changing adult entertainment marketplace or the other industries we compete
in. Our future success will depend, in part, on our ability to adapt to rapidly changing technologies, to enhance existing product offerings and to develop and
introduce a variety of new products to address changing demands of our consumers.

If we are unable to obtain, maintain and protect our intellectual property rights, in particular trademarks and copyrights, our ability to compete could be
negatively impacted.

Our intellectual property rights, particularly our trademarks in the Playboy name and Rabbit Head Design, are valuable assets of our business and are
critical to our success, growth potential and competitive position. Although certain of the intellectual property we use is registered in the U.S. and in many of
the foreign countries in which we operate, there can be no assurances with respect to the continuation of such intellectual property rights, including our ability
to further register, use or defend key current or future trademarks. Further, applicable law may provide only limited and uncertain protection, particularly in
emerging markets, such as China.

Furthermore, we may not apply for, or be unable to obtain, intellectual property protection for certain aspects of our business. Third parties have in
the past, and could in the future, bring infringement, invalidity, co-inventorship, re-examination, opposition or similar claims with respect to our current or
future intellectual property. Any such claims, whether or not successful, could be costly to defend, may not be sufficiently covered by any indemnification
provisions to which we are party, divert management’s attention and resources, damage our reputation and brands, and substantially harm our business,
prospects, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, as well as the trading price of our securities.

In addition, third parties may distribute and sell counterfeit (or grey market) versions of our products, which may be inferior or pose safety risks and
could confuse consumers or customers, which could cause them to refrain from purchasing our brands in the future or otherwise damage our reputation. The
presence of counterfeit versions of our products in the market and of prestige products in mass distribution channels could also dilute the value of our brands,
force us and our distributors to compete with heavily discounted products, cause us to be in breach of contract (including license agreements), impact our
compliance with distribution and competition laws in jurisdictions including the E.U. and China, or otherwise have a negative impact on our reputation and
business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.

In order to protect or enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, we may initiate litigation or other proceedings against third
parties, such as infringement suits, opposition proceedings or interference proceedings. Any lawsuits or proceedings that we initiate could be expensive, take
significant time and divert management’s attention from other business concerns, adversely impact customer relations and we may not be successful.
Litigation and other proceedings may also put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. The occurrence of any of these
events may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, as well as the trading price of our
securities.

Our success depends on our ability to operate our business without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the intellectual property of third
parties.

Our commercial success depends in part on our ability to operate without infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the trademarks, patents,
copyrights and other proprietary rights of third parties. However, we cannot be certain that the conduct of our business does not and will not infringe,
misappropriate or otherwise violate such rights. Moreover, our acquisition targets and other businesses in which we may make strategic investments are often
smaller or younger companies with less robust intellectual property clearance practices, and we may face challenges on the use of their trademarks and other
proprietary rights.

If we are found to be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating a third-party trademark, patent, copyright or other proprietary rights, we
may need to obtain a license, which may not be available in a timely manner on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or redesign or rebrand our products,
which may not be possible or result in a significant delay to market or otherwise have an adverse commercial impact. We may also be required to pay
substantial damages or be subject to a court order prohibiting us and our customers from selling certain products or engaging in certain activities, which could
therefore have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, as well as the trading price of our
securities.
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Our business involves the provision of sexually explicit content which can create negative publicity, lawsuits and boycotts.

We are engaged in the business of providing adult-oriented, sexually explicit products worldwide. Many people regard our primary business as
unwholesome. Various national and local governments, along with religious and children’s advocacy groups, consistently propose and enact legislation to
restrict the provision of, access to, and content of such entertainment. These groups also often file lawsuits against providers of adult entertainment, encourage
boycotts against such providers and mount negative publicity campaigns. In this regard, some of our distribution outlets and advertisers, have from time-to-
time been the target of groups who seek to limit the availability of our products because of their content. We expect to continue to be subject to these
activities.

The adult-oriented content of our websites may also subject us to obscenity or other legal claims by third parties. We may also be subject to claims
based upon the content that is available on our websites through links to other sites and in jurisdictions that we have not previously distributed content in.
Implementing measures to reduce our exposure to this liability may require us to take steps that would substantially limit the attractiveness of our websites
and other distribution channels and/or their availability in various geographic areas, which could negatively impact their ability to generate revenue.

In addition, some investors, investment banks, market makers, lenders and others in the investment community may refuse to participate in the
market for our common stock, financings or other activities due to the nature of our adult business. These refusals may negatively impact the value of our
common stock and our opportunities to attract market support.

Companies providing products and services on which we rely may refuse to do business with us because some of our products contain adult content.

Some companies that provide products and services we need may be concerned that associating with us could lead to their becoming the target of
negative publicity campaigns by public interest groups and boycotts of their products and services. As a result of these concerns, these companies may be
reluctant to enter into or continue business relationships with us. There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our existing business relationships
with the companies, domestic or international, that currently provide us with services and products. Our inability to maintain such business relationships, or to
find replacement service providers, would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We could be forced to enter
into business arrangements on terms less favorable to us than we might otherwise obtain, which could lead to our doing business with less competitive terms,
higher transaction costs and more inefficient operations than if we were able to maintain such business relationships or find replacement service providers.

If we are unable to advertise on certain platforms because of our brand or products, our business would be harmed.

Some companies that operate websites and offline media, including search engines and social media platforms, on which we would like to advertise
our products, and provide direct purchasing capabilities, may be reluctant or refuse to allow such advertising due to the adult nature of certain of our products
and the history of our brand. Our inability to advertise on such platforms would make it more difficult for us to reach a broad audience, which could limit
sales of our products, and reduce the value of our brand. Our existing competitors, as well as potential new competitors, may not face such obstacles and be
able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns and reach a broader consumer base, making it more difficult for Playboy to compete with them with
similar products.

We have experienced seasonality in our revenues, which may result in volatility in our earnings.

While we receive revenue throughout the year, our businesses do experience seasonality. For example, our consumer brand licensing business under
our consumer business experiences higher receipts in its first and third fiscal quarters due to the licensing fee structure in our licensing agreements which
typically require advance payment of such fees during these quarters, and our direct-to-consumer business typically experiences higher sales in the fourth
quarter due to the U.S. holiday season, including Halloween. To the extent that we continue to experience seasonality, this may result in volatility in our
earnings.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls over
financial reporting could adversely affect our ability to report our results of operations and financial condition accurately and in a timely manner, which
could have an adverse impact on our business.

Since becoming a public company, ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to produce
accurate financial statements on a timely basis has become costly and a time-consuming effort. In addition, the rapid growth of our operations has created a
need for additional resources within the accounting and finance functions in order to produce timely financial information and to ensure the level of
segregation of duties customary for a U.S. public company.
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our
management is also required, on a quarterly basis, to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls and to disclose any changes and material weaknesses
identified. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement in our annual or interim consolidated financial statements might not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. As
described in Item 9A of this Annual Report, in connection with the audit of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2021, there were several material weaknesses identified in our internal control over financial reporting.

We are working to develop and implement a remediation plan as soon as practicable. Our remediation plan, which is continuing to be developed, can
only be accomplished over time, and these initiatives may not accomplish their intended effects. Failure to maintain our internal control over financial
reporting could adversely impact our ability to report our financial position and results from operations on a timely and accurate basis. Likewise, if our
financial statements are not filed on a timely basis, we could be subject to regulatory actions, legal proceedings or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other
regulatory authorities, which could result in a material adverse effect on our business and/or we may not be able to maintain compliance with certain of our
agreements. Ineffective internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could have a negative effect on our
stock price, business strategies and ability to raise capital.

Even after establishing internal controls, our management does not expect that our internal controls ever will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud.
A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be
met. No evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, within the business will have been detected.

We have a significant amount of intangible assets, including our trademarks and digital assets, recorded on our consolidated balance sheet. As a result of
changes in market conditions and declines in the estimated fair value of these assets, we may be required to record impairments of our intangible assets in
the future which could adversely affect our results of operations.

As of December 31, 2021, our indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill represented $609.3 million, or 65% of our total consolidated assets.
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”), indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but instead are subject to
impairment evaluation based on related estimated fair values, with such testing to be done at least annually. We will review our trademarks and digital assets
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Any write-down of intangible assets
resulting from future periodic evaluations would, as applicable, either decrease our net income or increase our net loss, and those decreases or increases could
be material.

Our use of certain tax attributes may be limited.

We have significant net operating losses (“NOLs”) as of December 31, 2021. In the US we had federal NOLs available to carryforward to future
periods of $203 million, which begin expiring in 2028 and we had state and local NOLs available to carryforward to future periods of $73 million, which
began expiring in 2022. In Australia, we also had $1.6 million NOLs available to carryforward indefinitely. The statute of limitations for tax years 2017 and
forward remains open to examination by the major U.S. taxing jurisdictions to which we are subject. The statute of limitation for tax year 2016 and forward
remain open to examination in Australia. In addition, due to the NOL carryforward provision, tax authorities continue to have the ability to adjust the amount
of our carryforward. Furthermore, as discussed below, the limitations on the use of the NOLs under Section 382 could affect our ability to use NOLs to offset
future taxable income.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code ("Code"), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to annual
limitations on its ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes, to offset future taxable income or reduce taxes. We
believe that we have undergone one or more ownership changes and accordingly, our ability to use our NOL carryforwards may be limited.

Additionally, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the "Tax Act"), which was enacted on December 22, 2017, significantly reformed the Code, including
changes to the rules governing NOL carryforwards. For NOL carryforwards arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the Tax Act limited a
taxpayer’s ability to utilize such carryforwards to 80% of taxable income. In addition, NOL carryforwards arising in tax years ending after December 31, 2017
can be carried forward indefinitely, but carryback is generally prohibited. NOL carryforwards generated by us before January 1, 2018 will not be subject to the
taxable income limitation and will continue to have a twenty-year carryforward period. However, the changes in the carryforward and carryback periods as
well as the new limitation on use of NOLs may significantly impact our ability to use NOL carryforwards generated after December 31, 2017, as well as the
timing of any such use, and could seriously harm our business.
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On June 29, 2020, Assembly Bill 85 (“A.B. 85”) was signed into California law. A.B. 85 provides for a three-year suspension of the use of NOLs for
medium and large businesses and a three-year cap on the use of business incentive tax credits to offset no more than $5.0 million of tax per year. A.B. 85
suspends the use of NOLs for taxable years 2020, 2021 and 2022 for certain taxpayers with taxable income of $1.0 million or more. The carryover period for
any NOLs that are suspended under this provision will be extended. A.B. 85 also requires that business incentive tax credits including carryovers may not
reduce the applicable tax by more than $5.0 million for taxable years 2020, 2021 and 2022. Due to A.B.85, we do not expect to be able to offset our California
taxable income with our NOLs during these years.

We are subject to taxation related risks in multiple jurisdictions.

We are a U.S.-based multinational company subject to tax in multiple U.S. and foreign tax jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining our global provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets or liabilities and in evaluating our tax positions on a worldwide basis. While we believe
our tax positions are consistent with the tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our business, it is possible that these positions may be challenged by
jurisdictional tax authorities, which may have a significant impact on our global provision for income taxes.

Tax laws are being re-examined and evaluated globally. New laws and interpretations of the law are taken into account for financial statement
purposes in the quarter or year that they become applicable. Tax authorities are increasingly scrutinizing the tax positions of companies. Many countries in the
European Union, as well as a number of other countries and organizations such as the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, are actively
considering changes to existing tax laws that, if enacted, could increase our tax obligations in countries where we do business. If U.S. or other foreign tax
authorities change applicable tax laws, our overall taxes could increase, and our business, financial condition or results of operations may be adversely
impacted.

Our digital operations are subject to systems failures.

The uninterrupted performance of our computer systems is critical to the operations of our websites. Our computer systems are located at external
third-party sites, and, as such, may be vulnerable to fire, loss of power, telecommunications failures and other similar catastrophes. In addition, we may have
to restrict access to our websites to solve problems caused by computer viruses or other system failures. Our customers may become dissatisfied by any
disruption or failure of our computer systems that interrupts our ability to provide our content. Repeated system failures could substantially reduce the
attractiveness of our websites and/or interfere with commercial transactions, negatively affecting our ability to generate revenues. Our websites must
accommodate a high volume of traffic and deliver regularly updated content. Our sites have, on occasion, experienced slow response times and network
failures. These types of occurrences in the future could cause users to perceive our websites as not functioning properly and therefore induce them to frequent
websites other than ours. We are also subject to risks from failures in computer systems other than our own because our customers depend on their own
Internet service providers for access to our sites. Our revenues could be negatively affected by outages or other difficulties customers experience in accessing
our websites due to Internet service providers’ system disruptions or similar failures unrelated to our systems. Our insurance policies may not adequately
compensate us for any losses that may occur due to any failures in our Internet systems or the systems of our customers’ Internet service providers.

Changes in how network operators handle and charge for access to data that travel across their networks could adversely impact our business.

We rely significantly upon the ability of consumers to access our products through the internet. If network operators block, restrict or otherwise
impair access to our products over their networks, our business could be negatively affected. To the extent that network operators implement usage-based
pricing, including meaningful bandwidth caps, or otherwise try to monetize access to their networks by data providers, we could incur greater operating
expenses and our membership acquisition and retention could be negatively impacted. Furthermore, to the extent network operators create tiers of internet
access service and either charge us for or prohibit us from being available through these tiers, our business could be negatively impacted.

Most network operators that provide consumers with access to the internet also provide these consumers with multichannel video programming. As
such, many network operators have an incentive to use their network infrastructure in a manner adverse to our continued growth and success. While we
believe that consumer demand, regulatory oversight and competition will help check these incentives, to the extent that network operators are able to provide
preferential treatment to their data as opposed to ours or otherwise implement discriminatory network management practices, our business could be negatively
impacted. The extent to which these incentives limit operator behavior differs across markets.
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We are subject to payment processing risk.

Our customers pay for our products using a variety of different payment methods, including credit and debit cards, gift cards, prepaid cards, direct
debit, online wallets and direct carrier and partner billing. We rely on internal systems as well as those of third parties to process payment. Acceptance and
processing of these payment methods are subject to certain rules and regulations, including additional authentication requirements for certain payment
methods, and require payment of interchange and other fees. To the extent there are increases in payment processing fees, material changes in the payment
ecosystem, such as large re-issuances of payment cards, delays in receiving payments from payment processors, changes to rules or regulations concerning
payments, loss of payment partners and/or disruptions or failures in our payment processing systems, partner systems or payment products, including products
we use to update payment information, our revenue, operating expenses and results of operation could be adversely impacted. In certain instances, we
leverage third parties such as our cable and other partners to bill subscribers on our behalf. If these third parties become unwilling or unable to continue
processing payments on our behalf, we would have to transition subscribers or otherwise find alternative methods of collecting payments, which could
adversely impact member acquisition and retention. In addition, from time to time, we encounter fraudulent use of payment methods, which could impact our
results of operations and if not adequately controlled and managed could create negative consumer perceptions of our products. If we are unable to maintain
our fraud and chargeback rate at acceptable levels, card networks may impose fines, our card approval rate may be impacted and we may be subject to
additional card authentication requirements. The termination of our ability to process payments on any major payment method would significantly impair our
ability to operate our business.

Government regulations could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our businesses are regulated by governmental authorities in the countries in which we operate. Because of our international operations, we must
comply with diverse and evolving regulations. Regulation relates to, among other things, licensing, access to satellite transponders, commercial advertising,
subscription rates, foreign investment, Internet gaming, use of confidential customer information and content, including standards of decency/obscenity.
Changes in the regulation of our operations or changes in interpretations of existing regulations by courts or regulators or our inability to comply with current
or future regulations could adversely affect us by reducing our revenues, increasing our operating expenses and/or exposing us to significant liabilities. While
we are not able to reliably predict particular regulatory developments that could affect us adversely, those regulations related to adult content, the Internet,
consumer products and commercial advertising illustrate some of the potential difficulties we face.

Adult content. Regulation of adult content could prevent us from making our content available in various jurisdictions or otherwise have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. The governments of some countries, such as China and India, have sought to limit
the influence of other cultures by restricting the distribution of products deemed to represent foreign or “immoral” influences. Regulation aimed at limiting
minors’ access to adult content could also increase our cost of operations and introduce technological challenges, such as by requiring development and
implementation of age verification systems. U.S. government officials could amend or construe and seek to enforce more broadly or aggressively the adult
content recordkeeping and labeling requirements set forth in 18 U.S.C. Section 2257 and its implementing regulations in a manner that is unfavorable to our
business.

Internet. Various governmental agencies are considering a number of legislative and regulatory proposals that may lead to laws or regulations
concerning various aspects of the Internet, including online content, intellectual property rights, user privacy, taxation, access charges, liability for third-party
activities and jurisdiction. Regulation of the Internet could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations by reducing the
overall use of the Internet, reducing the demand for our products or increasing our cost of doing business.

Consumer products. Any attempts to limit or otherwise regulate the sale or distribution of certain consumer products sold by our licensees could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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We are expanding our digital ecosystems, including sales of digital assets and cryptocurrency payments, which is evolving, and uncertain, and new
regulations or policies may materially adversely affect our development.

Our products include digital assets, and we have accepted cryptocurrency as payment for certain digital assets. We expect to continue commercial
activities involving digital assets and cryptocurrencies. The technologies supporting cryptocurrencies and digital assets like blockchain and non-fungible
tokens (“NFT”) are new and rapidly evolving. To the extent these technologies become more widely utilized in the industry, revenues from our digital
applications could be negatively impacted, including as a result of greater competition. If we fail to explore and commercialize these new technologies and
apply them innovatively to keep our products and services competitive, we may not experience significant growth of our business. Regulation of digital assets,
such as cryptocurrencies, blockchain technologies, NFTs and cryptocurrency exchanges, is currently underdeveloped and likely to rapidly evolve as
government agencies take greater interest in them. Regulation also varies significantly among international, federal, state and local jurisdictions and is subject
to significant uncertainty. Various legislative and executive bodies in the United States and in other countries may in the future adopt laws, regulations, or
guidance, or take other actions, which may severely impact the permissibility of tokens generally and the technology behind them or the means of transacting
in or transferring them. The regulatory regime governing blockchain technologies, NFTs, cryptocurrencies, digital assets, utility tokens, security tokens and
offerings of digital assets is uncertain, and new regulations or policies may materially adversely affect our development and our value if we materially
embrace digital assets and cryptocurrencies in the future.

We hold and may acquire digital assets that may be subject to volatile market prices, impairment and unique risks of loss.

From time to time, we may hold digital assets, including NFTs and cryptocurrencies such as Ethereum, and may accept cryptocurrency payments
from customers for certain products and services. The prices of digital assets have been in the past and may continue to be highly volatile, including as a result
of various associated risks and uncertainties. For example, the prevalence of such assets is a relatively recent trend, and their long-term adoption by investors,
consumers and businesses is unpredictable. Moreover, their lack of a physical form, their reliance on technology for their creation, existence and transactional
validation and their decentralization may subject their integrity to the threat of malicious attacks and technological obsolescence. Finally, the extent to which
securities laws or other regulations apply or may apply in the future to such assets is unclear and may change in the future. If we hold digital assets and their
values decrease relative to our purchase prices, our financial condition may be harmed.

Moreover, digital assets are currently considered indefinite-lived intangible assets under applicable accounting rules, meaning that any decrease in
their fair values below our carrying values for such assets at any time subsequent to their acquisition will require us to recognize impairment charges, whereas
we may make no upward revisions for any market price increases until a sale, which may adversely affect our operating results in any period in which such
impairment occurs. Moreover, there is no guarantee that future changes in GAAP will not require us to change the way we account for digital assets held by
us.

Finally, as intangible assets without centralized issuers or governing bodies, digital assets have been, and may in the future be, subject to security
breaches, cyberattacks or other malicious activities, including inappropriate access and theft, as well as human errors or computer malfunctions that may result
in the loss or destruction of private keys needed to access such assets. While we intend to take all reasonable measures to secure any digital assets, if such
threats are realized or the measures or controls we create or implement to secure our digital assets fail, it could result in a partial or total misappropriation or
loss of our digital assets, and our financial condition and operating results may be harmed.

If we or our third-party service providers experience a security breach or cyberattack and unauthorized parties obtain access to our data and/or digital
assets, we may lose some or all of our data and/or digital assets and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.

Security breaches and cyberattacks are of particular concern with respect to our digitally-stored information, digital assets and "Web3" activities,
including our holding and processing of cryptocurrency and other digital assets, including. Ethereum and other blockchain-based cryptocurrencies have been,
and may in the future be, subject to security breaches, cyberattacks, or other malicious activities. Hackers have been reported to exploit flaws in crypto
marketplace technologies and steal from the accounts of customers, although such flaws may subsequently be fixed and affected customers reimbursed.
Nonetheless, a successful security breach or cyberattack could result in a partial or total loss of our digital assets in a manner that may not be covered by
insurance or indemnity provisions of the custody agreement with a custodian who holds our digital assets. Such a loss could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.
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The loss or destruction of a private key required to access our digital assets may be irreversible. If we are unable to access our private keys or if we
experience a cyberattack or other data loss relating to our digital assets, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely
affected.

Blockchain based assets are controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public key and private key relating to the local or online digital
wallet in which the asset is held. While the blockchain ledger requires a public key relating to a digital wallet to be published when used in a transaction,
private keys must be safeguarded and kept private in order to prevent a third party from accessing the digital asset held in such wallet. To the extent our
private key is lost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised and no backup of the private key is accessible, we will be unable to access the digital assets held in
the related digital wallet. Furthermore, we cannot provide assurance that our digital wallets will not be compromised as a result of a cyberattack.
Cryptocurrencies and blockchain technologies have been, and may in the future be, subject to security breaches, cyberattacks, or other malicious activities.

Changes affecting the availability of the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) may have consequences that we cannot yet fully predict.

We are party to agreements and instruments where obligations by or to us are calculated based on or otherwise dependent on LIBOR. In July 2017,
the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) announced that it intends to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit rates for calculation of LIBOR as
early as the end of 2021. In March 2021, the FCA confirmed its intention to cease publication of the one week and two-month USD LIBOR tenors and all
tenors for EUR, CHF, JPY and GBP LIBOR after December 31, 2021 and to cease publication of all other USD LIBOR after June 30, 2023. As a result,
LIBOR for particular currencies and tenors will not be available for use in agreements and other instruments after the relevant cessation date and may
ultimately cease to be utilized prior to the date publication ceases. Alternative benchmark rate(s) may replace LIBOR and could affect our agreements that
reference LIBOR, not all of which contain definitive alternative rate provisions. Certain of our agreements reference LIBOR, including, for example, our New
Credit Agreement. At this time, it is difficult for us to predict the full effect of any changes from LIBOR to an alternative benchmark rate upon or prior to the
cessation of publication, the phase out of LIBOR generally, or the establishment and use of particular alternative benchmark rates to replace LIBOR. There is
uncertainty about how we, the financial markets, applicable law, and the courts will address the replacement of LIBOR with alternative benchmark rates for
contracts that do not include appropriate fallback provisions to provide for such alternative benchmark rates. In addition, any changes from LIBOR to an
alternative benchmark rate may have an uncertain impact on our cost of funds, our receipts or payments under agreements that reference LIBOR, and the
valuation of derivative or other contracts to which we are a party, any of which could impact our results of operations and cash flows.

We are subject to risks resulting from our operations outside the U.S., and we face additional risks and challenges as we continue to expand
internationally.

The international scope of our operations may contribute to volatile financial results and difficulties in managing our business. For the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, we derived approximately 38% and 48%, respectively, of our consolidated revenues from countries outside the U.S. Our
international operations expose us to numerous challenges and risks, including, but not limited to, the following:

• adverse political, regulatory, legislative and economic conditions in various jurisdictions;

• costs of complying with varying governmental regulations;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• difficulties in developing, acquiring or licensing programming and products that appeal to a variety of audiences and cultures;

• global supply chain disruptions;

• scarcity of attractive licensing and joint venture partners;

• the potential need for opening and managing distribution centers abroad; and

• difficulties in protecting intellectual property rights in foreign countries.

In addition, important elements of our business strategy, including capitalizing on advances in technology, expanding distribution of our products and
content and leveraging cross-promotional marketing capabilities, involve a continued commitment to expanding our business internationally. This
international expansion will require considerable management and financial resources. We cannot assure you that one or more of these factors or the demands
on our management and financial resources would not harm any current or future international operations and our business as a whole.
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Our management has limited experience in operating a public company.

Our executive officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or
effectively manage the Company, which will be subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under federal securities laws. Their
limited experience in dealing with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an
increasing amount of their time may be devoted to these activities which will result in less time being devoted to the management and growth of the Company.
We may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and training in the accounting policies, practices or internal
controls over financial reporting required of public companies in the United States. The development and implementation of the standards and controls
necessary for the Company to achieve the level of accounting standards required of a public company in the United States may require costs greater than
expected. It is possible that the Company will be required to expand its employee base and hire additional employees to support its operations as a public
company which will increase its operating costs in future periods.

Our expansion into new products, technologies, and geographic regions subjects us to additional risks.

We may have limited or no experience in our newer market segments, and our customers may not adopt our product or content offerings. These
offerings, which can present new and difficult technology and regulatory challenges, may subject us to claims if customers of these offerings experience
service disruptions or failures or other quality issues. In addition, profitability, if any, in our newer activities may not meet our expectations, and we may not
be successful enough in these newer activities to recoup our investments in them. Failure to realize the benefits of amounts we invest in new technologies,
products, or content could result in the value of those investments being written down or written off.

We expect to incur transaction costs in connection with our acquisitions.

We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant costs and expenses in connection with past and future acquisitions, including financial
advisory, legal, accounting, consulting and other advisory fees and expenses, reorganization and restructuring costs, litigation defense costs,
severance/employee benefit-related expenses, filing fees, printing expenses and other related charges. There are also a large number of processes, policies,
procedures, operations, technologies and systems that must be integrated in connection with our acquisitions. There are many factors beyond our control that
could affect the total amount or timing of the integration and implementation expenses. These costs and expenses could reduce the benefits and income we
expect to achieve from our acquisitions.

We may, in the future, require additional capital to help fund all or part of potential acquisitions. If, at the time required, we do not have sufficient
cash to finance those additional capital needs, we will need to raise additional funds through equity and/or debt financing. We cannot guarantee that, if and
when needed, additional financing will be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If additional capital is needed and is either unavailable or cost
prohibitive, our growth may be limited as we may need to change our business strategy to slow the rate of, or eliminate, our expansion plans. In addition, any
additional financing we undertake could impose additional covenants upon us that restrict our operating flexibility, and, if we issue equity securities to raise
capital, our existing stockholders may experience dilution or the new securities may have rights senior to those of our common stock.

The officers, directors or other key personnel of an acquisition candidate may resign upon completion of such an acquisition. The loss of a target’s key
personnel could negatively impact the operations and profitability of our post-acquisition business.

The role of an acquisition candidate’s key personnel upon the completion of an acquisition cannot be ascertained at this time. Although we
contemplate that certain members of an acquisition candidate’s management team will remain associated with the acquisition candidate following an
acquisition, it is possible that members of the management of an acquisition candidate will not wish to remain in place.

We may seek acquisition opportunities in industries or sectors that may be outside of our management’s areas of expertise.

We will consider an acquisition outside of our management’s areas of expertise if an acquisition candidate is presented to us and we determine that
such candidate offers an attractive acquisition opportunity for our company. Although our management will endeavor to evaluate the risks inherent in any
particular acquisition candidate, we cannot assure you that we will adequately ascertain or assess all of the significant risk factors. We also cannot assure you
that an investment in our securities will not ultimately prove to be less favorable to investors than a direct investment, if an opportunity were available, in an
acquisition candidate.

20



Our expansion places a significant strain on our management, operational, financial, and other resources.

We are rapidly and significantly expanding our global operations, including increasing our product and service offerings and scaling our
infrastructure to support our retail and services businesses. The complexity of the current scale of our business can place significant strain on our
management, personnel, operations, systems, technical performance, financial resources, and internal financial control and reporting functions, and our
expansion increases these factors. Failure to manage growth effectively could damage our reputation, limit our growth, and negatively affect our operating
results.

In pursuing selective acquisitions, we may incur various costs and liabilities and we may never realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions.

If we believe appropriate opportunities become available, we may continue to acquire additional businesses, products or technologies that we believe
are strategically advantageous to us. Transactions of this sort could involve numerous risks, including:

• unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures arising from the process of integrating any acquired business, product or technology, including
related personnel;

• diversion of a significant amount of management’s attention from the ongoing development of our business;

• dilution of existing stockholders’ ownership interest in us;

• incurrence of additional debt;

• exposure to additional operational risk and liability, including risks arising from the operating history of any acquired businesses;

• entry into markets and geographic areas where we have limited or no experience;

• loss of key employees of any acquired companies;

• adverse effects on our relationships with suppliers and customers; and

• adverse effects on the existing relationships of any acquired companies, including suppliers and customers.

Furthermore, we may not be successful in identifying appropriate acquisition candidates or consummating acquisitions on terms favorable or
acceptable to us or at all.

When we acquire businesses, products or technologies, our due diligence reviews are subject to inherent uncertainties and may not reveal all
potential risks. We may therefore fail to discover or inaccurately assess undisclosed or contingent liabilities, including liabilities for which we may have
responsibility as a successor to the seller or the target company. As a successor, we may be responsible for any past or continuing violations of law by the
seller or the target company, including violations of decency laws. Although we generally attempt to seek contractual protections, such as representations and
warranties and indemnities, we cannot be sure that we will obtain such provisions in our acquisitions or that such provisions will fully protect us from all
unknown, contingent or other liabilities or costs. Finally, claims against us relating to any acquisition may necessitate our seeking claims against the seller for
which the seller may not indemnify us or that may exceed the scope, duration or amount of the seller’s indemnification obligations.

Our acquisitions may result in disruptions in our business and diversion of management’s attention.

Any acquisitions will require the integration of the operations, products and personnel of the acquired businesses and the training and motivation of
these individuals. Such acquisitions may disrupt our operations and divert management’s attention from day-to-day operations, which could impair our
relationships with current employees, customers and partners. We may also incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for any future acquisitions. These
issuances could be substantially dilutive to our stockholders. In addition, our profitability may suffer because of acquisition-related costs or amortization, or
impairment costs for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets. If management is unable to fully integrate acquired business, products or persons with
existing operations, we may not receive the benefits of the acquisitions, and our revenues and stock trading price may decrease.
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We may not realize all of the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions or those benefits may take longer to realize than expected.

Our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions depends, to a large extent, on our ability to implement changes to acquired
businesses in a manner that facilitates growth opportunities and realizes anticipated synergies. We will be required to devote significant management attention,
resources and costs to realigning the business practices and operations of acquired businesses to our brand management model. We generally expect to benefit
from operational synergies from our acquisitions resulting from the consolidation of capabilities and elimination of redundancies, as well as greater
efficiencies from increased scale and market integration. However, this process may preclude or impede realization of the benefits expected from acquisitions
and could adversely affect current revenues and investments in future growth, which could adversely affect our results of operations. We cannot be certain that
we will not be required to implement further realignment activities, make additions or other changes to our workforce based on other cost reduction measures
or changes in the markets and industry in which we compete. In addition, future business conditions and events may impact our ability to continue to realize
any benefits of these initiatives. If we are not able to successfully achieve these objectives, the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions may not be realized
fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected.

Any future acquisition may not be accretive, and may be dilutive, to our earnings per share, which may negatively affect the market price of our common
stock.

Future acquisitions may not be accretive to our earnings per share. Our expectations regarding the timeframe in which a potential acquisition may
become accretive to our earnings per share may not be realized. In addition, we could fail to realize all of the benefits anticipated in a potential acquisition or
experience delays or inefficiencies in realizing such benefits. Such factors could, combined with the potential issuance of shares of our common stock in
connection with a potential acquisition, result in such acquisition being dilutive to our earnings per share, which could negatively affect the market price of
our common stock.

The terms of our credit facility impose restrictions on us that may affect our ability to successfully operate our business.

Our credit facility contains covenants that limit our actions. These covenants could materially and adversely affect our ability to finance our future
operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities that may be in our best interests. The covenants restrict our ability to, among other things:

• incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;

• make loans and investments;

• enter into agreements restricting our subsidiaries’ abilities to pay dividends;

• create liens;

• sell or otherwise dispose of assets;

• enter new lines of business;

• merge or consolidate with other entities; and

• engage in transactions with affiliates.

The credit facility also contains financial covenants requiring us to maintain a specified maximum total gross leverage ratio.

Our ability to comply with these covenants and requirements may be affected by events beyond our control, such as prevailing economic conditions
and changes in regulations, and if such events occur, we cannot be sure that we will be able to comply.
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If we do not adequately adopt and manage our reporting and enterprise systems and processes, our ability to manage and grow our business may be
harmed.

We are in the process of adopting and implementing new systems and processes across our businesses, which will allow us to execute our business
plan and comply with regulations. We will need to continue to improve existing and implement new operational and financial systems, procedures and
controls to manage our business effectively in the future. As a result, we have licensed new enterprise systems and have begun a process to expand and
upgrade our operational and financial systems. If the systems we have chosen do not fit our business appropriately or if there are material delays in the
implementation of, or disruption in the transition to, our new or enhanced systems, procedures or internal controls, our ability to realize the benefits and value
of the systems as anticipated, operate our business as intended, achieve accuracy in the conversion of electronic data and records, and/or report financial and
management information, could be adversely affected. As a result of the conversion from prior systems and processes, data integrity problems may be
discovered that if not corrected could impact our business or financial results. In addition, as we add functionality to the enterprise systems and complete
implementations across our businesses, new issues could arise that we have not foreseen. Such issues could adversely affect our ability to do, among other
things, the following in a timely manner: provide quotes; take customer orders; ship products; provide services and support to our customers; bill and track
our customers; fulfill contractual obligations; and otherwise run our business. Failure to properly or adequately address these issues could result in the
diversion of management’s attention and resources, impact our ability to manage our business and negatively impact our results of operations, cash flows and
stock price.

A variety of uncontrollable events may reduce demand for our products, impair our ability to provide our products or increase the cost of providing our
products.

Demand for our products can be significantly adversely affected in the U.S., globally or in specific regions as a result of a variety of factors beyond
our control, including: adverse weather conditions arising from short-term weather patterns or long-term change, catastrophic events or natural disasters (such
as excessive heat or rain, hurricanes, typhoons, floods, tsunamis and earthquakes); health concerns, such as pandemics; international, political or military
developments; and terrorist attacks. These events and others, such as fluctuations in travel and energy costs and computer virus attacks, intrusions or other
widespread computing or telecommunications failures, may also damage our ability to provide our products or to obtain insurance coverage with respect to
these events. An incident that affected our property directly would have a direct impact on our ability to provide products and content. Moreover, the costs of
protecting against such incidents reduces the profitability of our operations.

In addition, we derive affiliate fees and royalties from the distribution of our programming, sales of our licensed goods and services by third parties,
and the management of businesses operated under brands licensed from us, and we are therefore dependent on the successes of those third parties for that
portion of our revenue. A wide variety of factors could influence the success of those third parties and if negative factors significantly impacted a sufficient
number of those third parties, the profitability of one or more of our businesses could be adversely affected.

We obtain insurance against the risk of losses relating to some of these events, generally including physical damage to our property and resulting
business interruption, certain injuries occurring on our property and some liabilities for alleged breach of legal responsibilities. When insurance is obtained it
is subject to deductibles, exclusions, terms, conditions and limits of liability. The types and levels of coverage we obtain vary from time to time depending on
our view of the likelihood of specific types and levels of loss in relation to the cost of obtaining coverage for such types and levels of loss and we may
experience material losses not covered by our insurance.

Our financial condition and results of operations have been and are expected to continue to be adversely affected by the coronavirus pandemic.

A novel strain of coronavirus (“COVID-19”) was first identified in China in December 2019, and was subsequently declared a pandemic by the
World Health Organization. To date, this pandemic and preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate the pandemic have caused, and are expected to
continue to cause, business slowdowns or shutdowns in affected areas and significant disruption in the financial markets, both globally and in the United
States. These events have led to and could continue to lead to a decline in discretionary spending by consumers, and in turn materially impact, our business,
sales, financial condition and results of operations. We may experience a negative impact on our sales, operations and financial results, and we cannot predict
the degree to, or the time period over, which our sales, operations and financial results will continue to be subject to risk by the pandemic and preventative
measures. Risks presented by the COVID-19 pandemic include, but are not limited to:

• Deterioration in economic conditions in the United States and globally, including China and Australia;

• Reduced consumer demand for our products as consumers seek to reduce or delay discretionary spending in response to the impacts of COVID-19,
including as a result of a rise in unemployment rates and diminished consumer confidence;

• Decreased retail traffic as a result of store closures, reduced operating hours, social distancing restrictions and/or changes in consumer behavior;
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• Disruption of our ability to complete or find new licensing deals and commercial collaborations;

• The risk that any safety protocols in our facilities will not be effective or not be perceived as effective, or that any virus-related illnesses will be
linked or alleged to be linked to such facilities, whether accurate or not;

• Incremental costs resulting from the adoption of preventative measures, including providing facial coverings and hand sanitizer, rearranging
operations to follow social distancing protocols, conducting temperature checks and undertaking regular and thorough disinfecting of surfaces;

• Inventory shortages caused by a combination of increased demand for our products and longer lead-times in the manufacturing and delivery of our
products, due to work restrictions related to COVID-19, import/export conditions such as port congestion, and local government orders;

• Disruption to our distribution centers and our third-party manufacturing partners and other vendors, including through the effects of facility closures,
reductions in operating hours, labor shortages, and real time changes in operating procedures, including for additional cleaning and disinfection
procedures;

• Bankruptcies or other financial difficulties facing our wholesale customers or licensing partners, which could cause them to be unable to make or
delay making payments to us, or result in cancellation or reduction of their orders or licensing agreements;

• Operational risk, including but not limited to cybersecurity risks, as a result of extended workforce remote work arrangements, and restrictions on
employee travel;

• Impacts to our distribution and logistics providers’ ability to operate or increases in their operating costs. These supply chain effects may have an
adverse effect on our ability to meet consumer demand, including digital demand, and could result in an increase in our costs of production and
distribution, including increased freight and logistics costs and other expenses;

• Disruption to our operations if a large number of our employees and/or a subset of our key employees and executives are impacted by COVID-19,
which could negatively impact our ability to continue to operate effectively; and

• Significant disruption of and volatility in global financial markets, which could have a negative impact on our ability to access capital in the future.

We continue to monitor the latest developments regarding the pandemic and have made certain assumptions regarding the pandemic for purposes of
our operating, financial and tax planning projections, including assumptions regarding the duration and severity of the pandemic and the global
macroeconomic impacts of the pandemic. However, we are unable to accurately predict the extent of the impact of the pandemic on our business, operations
and financial condition due to the uncertainty of future developments. In particular, we believe the ultimate impacts on our business, results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition will depend on, among other things, the further spread and duration of COVID-19, third party or governmental actions
taken to contain its spread and mitigate its public health effects the requirements to take action to help limit the spread of the illness, the availability, safety
and efficacy of vaccines and treatments for COVID-19 and the economic impacts of the pandemic. Even in those regions where our businesses recover,
should those regions fail to fully contain COVID-19 or suffer a COVID-19 relapse, those markets may not recover as quickly or at all, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The pandemic may also affect our business, operations or financial condition in a manner
that is not presently known to us or that we currently do not consider to present significant risks.

In addition, the impact of COVID-19 may also exacerbate other risks discussed in this “Risk Factors” section, which could have a material effect on
us.

Global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

The uncertain state of the global economy continues to impact businesses around the world. If global economic and financial market conditions
further deteriorate or do not improve, the following factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition:

• Our sales are impacted by discretionary spending by consumers. Declines in consumer spending may result in reduced demand for our products,
increased inventories, reduced orders from retailers for our products, order cancellations, lower revenues, higher discounts and lower gross margins.

• In the future, we may be unable to access financing in the credit and capital markets at reasonable rates in the event we find it desirable to do so.
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• We conduct transactions in various currencies, which creates exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates relative to the U.S. Dollar.
Continued volatility in the markets and exchange rates for foreign currencies and contracts in foreign currencies could have a significant impact on
our reported operating results and financial condition.

• As a result, we cannot ensure that demand for our offerings will remain constant. Adverse developments affecting economies throughout the world,
including a general tightening of the availability of credit, decreased liquidity in certain financial markets, increased interest rates, foreign exchange
fluctuations, increased energy costs, acts of war or terrorism, transportation disruptions, natural disasters, declining consumer confidence, sustained
high levels of unemployment or significant declines in stock markets, as well as concerns regarding pandemics, epidemics and the spread of
contagious diseases, could lead to a further reduction in discretionary spending.

• Continued volatility in the availability and prices for commodities and raw materials we use in our products and in our supply chain (such as cotton
or petroleum derivatives) could have a material adverse effect on our costs, gross margins and profitability.

• If retailers of our products experience declining revenues or experience difficulty obtaining financing in the capital and credit markets to purchase
our products, this could result in reduced orders for our products, order cancellations, late retailer payments, extended payment terms, higher
accounts receivable, reduced cash flows, greater expense associated with collection efforts and increased bad debt expense.

• If retailers of our products experience severe financial difficulty, some may become insolvent and cease business operations, which could negatively
impact the sale of our products to consumers.

• Our business is particularly sensitive to reductions from time to time in discretionary consumer spending. Demand for entertainment and leisure
activities, can be affected by changes in the economy and consumer tastes, both of which are difficult to predict and beyond our control. Unfavorable
changes in general economic conditions, including recessions, economic slowdowns, sustained high levels of unemployment, and rising prices or the
perception by consumers of weak or weakening economic conditions, may reduce our users’ disposable income or result in fewer individuals
engaging in entertainment and leisure activities, including lifestyle experiences such as casino gaming, and lower spending on sexual wellness,
apparel or beauty products. As a result, we cannot ensure that demand for our offerings will remain constant.

If contract manufacturers of our products or other participants in our supply chain experience difficulty obtaining financing in the capital and credit
markets to purchase raw materials or to finance capital equipment and other general working capital needs, it may result in delays or non-delivery of
shipments of our products.

In particular, since we derived in 2020 and 2021, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenue from China, our business
development plans, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected by significant political, social and economic
developments in China. A slowdown in economic growth in China, such as due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, could adversely impact our
licensees in China, prospective customers, suppliers, distributors and partners of our licensees in China, which could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, a deterioration in trade relations between the U.S. and China or other countries, or the negative
perception of U.S. brands by Chinese or other international consumers, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition. There is no guarantee that economic downturns, any further decrease in economic growth rates or an otherwise uncertain economic outlook in
China will not persist in the future, that they will not be protracted or that governments will respond adequately to control and reverse such conditions, any of
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Additional Risks Related to Our Licensing and Direct-to-Consumer Businesses

We utilize various licensing and selling models in our operations, and our success is dependent on our ability to manage these different models.

In addition to the licensing model, we operate online and brick-and-mortar retail stores and we produce and sell directly to customers. Although we
believe these various models could have certain benefits, these models could themselves be unsuccessful and our beliefs could turn out to be wrong.
Moreover, our pursuit of these different models could divert management’s attention and other resources, including time and capital. As a result, our future
success depends in part on our ability to successfully manage these multiple models. If we are unable to do so, our performance, financial condition and
prospects could be materially harmed.
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Risks that impact our business as a whole may also impact the success of our direct-to-consumer, or DTC, business.

We may not successfully execute on our DTC strategy (which includes our online and brick-and-mortar retail platforms). Consumers may not be
willing to pay for an expanding set of DTC products, potentially exacerbated by an economic downturn. Government regulation, including revised foreign
content and ownership regulations, may impact the implementation of our DTC business plans. Poor quality broadband infrastructure in certain markets may
impact our customers’ access to our DTC products and may diminish our customers’ experience with our DTC products. These and other risks may impact the
profitability and success of our DTC businesses.

Our growth will depend on our ability to attract and retain customers and subscribers, and the loss of customers or subscribers, failure to attract new
customers and subscribers in a cost-effective manner, or failure to effectively manage our growth could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

Our ability to achieve growth in revenue in the future will depend, in large part, upon our ability to attract new customers and subscribers to our
offerings, retain existing customers and subscribers of our offerings and reactivate customers and subscribers in a cost-effective manner. Achieving such
growth may require us to increasingly engage in sophisticated and costly sales and marketing efforts, some or all of which may not provide a material return
on investment. We have used and expect to continue to use a variety of free and paid marketing channels, in combination with compelling offers and
opportunities to achieve our objectives. For paid marketing, we intend to leverage a broad array of advertising channels, including billboards, radio, social
media platforms, planes, affiliates and paid and organic search, and other digital channels, such as search and mobile display. If the search engines and other
digital platforms on which we rely modify their algorithms, change their terms, including with respect to cookies, data and/or privacy controls, or if the prices
at which we use such services increase, then our costs could increase, and fewer customers and subscribers may reach our use our platforms. If links to our
platforms are not displayed prominently in online search results or on social media, if fewer customers or subscribers click through to our platforms, if our
other marketing campaigns are not effective, or if the costs of attracting customers and subscribers using any of our current methods significantly increase,
then our ability to efficiently attract new customers and subscribers could be reduced, our revenue could decline and our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be harmed.

Additionally, as technological or regulatory standards change and we modify our offerings to comply with those standards, we may need customers
and subscribers to take certain actions to continue accessing our platforms, such as performing age verification checks or accepting new terms and conditions.
Customers and subscribers may be deterred from using our offerings at any time, including if the quality of their experience, including our support capabilities
in the event of a problem, does not meet their expectations or keep pace with the quality of the customer experience generally offered by competitive
offerings.

A new agency relationship for our consumer brands licensing business may not ultimately be successful.

We currently engage an agency to act as our global products licensing agent. In the event we need to engage a new agency to act as our global
products licensing agent, the transition from the current licensing agent to a new global products licensing agent may be subject to delays, as the new global
agent may lack institutional knowledge of our consumer brand licensing business, and there may be unanticipated issues arising from the new relationship and
the transition. The failure of our global agent to find or maintain revenue-enhancing licensing opportunities for the business could have an adverse impact on
the revenue and cash flows of our consumer business.

A substantial portion of our licensing revenue is concentrated with a limited number of licensees and retail partners, such that the loss of a licensee or
retail partner could materially decrease our revenue and cash flows.

Our licensing revenues are concentrated with a limited number of licensees and retail partners. For instance, during the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020, the five largest license agreements comprised 20% and 32% of consolidated revenues, respectively, and the largest licensee contributed 9%
and 15% of consolidated revenues, respectively, during those years. Because we are dependent on these licensees for a significant portion of our licensing
revenue, if any of these licensees were to have financial difficulties affecting their ability to make payments, cease operations, or if any of these licensees
decides not to renew or extend any existing agreements, or to significantly reduce its sales of licensed products under any agreement, our revenue and cash
flows could be reduced substantially, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or business.

Our wholesale licensing arrangements subject us to a number of risks.

We have entered into several arrangements in connection with our licensing strategy. Although we believe our licensing arrangements may have
certain benefits, these arrangements are subject to a number of risks and our beliefs could turn out to be wrong. If any of these risks occur and we do not
achieve the intended or expected benefits of our licensing strategy, our results of operations, and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
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The terms of our licensing arrangements vary. These different terms could have a material impact on our performance. These effects on our
performance could become increasingly significant in future periods, to the extent our new licensees gain traction over time with new retailers and consumer
bases and the proportion of our royalty revenues from these licensees increases, or if we pursue similar arrangements in the future.

Additionally, in licensing arrangements, we have limited ability to control various aspects of the manufacturing process, including access to raw
materials, the timing of delivery of finished products, the quality of finished products and manufacturing costs. Our licensees may not be able to produce
finished products of the quality or in the quantities that are sufficient to meet retailer and consumer demand in a timely manner or at all, which could result in
an inability to generate revenues from any such products and loss of confidence in our brands. Interruptions or delays in the manufacturing process can occur
at any time and for a variety of reasons, many of which are outside our control, including, among others, unforecasted spikes in demand, shortages of raw
materials, labor disputes, backlogs, insufficient devotion of resources to the manufacture of products bearing our brands, or problems that may arise with
manufacturing operations or facilities or our licensees’ businesses generally. On the other hand, our licensees may produce inventory in excess of retailer and
consumer demand, in which case over-supply may cause retail prices of products bearing our brands to decline. Further, we compete with other brand owners
for the time and resources of our licensees, which could curtail or limit our ability to engage new or maintain relationships with existing licensee partners on
acceptable terms or at all. Further, the unplanned loss of any of our wholesale licensees could lead to inadequate market coverage for retail sales of products
bearing our brands, create negative impressions of us and our brands with retailers and consumers, and add downward pricing pressure on products bearing
our brands as a result of liquidating a former wholesaler’s inventory of such products. The occurrence of any of these risks could adversely impact our
reputation, performance and financial condition.

We rely on the accuracy of our licensees’ sales reports for reporting and collecting our royalty revenues, and if these reports are untimely or incorrect, our
revenues could be delayed or inaccurately reported or collected.

Most of our licensing royalty revenues are generated from retailers that manufacture and sell products bearing our brands in their stores and on their
websites, and from wholesalers that manufacture and distribute products bearing our brands and sell these products to retailers. In addition, we generate
revenues from licensees that sell products that we have developed and designed. Under our existing agreements, our licensees pay us fees based on their sales
of products or, for some of our wholesale licensees, based on their manufacturing costs. As a result, we rely on our licensees to accurately report their sales or
costs in collecting our license and design fees, preparing our financial reports, projections and budgets and directing our sales and marketing efforts. Although
all of our agreements permit us to audit our licensees, if any of them understate their sales or costs, we may not collect and recognize the royalty revenues to
which we are entitled on a timely basis or at all, or we may endure significant expense to obtain compliance.

The failure of licensees to adequately produce, market, import and sell products bearing Playboy’s trademarks in their license categories, continue their
operations, renew their license agreements or pay their obligations under their license agreements could result in a decline in the results of operations of
our business.

A significant part of our revenues depends on royalty payments made to us pursuant to license agreements. Although the license agreements for our
trademarks usually require the advance payment of a portion of the license fees and, in most cases, provide for guaranteed minimum royalty payments to us,
the failure of licensees to satisfy their obligations under these agreements, or their inability to operate successfully or at all, could result in their breach and/or
the early termination of such agreements, their non-renewal of such agreements or the decision to amend such agreements to reduce the guaranteed minimum
royalty payments or sales royalties due thereunder, thereby eliminating some or all of that stream of revenue.

There can be no assurances that we will not lose the licensees under our license agreements due to their failure to exercise the option to renew or
extend the term of those agreements or the cessation of their business operations (as a result of their financial difficulties or otherwise) without equivalent
options for replacement. Any of such failures could reduce the anticipated revenue stream to be generated by the license agreements. In addition, the failure of
licensees to meet their production, manufacturing and distribution requirements, or to be able to continue to import goods (including, without limitation, as a
result of labor strikes or unrest), could cause a decline in their sales and potentially decrease the amount of royalty payments (over and above the guaranteed
minimum royalty payments) due to us. Any decrease in royalties for any of the above reasons could have a material and adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations or business.

Further, the failure of licensees and/or their third party manufacturers, which we do not control, to adhere to local laws, industry standards and
practices generally accepted in the United States in areas of worker safety, worker rights of association, social compliance, and general health and welfare,
could result in accidents and practices that cause disruptions or delays in production and/or substantial harm to the reputation of our trademarks, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on the business and financial results of our business. A weak economy or softness in sectors of licensees of our consumer
business could exacerbate this risk. This, in turn, could decrease our potential revenues and cash flows.
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We rely on third parties to help operate certain aspects of our e-commerce business. If these third parties fail to perform, our business could be harmed.

We are dependent on information technology systems and third parties to operate certain of our e-commerce and subscription websites, process
transactions, respond to customer inquiries and maintain cost-efficient operations. The failure of our information technology systems to operate properly or
effectively, problems with transitioning to upgraded or replacement systems, or difficulty in integrating new systems, could adversely affect our business. Our
information technology systems, websites, and operations of third parties on whom we rely, may encounter damage or disruption or slowdown caused by a
failure to successfully upgrade systems, system failures, viruses, computer “hackers”, natural disasters, pandemics, or other causes. These could cause
information, including data related to customer orders, to be lost or delayed which could result in delays in the delivery of products to our customers or lost
sales, which could reduce demand for our products and cause our sales to decline. Any significant disruption in our information technology systems or
websites could harm our reputation and credibility and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our commercial agreements, strategic alliances, and other business relationships expose us to risks.

We provide physical, e-commerce, and omnichannel retail and other products and content to businesses through commercial agreements, strategic
alliances, and business relationships. These arrangements are complex and require substantial infrastructure capacity, personnel, and other resource
commitments, which may limit the amount of business we can service. We may not be able to implement, maintain, and develop the components of these
commercial relationships, which may include web services, fulfillment, customer service, inventory management, tax collection, payment processing,
hardware, content, and third-party software, and engaging third parties to perform services. The amount of compensation we receive under certain of our
commercial agreements is partially dependent on the volume of the other company’s sales. Therefore, when the other company’s offerings are not successful,
the compensation we receive may be lower than expected or the agreement may be terminated. Moreover, we may not be able to enter into additional or
alternative commercial relationships and strategic alliances on favorable terms. We also may be subject to claims from businesses to which we provide these
products and content if we are unsuccessful in implementing, maintaining, or developing these products and content.

As our agreements terminate, we may be unable to renew or replace these agreements on comparable terms, or at all. We may in the future enter into
amendments on less favorable terms or encounter parties that have difficulty meeting their contractual obligations to us, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

Our present and future e-commerce services agreements, other commercial agreements, and strategic alliances create additional risks such as:

• disruption of our ongoing business, including loss of management focus on existing businesses;

• impairment of other relationships;

• variability in revenue and income from entering into, amending, or terminating such agreements or relationships; and

• difficulty integrating under the commercial agreements.

Our consumer business is subject to additional risks associated with our international licensees.

Many of the licensees of our consumer business are located outside the U.S. Our consumer business and our licensees face numerous risks in doing
business outside the U.S., including: (i) unusual or burdensome foreign laws or regulatory requirements or unexpected changes to those laws or requirements;
(ii) tariffs, trade protection measures, import or export licensing requirements, trade embargoes, sanctions and other trade barriers; (iii) competition from
foreign companies; (iv) longer accounts receivable collection cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable; (v) less effective and less predictable
protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights; (vi) changes in the political or economic condition of a specific country or region (including,
without limitation, as a result of political unrest), particularly in emerging markets or jurisdictions where political events may strongly influence consumer
spending; (vii) fluctuations in the value of foreign currency versus the U.S. dollar, the cost of currency exchange and compliance with exchange controls;
(viii) potentially adverse tax consequences; and (ix) cultural differences in the conduct of business. Any one or more of such factors could cause the future
international sales of licensees to decline. In addition, the business practices of our consumer business in international markets are subject to the requirements
of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and all other applicable anti-bribery laws, any violation of which could subject us to significant fines, criminal
sanctions and other penalties. The occurrence of any of the above risks and uncertainties could result in a material adverse effect on our consumer business’s
financial condition, results of operations or business.
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We are subject to product liability claims when people or property are harmed by the products we sell or manufacture.

Some of the products we sell or manufacture expose us to product liability or food safety claims relating to personal injury or illness, death, or
environmental or property damage, and can require product recalls or other actions. Third parties who sell products using our platforms and stores increase
our exposure to product liability claims, such as when these sellers do not have sufficient protection from such claims. Although we maintain liability
insurance, we cannot be certain that our coverage will be adequate for liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. Although we impose contractual terms on sellers that are intended to prohibit sales of certain type of products, we
may not be able to detect, enforce, or collect sufficient damages for breaches of such agreements. In addition, some of our agreements with our vendors and
sellers do not indemnify us from product liability.

Additional Risks Related to Our Digital Subscriptions and Content Business

Free content on the internet and competition from free and other content-creator sites is increasing competition for our adult content products and is
changing the dynamics of the marketplace for our adult content products.

Demand for our paid adult content products is significantly impacted by the availability of free adult entertainment available on the Internet in
general and at the “YouTube-like” adult video sites (commonly known as “tube sites”), as well as from other subscription-based content-creator sites. The
tube sites feature free adult videos, some of which consist of unlicensed, or pirated, excerpts of professionally produced adult movies (including at times
pirated versions of our proprietary videos). Content-creator sites allow consumers to subscribe for content from specific creators, many of which offer adult-
oriented content. The availability of these free adult videos and creator-specific subscriptions may diminish the demand for our paid video offerings on our
proprietary websites, including centerfold.com, playboy.tv and playboyplus.com, and for our other content products, and has diluted the market presence of our
website. The tube sites and other content-creator sites may materially affect the revenues we generate from our websites and other adult content offerings. It is
uncertain what affect tube sites, other free internet adult websites and competing content-creator sites will have on our on-going operations and our future
financial results. No assurance can be given that we will be able to effectively compete against the tube sites and other internet products.

Failure to maintain our agreements with multiple system operators, or MSOs, and direct-to-home, or DTH, operators on favorable terms could adversely
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

We currently have agreements with many of the largest MSOs in the U.S. and internationally. Our agreements with these operators may be
terminated on short notice without penalty. If one or more MSOs or DTH operators terminate or do not renew these agreements, or do not renew them on
terms as favorable as those of current agreements, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, competition among television programming providers is intense for both channel space and viewer spending. Our competition varies in
both the type and quality of programming offered, but consists primarily of other premium pay platforms, such as general-interest premium channels, and
other adult movie pay platforms. We compete with other pay platforms as we attempt to obtain or renew carriage with DTH operators and individual cable
affiliates, negotiate fee arrangements with these operators, negotiate for video-on-demand, or VOD, and subscription video-on-demand rights and market our
programming through these operators to consumers. The competition with programming providers has intensified as a result of consolidation in the DTH and
cable systems industries, which has resulted in fewer, but larger, operators. Competition has also intensified with VOD’s lower cost of entry for programmers
compared to linear networks and with capacity constraints disappearing. The impact of industry consolidation, any decline in our access to and acceptance by
DTH and/or cable systems and the possible resulting deterioration in the terms of agreements, cancellation of fee arrangements or pressure on margin splits
with operators of these systems could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Limits on our access to satellite transponders could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our cable television and DTH operations require continued access to satellite transponders to transmit programming to cable and DTH operators.
Material limitations on our access to these systems or satellite transponder capacity could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or
results of operations. Our access to transponders may also be restricted or denied if:

• we or the satellite transponder providers are indicted or otherwise charged as a defendant in a criminal proceeding;

• the Federal Communications Commission issues an order initiating a proceeding to revoke the satellite owner’s authorization to operate the satellite;

• the satellite transponder providers are ordered by a court or governmental authority to deny us access to the transponder;

• we are deemed by a governmental authority to have violated any obscenity law; or
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• the satellite transponder providers fail to provide the required services.

In addition to the above, the access of Playboy TV and the Playboy Channel and our other networks to transponders may be restricted or denied if a
governmental authority commences an investigation or makes an adverse finding concerning the content of their transmissions. Technical failures may also
affect our satellite transponder providers’ ability to deliver transmission services.

There has been a shift in consumer behavior as a result of technological innovations and changes in the distribution of content, which may affect our
viewership and the profitability of our content business in unpredictable ways.

Technology and business models in our industry continue to evolve rapidly. Changes to these business models include the increasing presence of
streaming platforms and the greater video consumption through time-delayed or time-shifted viewing of television programming through streaming platforms,
on-demand platforms, and digital video recorder, or DVRs. Consumer behavior related to changes in content distribution and technological innovation affect
our economic model and viewership in ways that are not entirely predictable.

Consumers are increasingly viewing content on a time-delayed or on-demand basis from traditional distributors and from streaming platforms,
connected apps and websites and on a wide variety of screens, such as televisions, tablets, mobile phones and other devices. Additionally, devices that allow
users to view television programs on a time-shifted basis and technologies that enable users to fast-forward or skip programming, including commercials, such
as DVRs and portable digital devices and systems that enable users to store or make portable copies of content may affect the attractiveness of our offerings to
advertisers and could therefore adversely affect our revenues. There is increased demand for short-form, user-generated and interactive content, which have
different economic models than our traditional content offerings. Likewise, distributors are offering smaller programming packages known as “skinny
bundles,” which are delivered at a lower cost than traditional offerings and sometimes allow consumers to create a customized package of networks, that are
gaining popularity among consumers. If our networks are not included in these packages or consumers favor alternative offerings, we may experience a
decline in viewership and ultimately the demand for our programming, which could lead to lower distribution and advertising revenues.

In order to respond to changes in content distribution models in our industry, we have invested in, developed and launched DTC products (including
our online retail stores). There can be no assurance, however, that our viewers will respond to our DTC products or that our DTC strategy will be successful,
particularly given the increase in DTC products on the market. Each distribution model has different risks and economic consequences for us, so the rapid
evolution of consumer preferences may have an economic impact that is not completely predictable. Distribution windows are also evolving, potentially
affecting revenues from other windows. If we cannot ensure that our distribution methods and content are responsive to our target audiences, our business
could be adversely affected.

Our digital content business involves risks of liability claims for media content, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of
operations.

As a distributor of media content, we may face potential liability for:

• defamation;

• invasion of privacy;

• negligence;

• copyright or trademark infringement; and

• other claims based on the nature and content of the materials distributed.

These types of claims have been brought, sometimes successfully, against broadcasters, publishers, online providers and other disseminators of media
content. We could also be exposed to liability in connection with material available through our websites. Any imposition of liability that is not covered by
insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, measures to reduce our exposure to liability in
connection with material available through our websites could require us to take steps that would substantially limit the attractiveness of our websites and/or
their availability in various geographic areas, which would negatively affect their ability to generate revenues.
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Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock

If we are not able to comply with the applicable continued listing requirements or standards of Nasdaq, Nasdaq could delist our Common Stock.

Our Common Stock is currently listed on Nasdaq. In order to maintain such listing, we must satisfy minimum financial and other continued listing
requirements and standards, including those regarding director independence and independent committee requirements, minimum stockholders’ equity,
minimum share price, and certain corporate governance requirements.

On August 9, 2020, the Company notified Nasdaq that it was not in compliance with Nasdaq Listing Rules 5605(b)(1) and 5605(c)(2)(A) as a result
of the resignation of a member of the Company’s board who was also a member of the Company’s Audit Committee. Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605(b)(1) requires
a majority independent board and 5605(c)(2)(A) requires the Audit Committee to have at least three independent members (as defined by Nasdaq Listing Rule
5605(a)(2) and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), at least one of whom is an audit committee financial expert. As a result of the
resignation of Mr. Suying Liu, the Company no longer has a majority independent board or an Audit Committee comprised of three independent directors.
The Nasdaq Listing Rules provide for a cure period during which the Company may regain compliance. Under Nasdaq Listing Rules, the Company shall have
until the earlier of its next annual meeting of stockholders or one year from the occurrence of the event that caused the failure to comply with Nasdaq Listing
Rules 5605(b)(1) and 5605(c)(2)(A); provided, however, that if the next annual meeting of stockholders occurs no later than 180 days following the event that
caused the vacancy, the Company shall instead have 180 days from such event to regain compliance.

There can be no assurances that we will be able to regain compliance with Nasdaq’s listing standards or if we do later regain compliance with
Nasdaq’s listing standards, will be able to continue to comply with the applicable listing standards. If we are unable to maintain compliance with these Nasdaq
requirements, our Common Stock will be delisted from Nasdaq. If Nasdaq delists our Common Stock, we could face significant material adverse
consequences, including:

• a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;

• a determination that our Common Stock is a “penny stock” which will require brokers trading in our Common Stock to adhere to more stringent rules
and possibly resulting in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our Common Stock;

• a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; and

• a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

RT owns a significant percentage of our Common Stock, and it may effectively control all major corporate decisions and its interests may conflict with
your interests as an owner of our Common Stock and with our interests.

RT beneficially owned approximately 27.4% of our Common Stock as of March 8, 2022. Under the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement we
entered into with RT, RT has the right, but not the obligation, to nominate to the Company's board of directors (the "Board") a number of designees equal to (i)
three directors, if and so long as RT and its affiliates beneficially own, in the aggregate, 50% or more of the shares of our Common Stock, (ii) two directors, in
the event that RT and its affiliates beneficially own, in the aggregate, 35% or more, but less than 50%, of the shares of Common Stock and (iii) one director, in
the event that RT and its affiliates beneficially own, in the aggregate, 15% or more, but less than 35%, of the shares of our Common Stock (in each case,
subject to proportional adjustment in the event that the size of the Board is increased or decreased following the Closing). RT also has the right to appoint the
chairman of the Board so long as RT and its affiliates beneficially own, in the aggregate, 15% or more of the shares of Common Stock. We anticipate that
Suhail Rizvi, our current chairman of the Board and a manager of the RT entities, will continue to serve as RT's designee on the Board and chairman of the
Board.

The directors RT elects have the authority to incur additional debt, issue or repurchase stock, declare dividends and make other decisions that could
be detrimental to stockholders. Even though RT may own or control less than a majority of our total outstanding shares of our Common Stock, it is able to
influence the outcome of corporate actions so long as it owns a significant portion of our total outstanding shares of our Common Stock.

RT may have interests that are different from yours and may vote in a way with which you disagree and that may be adverse to your interests. In
addition, RT’s concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquirer
from attempting to obtain control of us, which could cause the market price of our Common Stock to decline or prevent our stockholders from realizing a
premium over the market price for their common stock.

Additionally, RT is in the business of making investments in companies and may from time to time acquire and hold interests in businesses that
compete directly or indirectly with us or supply us with goods and services. RT may also pursue acquisition opportunities that may be complementary to our
business and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us. Stockholders should consider that the interests of RT may differ from their
interests in material respects.
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The market price of the Company’s common stock is likely to be highly volatile, and you may lose some or all of your investment.

The market price of Company’s common stock is likely to be highly volatile and may be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a variety of
factors, including the following:

• the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on our business;

• the inability to obtain or maintain the listing of our shares of common stock on Nasdaq;

• the inability to recognize the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination, which may be affected by, among other things, competition, our
ability to grow and manage growth profitably, and our ability to retain our key employees;

• changes in applicable laws or regulations;

• risks relating to the uncertainty of our projected financial information; and

• risks related to the organic and inorganic growth of our business and the timing of expected business milestones.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of
equity securities of many companies. These fluctuations have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies.
Broad market and industry factors, as well as general economic, political, regulatory and market conditions, may negatively affect the market price of the
Company’s common stock, regardless of the Company’s actual operating performance.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our share price and trading
volume could decline.

The trading market for our Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us. If
securities or industry analysts initiate coverage and one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Common Stock or publish inaccurate or
unfavorable research about our company, our Common Stock share price would likely decline. If analysts publish target prices for our Common Stock that are
below the historical sales prices for the ordinary shares of PLBY on a securities exchange or the then-current public price of our Common Stock, it could
cause our stock price to decline significantly. Further, if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand
for our Common Stock could decrease, which might cause our Common Stock price and trading volume to decline.

Volatility in the Company’s share price could subject the Company to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. If the
Company faces such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could harm its business.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, would be your sole source of gain.

We currently anticipate we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and does not anticipate declaring
or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our shares of Common Stock would be your sole source of
gain on an investment in such shares for the foreseeable future.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market could cause the price of our Common Stock to decline.

On September 9, 2021, the SEC declared our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-259213) effective, pursuant to which certain
stockholders of the Company are able to sell up to 2,269,552 shares of Common Stock in the public market, subject in certain cases to remaining applicable
contractual lock-up agreements. On May 10, 2021, the SEC declared our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-255585) effective, pursuant to
which certain stockholders of the Company are able to sell up to 21,854,262 shares of Common Stock in the public market, subject in certain cases to
remaining applicable contractual lock-up agreements. On February 10, 2021, the SEC declared our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-250017)
effective, pursuant to which certain institutional and accredited investors (collectively, the “PIPE Investors”) are able to sell up to 5,390,763 Shares of
Common Stock in the public market.
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As of April 12, 2021, 50% of the shares received or to be received by Playboy stockholders in the Business Combination were released from
contractual lock-up restrictions, of which 10,458,406 shares are currently available for resale under the resale registration statement.

We also have registered on a Form S-8 a total of 9,868,539 shares of Common Stock underlying awards that we have issued, or may in the future
issue, under our employee equity incentive plans. These shares may be sold freely in the public market upon issuance, or pursuant to the reoffer prospectus in
the Form S-8, as applicable, subject to existing lock-up agreements and relevant vesting schedules, and applicable securities laws.

The presence of these shares of Common Stock trading in the public market may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur could depress the market
price of our Common Stock and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We are unable to predict the effect that
sales may have on the prevailing market price of our Common Stock. In addition, the sale of substantial amounts of our Common Stock could adversely
impact its price.

Future sales of shares of our Common Stock may depress our stock price.

Future sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales might occur, could
depress the market price of our Common Stock and could impair its ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum
for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes
with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for: (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (b) any
action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or the Company’s
stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim against the Company, its directors, officers or employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our
certificate of amended and restated incorporation or our bylaws, or (d) any action asserting a claim related to or involving the Company that is governed by
the internal affairs doctrine except for, as to each of (a) through (d) above, any claim as to which the Court of Chancery determines that there is an
indispensable party not subject to the jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery (and the indispensable party does not consent to the personal jurisdiction of the
Court of Chancery within ten days following such determination), which is vested in the exclusive jurisdiction of a court or forum other than the Court of
Chancery, or for which the Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction,. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation also provides
that the federal district courts of the Unites States will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action against us or any
of our directors, officers, employees or agents and arising under the Securities Act.

The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our
directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court
were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action,
we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could seriously harm our business. The choice of forum
provision requiring that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware be the exclusive forum for certain actions would not apply to suits brought to enforce
any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act.

General Risk Factors

Any inability to identify, fund investment in and commercially exploit new technology could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

We are engaged in businesses that have experienced significant technological changes over the past several years and are continuing to undergo
technological changes. Our ability to implement our business plan and to achieve the results projected by management will depend on management’s ability to
anticipate technological advances and implement strategies to take advantage of future technological changes. Any inability to identify, fund investment in
and commercially exploit new technology or the commercial failure of any technology that we pursue, such as Internet and mobile, could result in our
businesses becoming burdened by obsolete technology and could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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We are subject to periodic claims and litigation that could result in unexpected expenses and could ultimately be resolved against us.

From time to time, we are involved in litigation and other proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, such as the matters
described in “Legal Proceedings” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Defending these claims, even those without merit, could cause us to incur significant
legal expenses and divert financial and management resources. These claims could also result in significant settlement amounts, damages, fine or other
penalties. An unfavorable outcome of any particular proceeding could exceed the limits of our insurance policies or the carriers may decline to fund such final
settlements and/or judgments and could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, an adverse
resolution of any lawsuit or claim against us could negatively impact our reputation and our brand image and could have a material adverse effect on our
business.

In addition, we rely on our employees, consultants and sub-contractors to conduct our operations in compliance with applicable laws and standards.
Any violation of such laws or standards by these individuals, whether through negligence, harassment, discrimination or other misconduct, could result in
significant liability for us and adversely affect our business. For example, negligent operations by employees could result in serious injury or property
damage, and sexual harassment or racial and gender discrimination could result in legal claims and reputational harm.

If we are unable to attract and retain key employees and hire qualified management and personnel our ability to compete could be harmed.

We believe that our ability to successfully implement our business strategy and to operate profitably depends, in part, on our ability to retain our key
personnel. If key personnel become unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, our business, financial condition or results of operations could
be materially adversely affected. Our success also depends, in part, on our continuing ability to identify, hire, attract, train and develop other highly qualified
personnel, including appropriate technical and engineering employees to support our expanding digital platforms.

Competition for these employees can be intense, and our ability to hire, attract and retain them depends on our ability to provide competitive
compensation. We may not be able to attract, assimilate, develop or retain qualified personnel in the future, and our failure to do so could adversely affect our
business, including the execution of our global business strategy. Any failure by our management team to perform as expected may have a material adverse
effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Past performance by our management team and their affiliates may not be indicative of future performance of an investment in us.

Information regarding performance by, or businesses associated with, our management team or businesses associated with them is presented for
informational purposes only. Past performance by our management team is not a guarantee the success with respect to any acquisition we may consummate.
You should not rely on the historical record of the performance of our management team or businesses associated with them as indicative of our future
performance of an investment in us or the returns we will, or are likely to, generate going forward.

We are subject to data security and privacy risks that could negatively affect our results, operations or reputation.

Online security breaches could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Any well-publicized compromise
of security could deter use of the Internet in general or use of the Internet to conduct transactions that involve transmitting confidential information or
downloading sensitive materials in particular. In addition to our own sensitive and proprietary business information, we handle transactional and personal
information about our consumers and users of our digital experiences, which include online distribution channels and product engagement. In offering
products via online payment, we may increasingly rely on technology licensed from third parties to provide the security and authentication necessary to effect
secure transmission of confidential information such as customer credit card numbers. Advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of
cryptography or other developments could compromise or breach the algorithms that we use to protect our data and/or our customers’ data. If third parties are
able to penetrate our network security or otherwise misappropriate confidential information, we could be subject to liability, which could result in litigation. In
addition, experienced programmers or “hackers” may attempt to misappropriate proprietary information or cause interruptions in our product offerings that
could require us to expend significant capital and resources to protect against or remediate these problems. We have been the target of "phishing", "spoofing",
"social engineering" and other data breach attempts. While we do not believe that our data systems or information technology have been materially breached,
we expect that we may continue to be a target for unauthorized access to our systems and technology, including through the use of ransomware. If any such
attempts are materially successful in the future, we could be subject to liability which could negatively impact our financial condition and damage our
business.
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Increased scrutiny by regulatory agencies, such as the Federal Trade Commission and state agencies, of the use of customer information could also
result in additional expenses if we are obligated to reengineer systems to comply with new regulations or to defend investigations of our privacy practices. In
addition, we must comply with increasingly complex and rigorous, and sometimes conflicting, regulatory standards enacted to protect business and personal
data in the United States, Europe and elsewhere. For example, the European Union adopted the General Data Protection Regulation (the “GDPR”), which
became effective on May 25, 2018; and California passed the California Consumer Privacy Act (the “CCPA”) which became effective on January 1, 2020.
The U.S. Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) also regulates the collection, use and disclosure of personal information from children under 13-
years of age. While none of our content is directed at children under 13-years of age, if COPPA were to apply to us, failure to comply with COPPA may
increase our costs, subject us to expensive and distracting government investigations and could result in substantial fines. These laws impose additional
obligations on companies regarding the handling of personal data and provide certain individual privacy rights to persons whose data is stored. Compliance
with existing, proposed and recently enacted laws (including implementation of the privacy and process enhancements called for under GDPR and CCPA) and
regulations can be costly and time consuming, and any failure to comply with these regulatory standards could subject us to legal and reputational risks.

Customer interaction with our content is subject to our privacy policy and terms of service. If we fail to comply with our posted privacy policy or
terms of service or if we fail to comply with existing privacy-related or data protection laws and regulations, it could result in proceedings or litigation against
us by governmental authorities or others, which could result in fines or judgments against us, damage our reputation, impact our financial condition and harm
our business. If regulators, the media or consumers raise any concerns about our privacy and data protection or consumer protection practices, even if
unfounded, this could also result in fines or judgments against us, damage our reputation, and negatively impact our financial condition and damage our
business.

Geopolitical risks, such as those associated with Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, could result in a decline in the outlook for the U.S. and global economies.

The uncertain nature, magnitude, and duration of hostilities stemming from Russia’s recent military invasion of Ukraine, including the potential
effects of sanctions and retaliatory cyber-attacks on the world economy and markets, have contributed to increased market volatility and uncertainty, and such
geopolitical risks could have an adverse impact on macroeconomic factors which affect our assets and businesses.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Los Angeles, California, where we lease and occupy approximately 45,000 square feet of office space. Our
Licensing, Direct-to-Consumer and Digital Subscriptions and Content segments all use our corporate headquarters.

We also lease and occupy approximately 52,000 square feet of combined office and warehouse space in Phoenix, Arizona, housing inventory
management and fulfillment operations for our Direct-to-Consumer segment.

Pursuant to our acquisition of Lovers in March 2021, we acquired over 25,000 square feet of leased office and warehouse space in Auburn,
Washington. As of December 31, 2021, Lovers operated 40 retail locations in five states, ranging in size between 1,472 and 15,000 square feet per location.
The Lovers properties are used by our Direct-to-Consumer segment.

Pursuant to our acquisition of Honey Birdette in August 2021, we also acquired over 15,000 square feet of leased office and warehouse space in the
Sydney, Australia area. As of December 31, 2021, Honey Birdette operates 59 retail locations in Australia, the U.S. and the U.K., ranging in size between
approximately 400 and 1,200 square feet per location. The Honey Birdette properties are used by our Direct-to-Consumer segment.

We believe our properties are suitable for the purposes for which they are being used and fit our needs.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in additional legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. Except for the
proceedings below, we are not currently a party to any other legal proceedings the outcome of which, if determined adversely to us, would individually or in
the aggregate have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

TNR Case

On December 17, 2021, Thai Nippon Rubber Industry Public Limited Company, a manufacturer of condoms and lubricants and a publicly traded
Thailand company (“TNR”), filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California against Playboy and its subsidiary Products
Licensing, LLC. TNR alleges a variety of claims relating to Playboy’s termination of a license agreement with TNR and the business relationship between
Playboy and TNR prior to such termination. TNR alleges, among other things, breach of contract, unfair competition, breach of the implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing, and interference with contractual and business relations due to Playboy’s conduct. TNR is seeking over $100 million in damages arising
from the loss of expected profits, declines in the value of TNR’s business, unsalable inventory and investment losses. Playboy believes TNR’s claims and
allegations are without merit, and Playboy will defend itself vigorously in this matter.

Dream Case

On December 7, 2021, Steve Shaw, a former consultant to GlowUp Digital, Inc. (a/k/a “Dream” and subsequently renamed Centerfold Digital Inc.),
the company acquired by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, brought suit in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles,
against Michael Dow and Michael Berman (the principals of Dream), Centerfold Digital Inc. and Playboy. Mr. Shaw alleges a variety of claims, based upon
an alleged (unsigned) agreement with Dream that Mr. Shaw was to be granted up to 20% of the equity of Dream (valued at $6 million based on the $30
million purchase price in the agreement for the Company’s acquisition of Dream). Subsequent to such alleged agreement and prior to the Company’s
acquisition of Dream, Dream and Mr. Shaw entered into a standard mutual release agreement pursuant to which Mr. Shaw released any claims against Dream,
including any rights to equity in Dream, in exchange for a monetary payment. Mr. Shaw is alleging, among other things, breach of contract, misrepresentation
and fraud in connection with his alleged agreement with Dream and the circumstances under which he entered into the release. Mr. Shaw is seeking damages,
costs and attorneys’ fees. Playboy believes Mr. Shaw’s claims and allegations are without merit, and Playboy will defend itself vigorously in this matter,
including the assertion of its own counterclaims.

AVS Case

In March 2020, our subsidiary Playboy Enterprises International, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “PEII”) terminated its license agreement with a
licensee, AVS Products, LLC (“AVS”), for AVS’s failure to make required payments to PEII under the agreement, following notice of breach and an
opportunity to cure. On February 6, 2021, PEII received a letter from counsel to AVS alleging that the termination of the contract was improper, and that PEII
failed to meet its contractual obligations, preventing AVS from fulfilling its obligations under the license agreement.

On February 25, 2021, PEII brought suit against AVS in Los Angeles Superior Court to prevent further unauthorized sales of PLAYBOY branded
products and for disgorgement of unlawfully obtained funds. On March 1, 2021, PEII also brought a claim in arbitration against AVS for outstanding and
unpaid license fees. PEII and AVS subsequently agreed that the claims PEII brought in arbitration would be alleged in the Los Angeles Superior Court case
instead, and on April 23, 2021, the parties entered into and filed a stipulation to that effect with the court. On May 18, 2021, AVS filed a demurrer, asking for
the court to remove an individual defendant and dismiss PEII’s request for a permanent injunction. On June 10, 2021, the court denied AVS’s demurrer. AVS
filed an opposition to PEII’s motion for a preliminary injunction to enjoin AVS from continuing to sell or market PLAYBOY branded products on July 2,
2021, which the court denied on July 28, 2021.

On August 10, 2021, AVS filed a cross-complaint for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, quantum
meruit and declaratory relief. As in its February 2021 letter, AVS alleges its license was wrongfully terminated and that PEII failed to approve AVS’
marketing efforts in a manner that was either timely or that was commensurate with industry practice. AVS is seeking to be excused from having to perform
its obligations as a licensee, payment of the value for services rendered by AVS to PEII outside of the license, and damages to be proven at trial. We believe
AVS’ claims and allegations are without merit, and we will defend this matter vigorously. The parties are currently engaged in discovery. The court has set a
preliminary trial date of September 13, 2022.
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Indian Harbor Case

On October 15, 2018, Playboy filed a lawsuit in Los Angeles Superior Court (the “Court”) against its insurer, Indian Harbor Insurance Company
(“Indian Harbor”), captioned Playboy Enterprises, Inc. v. Indian Harbor Insurance Company, for breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith
and fair dealing, and seeking declaratory relief, after Indian Harbor threatened to sue Playboy on an alleged theory of lack of coverage after Indian Harbor
paid approximately $4.8 million towards the settlement of claims against Playboy made by Elliot Friedman. Among other things, we are seeking declaratory
relief that the underlying claims asserted against Playboy are covered claims under Playboy’s insurance policies with Indian Harbor. On December 14, 2018,
Indian Harbor filed its answer to the complaint and filed counterclaims against Playboy for declaratory relief that it has no obligation to provide coverage for
the underlying claims and that it is entitled to recoup the amounts it paid in the settlement, with interest. Indian Harbor filed a motion for summary judgment,
seeking, among other things, summary adjudication that (1) the insurance policy does not provide coverage because the underlying claim was allegedly first
made before the policy period of the policy and (2) that Indian Harbor does not have to provide coverage because Playboy allegedly failed to provide timely
notice of the claim. On September 9, 2020, the Court denied Indian Harbor’s motion, in part, ruling as a matter of law that Playboy had properly reported the
underlying claim under the correct policy; but granted the motion as to Playboy’s breach of contract and bad faith claims because Indian Harbor ultimately
funded the settlement. Based on the summary judgment ruling, the parties agreed to enter into a stipulated judgment in Playboy’s favor to advance the issues
for appeal, with Indian Harbor intending to appeal the Court’s decision as to when the underlying claim was first made. The Court entered the parties’
stipulated judgment on July 26, 2021. On October 15, 2021, Indian Harbor filed its notice of appeal. On December 13, 2021, Indian Harbor filed its opening
appellate brief, and our response is due by March 29, 2022. We intend to continue to prosecute our claims in this matter and vigorously defend ourselves
against Indian Harbor’s counterclaims on appeal.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information

PLBY's common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “PLBY”. Prior to February 10, 2021 and before the completion of the
Business Combination with Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp, the common stock of Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp traded on the Nasdaq under the ticker
symbol “MCAC”.

Holders

As of March 4, 2022, there were 61 holders of record of our common stock. In addition to holders of record of our common stock we believe there is
a substantially greater number of “street name” holders or beneficial holders whose common stock is held of record by banks, brokers and other financial
institutions.

Dividend Policy

PLBY has not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date. The payment of cash dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board and
may be affected by various factors, including our future earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, share repurchase activity, current and future
planned strategic growth initiatives, levels of indebtedness, and other considerations our Board deems relevant. In addition, the terms of our New Credit
Agreement (defined below) also restrict our ability to pay dividends, and we may also enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the
future that may restrict our ability to declare or pay cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently anticipate we will retain future earnings for the
development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K and Note 12, Stock-Based Compensation of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included
herein for additional information required.

Stock Price Performance

The graph above compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return on the Standard & Poor’s
(“S&P”) 500 index and the Nasdaq Composite index. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 in our common stock at the market close on August 27,
2020, which was the first day on which our common stock commenced trading on its own. Data for the S&P 500 and the Nasdaq Composite assume
reinvestment of dividends. Total return equals stock price appreciation plus reinvestment of dividends. The stock price performance of the graph above is not
necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

During the three months ended December 31, 2021, pursuant to the merger agreement for the acquisition of GlowUp Digital Inc. (the "GlowUp
Agreement"), we issued as merger consideration to holders of GlowUp’s equity securities that were accredited investors an aggregate of 548,034 shares of our
common stock based on a price of $23.4624 per share. The issuance of such shares was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, for transactions not involving a public offering, as such issuance was pursuant to a private placement to accredited investors.

On December 3, 2021, we issued 39,741 shares of our common stock to an independent contractor based on a price of $37.7444 per share as payment
for services pursuant to the terms of a license, services and collaboration agreement. Such shares were issued pursuant to the exemption from registration
contained in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as they were issued pursuant to a private placement to an accredited investor.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings

On June 9, 2021, our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-256855) was declared effective by the SEC for our public offering of common
stock. At the closing of our public offering on June 14, 2021 we sold 4,720,000 shares of common stock, at a public offering price of $46.00 per share. We
received net proceeds from the sale of our common stock sold in the offering of approximately $202.9 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions
and offering expenses. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our 2021 public offering from that described in the final
prospectus filed by us with the SEC on June 11, 2021.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in Part II, Item
8 of this Form 10-K. This section of this Form 10-K generally discusses 2021 and 2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2021 and 2020. In
addition to historical information, the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our
actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute
to these differences include those discussed below .

As used herein, “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” and “Playboy” refer to Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and its subsidiaries prior to the consummation
of the Business Combination (defined below) and PLBY Group Inc. and its subsidiaries following the consummation of the Business Combination.

Business Overview

We are a large, global consumer lifestyle company marketing its brands through a wide range of direct-to-consumer products, licensing initiatives,
digital subscriptions and content, and location-based entertainment. We reach millions of consumers worldwide with products across four key market
categories: Sexual Wellness, including lingerie and intimacy products; Style and Apparel, including a variety of apparel and accessories products for men and
women; Gaming and Lifestyle, such as digital gaming, hospitality and spirits; and, Beauty and Grooming, including fragrance, skincare, grooming and
cosmetics for women and men.

We have three reportable segments: Licensing, Direct-to-Consumer, and Digital Subscriptions and Content. The Licensing segment derives revenue
from trademark licenses for third-party consumer products and location-based entertainment businesses. The Direct-to-Consumer segment derives its revenue
from sales of consumer products sold directly to consumers through our own online channels or through third-party retailers. The Digital Subscriptions and
Content segment derives revenue from the subscription of Playboy programming, which is distributed through various channels, including websites and
domestic and international TV, from trademark licenses for online gaming and from sales of tokenized digital art and collectibles.

Merger with MCAC

On September 30, 2020, Playboy Enterprises, Inc. (“Legacy Playboy”) entered into an agreement and plan of merger (“Merger Agreement”), with
our predecessor, Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp, a publicly-traded special purpose acquisition company incorporated in Delaware (“MCAC”), MCAC
Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of MCAC (“Merger Sub”), and Dr. Suying Liu, the Chief Executive Officer of MCAC.
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, at the closing of the transactions contemplated thereby, Merger Sub would merge with and into Legacy Playboy (the
“Merger”) with Legacy Playboy surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of MCAC (the “Business Combination”). Under the Merger Agreement,
MCAC acquired all of the outstanding shares of Legacy Playboy common stock for approximately $381.3 million in aggregate consideration, comprised of (i)
23,920,000 shares of MCAC common stock, based on a price of $10.00 per share, subject to adjustment, and (ii) the assumption of no more than $142.1
million of Legacy Playboy net debt (the “Net Debt Target”). The number of shares issued at closing was subject to adjustment at a rate of one share of MCAC
common stock for each $10.00 increment that the Net Debt (as defined in the Merger Agreement) is greater than (in which case the number of shares would
be reduced) or less than (in which case the number of shares would be increased) the Net Debt Target. The Business Combination closed on February 10,
2021.

Legacy Playboy’s options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) that were outstanding as of immediately prior to the closing of the Business
Combination, but not the Pre-Closing Option granted to our Chief Executive Officer in January 2021, were accelerated and fully vested. Each outstanding
option was assumed by MCAC and automatically converted into an option to purchase such number of shares of our common stock equal to the product of (x)
the merger consideration and (y) the option holder’s respective percentage of the merger consideration. All RSUs that were then outstanding were terminated
and shall be subsequently paid, in settlement, in shares of common stock equal to the product of (x) the merger consideration, and (y) the terminated RSU
holder’s respective percentage of the merger consideration.

In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Legacy Playboy, Sunlight Global Investment LLC (“Sponsor”), and Dr. Suying Liu
entered into a stock purchase agreement pursuant to which Legacy Playboy purchased 700,000 shares of MCAC’s common stock (the “Initial Shares”) from
Sponsor. The Sponsor transferred the Initial Shares to Legacy Playboy upon the closing of the Merger and the Initial Shares were recorded as treasury stock
on the consolidated balance sheet.

In connection with the Merger, MCAC also entered into subscription agreements (the “Subscription Agreements”) and registration rights agreements
(the “PIPE Registration Rights Agreements”), each dated as of September 30, 2020, with certain institutional and accredited investors, pursuant to which,
among other things, MCAC agreed to issue and sell, in a private placement immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination, an aggregate of
5,000,000 shares of common stock for $10.00 per share (the “PIPE Investment”). The PIPE Investment was consummated substantially concurrently with the
closing of the Business Combination for net proceeds of $46.8 million.
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On February 10, 2021, the Business Combination was consummated and MCAC (i) issued an aggregate of 20,916,812 shares of its common stock to
existing stockholders of Legacy Playboy, (ii) assumed Legacy Playboy options exercisable for an aggregate of 3,560,541 shares of MCAC common stock at a
weighted-average exercise price of $5.61 and (iii) assumed the obligation to issue shares in respect of terminated Legacy Playboy RSUs for an aggregate of
2,045,634 shares of MCAC common stock to be settled one year following the closing date. In addition, in connection with the consummation of the Business
Combination, MCAC was renamed “PLBY Group, Inc.” and started trading on the Nasdaq on February 11, 2021.

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization whereby MCAC, who is the legal acquirer, was treated as the “acquired”
company for financial reporting purposes and Legacy Playboy was treated as the accounting acquirer. This determination was primarily based on Legacy
Playboy having a majority of the voting power of the post-combination company, Legacy Playboy’s senior management comprising substantially all of the
senior management of the post-combination company, the relative size of Legacy Playboy compared to MCAC, and Legacy Playboy’s operations comprising
the ongoing operations of the post-combination company. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of a
capital transaction in which Legacy Playboy was issued stock for the net assets of MCAC. The net assets of MCAC are stated at historical cost, with no
goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination are those of Legacy Playboy.

Acquisition of TLA

On March 1, 2021, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the equity of TLA Acquisition Corp ("TLA"). for $24.9 million in cash consideration.
TLA is the parent company of the Lovers family of stores, a leading omni-channel online and brick and mortar sexual wellness chain, with 41 stores in five
states (40 stores as of December 31, 2021). The primary drivers for the acquisition were to leverage TLA’s brick-and-mortar presence, e-commerce
capabilities, attractive brand positioning and customer database. TLA’s operating results are consolidated with our results beginning on March 1, 2021.
Therefore, the consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 may not be comparable to the same period in 2020.

Acquisition of Honey Birdette

On June 28, 2021, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire Honey Birdette (Aust) Pty Limited ("Honey Birdette"), a company
organized under the laws of Australia. Aggregate consideration for the acquisition of $327.7 million as of the Contract Date consisted of approximately
$235.0 million in cash (based on an exchange rate of 0.7391 U.S. dollars per Australian dollars) and 2,155,849 shares of Company common stock, valued at
$92.7 million as of the Contract Date, based on a Contract Date per share price of $43.02. Pursuant to the SPA, on August 9, 2021, the Company acquired all
of the capital stock of Honey Birdette. The Closing Date per share price of $26.57 per share of Company common stock resulted in total consideration
transferred of $288.8 million. On August 11, 2021, in connection with the acquisition of Honey Birdette, we amended the New Term Loan (as defined below)
to borrow an additional $70.0 million. On August 19, 2021, an additional 4,412 shares of Company common stock were issued to the Honey Birdette sellers
pursuant to the terms of a true-up under the SPA. The acquisition of the luxury lingerie brand Honey Birdette expands our brand portfolio with a new high-end
franchise, and provides us with product design, sourcing and direct-to-consumer capabilities that we believe can be leveraged to accelerate the growth of our
core apparel and sexual wellness businesses. Honey Birdette’s operating results are consolidated with our results beginning on August 9, 2021. Therefore, the
consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 may not be comparable to the same period in 2020.

Acquisition of GlowUp Digital Inc.

On October 22, 2021, we completed the acquisition of GlowUp Digital Inc. ("GlowUp"), a Delaware corporation, pursuant to that certain Agreement
and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 15, 2021, by and among the Company, PB Global Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, GlowUp and Michael Dow, solely in his capacity as representative of the holders of the outstanding shares of GlowUp’s common
stock and of the holders of the outstanding Simple Agreements for Future Equity ("SAFEs") issued by GlowUp (the "GlowUp Merger"). At the effective time
of the GlowUp Merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub ceased, and GlowUp survived the GlowUp Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company under the name “Centerfold Digital Inc” ("Centerfold").
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At the closing of the GlowUp Merger, in accordance with the terms of the GlowUp Agreement, including certain adjustments to the GlowUp Merger
consideration determined as of the closing, (i) holders of GlowUp’s equity securities that are accredited investors became entitled to receive, in the aggregate,
548,034 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and (ii) holders of GlowUp equity securities that are nonaccredited investors
became entitled to receive, in the aggregate, $342,308 in cash. Pursuant to the GlowUp Agreement, the number of GlowUp Merger consideration shares was
determined based on a price per share of $23.4624, which was the volume weighted average closing price per share of the Company’s common stock on the
Nasdaq Global Market over the 10 consecutive trading day period ending on (and including) the trading day immediately preceding the execution of the
GlowUp Agreement (i.e., October 14, 2021), representing aggregate closing consideration of approximately $13.2 million. In addition, $0.8 million in
transaction expenses were paid by the Company on behalf of the sellers as of closing. Contingent consideration of up to an additional 664,311 shares of our
stock and $0.4 million in cash in the aggregate may be issued or paid (as applicable) to GlowUp’s equity holders upon the release of the portion thereof held
back in respect of indemnification obligations or the satisfaction of performance criteria, as applicable, pursuant to the terms of the GlowUp Agreement. The
fair value of contingent consideration at closing was $18.1 million, $9.2 million of which was classified as equity and $8.9 million was recorded in current
liabilities. The closing date per share price of the Company’s common stock of $27.60 resulted in total consideration transferred valued at $34.4 million at
closing. The acquisition enabled the Company to acquire the technology foundation for the launch of Playboy’s new creator-led social content platform.
Centerfold’s operating results are consolidated with our results beginning on October 22, 2021. Therefore, our consolidated results of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2021 may not be comparable to the same period in 2020.

Debt Refinancing

On May 25, 2021, we entered into a Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “New Credit Agreement”) with Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as the
administrative agent and collateral agent. We obtained a $160 million senior secured term loan (the “New Term Loan”), which was fully funded at the closing
of the transactions contemplated by the New Credit Agreement (the “Refinancing”). The New Term Loan has a final maturity date of May 25, 2027 and will
accrue interest at LIBOR plus 5.75%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.50%. The Refinancing replaced and repaid in full all borrowings under our existing credit
facility for which DBD Credit Funding LLC served as administrative agent and a lender. The existing credit facility consisted of a term loan (as amended, the
“2014 Term Loan”) that was scheduled to expire on December 31, 2023.

We entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2021 (the “First Amendment”), to the New Credit
Agreement, by and among PLBY, Playboy Enterprises, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Acquiom Agency Services
LLC, as the administrative agent and the collateral agent, to, among other things: (a) obtain a $70 million incremental term loan (the “Incremental Term
Loan”), thereby increasing the aggregate principal amount of term loan indebtedness outstanding under the New Credit Agreement to $230 million, and (b)
amend the terms of the New Credit Agreement to, among other things, permit Honey Birdette and certain of its subsidiaries to guaranty the obligations under
the New Credit Agreement.

Aircraft Term Loan

In May 2021, we borrowed $9.0 million under a five-year term loan maturing in May 2026 to fund the purchase of an aircraft. The stated interest rate
was 6.25% as of December 31, 2021. The Aircraft Term Loan requires monthly amortization payments of approximately $0.1 million, commencing on July 1,
2021.

Public Offering

In June 2021, we completed a public offering in which 4,720,000 shares of our common stock were sold at a price of $46 per share. The underwriters
were also granted an option to purchase up to an additional 708,000 shares of our common stock from us at the public offering price, less underwriting
discounts and commissions. Such option expired unexercised. We incurred approximately $13.2 million of underwriting commissions and $1.0 million of
public offering related fees, which were netted against the proceeds. The net proceeds received from the public offering were $202.9 million.

Key Factors and Trends Affecting Our Business

We believe that our performance and future success depends on several factors that present significant opportunities for us but also pose risks and
challenges, including those discussed below.

Expanding the Consumer Products Business through Owned and Operated Products and Channels

We are accelerating our growth in company-owned and branded consumer products in attractive and expanding markets in which we have a proven
history of brand affinity and consumer spend. Additionally, we have acquired and launched our own direct-to-consumer online sales channels, yandy.com,
honeybirdette.com, loversstores.com and pleasureforall.com, in addition to playboy.com, to further accelerate the sales of these products. However, our new
product and new distribution strategies are in their early stages and will take time to fully develop.
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Reduced Reliance on China Licensing Revenues

We have enjoyed substantial success in licensing our trademarks in China where we are a leading men’s apparel brand, and where licensing revenues
have consistently grown year-over-year. However, as a result of this success, the percentage of total net revenue attributable to China licensing had become
48% of our total revenue by the end of 2019. With the acquisition of Yandy in December 2019, TLA in March 2021 and Honey Birdette in August 2021, and
the ramp up of North American consumer product sales, that percentage reduced to 17.7% for the year ended December 31, 2021, despite higher China
licensing revenues, and we expect it will continue to become a smaller percentage of total net revenue in the future as North American consumer product
sales, largely through direct-to-consumer channels, accelerate.

Seasonality of Our Consumer Product Sales Results in Stronger Fourth Quarter Revenues

A combination of online Halloween costume sales and holiday sales toward the end of the year typically result in higher revenues and profit in our
fourth quarter, particularly at Yandy. Historically, October sales of costumes have resulted in significantly higher revenues than in other months but are also
coming under increasing pressure from competition in this category. We expect investment and growth in expanding the consumer products category and
distribution will likely accelerate the strong fourth quarter seasonality of the business in the future.

Attractive Merger and Acquisition Opportunities are Increasing

Building on our successful acquisition and integration of Yandy in late 2019 and TLA in March of 2021, we continue to identify and assess
potentially advantageous merger, acquisition and investment opportunities. On August 9, 2021, pursuant to the SPA, we acquired Honey Birdette. Honey
Birdette is a fast-growing luxury lifestyle brand, which we believe will help accelerate our high-end brand growth in new regions. On October 22, 2021, we
acquired GlowUp Digital Inc. We will continue focusing on potential tuck-in opportunities to complement our organic growth with potential for larger,
strategic mergers and acquisitions initiatives over the long-term. We believe our mergers and acquisitions strategy will be supported by our operating cash
flow and balance sheet flexibility.

COVID-19

In March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. Since that time, we have focused on protecting our
employees, customers and vendors to minimize potential disruptions while managing through this pandemic, including taking the following actions during
2020 and 2021:

• Temporarily closed our offices in Los Angeles, CA and Phoenix, AZ;

• Implemented social distancing measures, required the wearing of masks and increased sanitization practices in our warehousing and fulfillment
facilities, Lovers retail stores and corporate offices;

• Established ongoing work at home accommodations for all office employees, and limited company-related travel;

• Amended our credit facility to defer amortization payments for the quarters ended June 30, 2020 and September 30, 2020, to 2021 and eliminated
excess cash flow (principal) payments during those two quarters;

• Deferred payroll taxes to 2021/2022 under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act of 2020;

• Offered curbside pickup at our Lovers stores;

• Temporarily closed certain Honey Birdette retail stores in Australia subsequent to its acquisition; and

• Required employees at our offices in Los Angeles, CA to be vaccinated before returning to the office.

Nonetheless, the COVID-19 pandemic continues to disrupt and delay global supply chains, affect production and sales across a range of industries
and result in legal restrictions requiring businesses to close and consumers to stay at home for days-to-months at a time. These disruptions have impacted our
business, including by:

• Slowing product development processes and the launch of new products;

• Causing certain products sold by Yandy to be out-of-stock;

• Hindering new licensing and collaboration deals;

• Temporarily closing retail stores of Honey Birdette and certain of our licensees; and

• Closing the London Playboy Club and certain other Playboy-branded live gaming operations.
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As a result of such disruptions, licensing revenues from certain gaming and retail licensees declined in 2020 and 2021, as compared to royalties from
such sources during pre-pandemic periods.

As of the date of this Annual Report, our business as a whole has not suffered any material adverse consequences to date from the COVID-19
pandemic, as negative impacts have thus far been offset by an increase in online direct-to-consumer sales and higher royalties from licensing collaborations in
the United States.

The extent of the impact of COVID-19 on our future operational and financial performance will depend on certain developments, including the
further duration and spread of the outbreak and its impact on employees and vendors, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. As of the date of
these consolidated financial statements, the full extent to which COVID-19 may impact our future financial condition or results of operations is uncertain.

How We Assess the Performance of Our Business

In assessing the performance of our business, we consider a variety of performance and financial measures. The key indicators of the financial
condition and operating performance of the business are revenues, salaries and benefits, and selling and administrative expenses. To help assess performance
with these key indicators, we use Adjusted EBITDA as a non-GAAP financial measure. We believe this non-GAAP measure provides useful information to
investors and expanded insight to measure revenue and cost performance as a supplement to the GAAP consolidated financial statements. See the “EBITDA
and Adjusted EBITDA” section below for reconciliations of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the closest GAAP measure.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

We generate revenue from trademark licenses for third-party consumer products, online gaming and location-based entertainment businesses, sales of
our tokenized digital art and collectibles, and sales of creator offerings to consumers on centerfold.com, our creator-led platform launched in December 2021,
in addition to sales of consumer products sold through third-party retailers or online direct-to-customer and from the subscription of our programming which
is distributed through various channels, including websites and domestic and international television.

Trademark Licensing

We license trademarks under multi-year arrangements to consumer products, online gaming and location-based entertainment businesses. Typically,
the initial contract term ranges between one to ten years. Renewals are separately negotiated through amendments. Under these arrangements, we generally
receive an annual non-refundable minimum guarantee that is recoupable against a sales-based royalty generated during the license year. Earned royalties
received in excess of the minimum guarantee (“Excess Royalties”) are typically payable quarterly. We recognize revenue for the total minimum guarantee
specified in the agreement on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement and recognizes Excess Royalties only when the annual minimum guarantee
is exceeded. Generally, Excess Royalties are recognized when they are earned.

Consumer Products

Revenue from sales of online apparel and accessories, including sales through third-party sellers, is recognized upon delivery of the goods to the
customer. Revenue is recognized net of incentives and estimated returns. We periodically offer promotional incentives to customers, which include basket
promotional code discounts and other credits, which are recorded as a reduction of revenue.

Magazine and Digital Subscriptions

Digital subscription revenue is derived from subscription sales of playboyplus.com and playboy.tv, which are online content platforms. We receive
fixed consideration shortly before the start of the subscription periods from these contracts, which are primarily sold in monthly, annual, or lifetime
subscriptions. Revenues from lifetime subscriptions are recognized ratably over a five-year period, representing the estimated period during which the
customer accesses the platforms. Revenues from Playboy magazine and digital subscriptions are recognized ratably over the subscription period. We
discontinued publishing Playboy magazine in the first quarter of 2020.

Revenues generated from the sales of creator offerings to consumers on centerfold.com, our creator-led platform launched in December 2021, are
recognized at the point in time when the sale is processed. Revenues generated from centerfold.com subscriptions are recognized ratably over the subscription
period.

Revenue from sales of our tokenized digital art and collectibles is recognized at the point in time when the sale is processed.
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TV and Cable Programming

We license programming content to certain cable television operators and direct-to-home satellite television operators who pay royalties based on
monthly subscriber counts and pay-per-view and video-on-demand buys for the right to distribute our programming under the terms of affiliation agreements.
Royalties are generally collected monthly and recognized as revenue as earned.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily consist of merchandise costs, warehousing and fulfillment, agency fees, personnel and editorial content costs for Playboy
magazine (through March 31, 2020), websites, and Playboy Television, branding events and paper, printing, postage and freight costs associated with Playboy
magazine (through March 31, 2020).

Selling and Administrative

Selling and administrative expenses primarily consist of corporate office and retail store occupancy costs, personnel costs including stock-based
compensation, and contractor fees for accounting/finance, legal, human resources, information technology and other administrative functions, general
marketing and promotional activities and insurance.

Related Party Expenses

Related party expenses consist of management fees paid to an affiliate of one of our stockholders for management and consulting services.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily consist of impairment of digital assets recognized in the fourth quarter of 2021.

Nonoperating (Expense) Income

Investment Income

Investment income primarily consists of interest received on our cash and cash equivalents.

Interest expense

Interest expense consists of interest on our long-term debt and the amortization of deferred financing costs.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

On May 25, 2021, we completed a refinancing of our term loan. As a result, in the second quarter of 2021, we recorded a loss on extinguishment of
debt of approximately $1.2 million, which is comprised of $1.0 million of fees expensed as incurred in connection with the refinancing, as well as the write-
off of $0.2 million of unamortized debt discount and deferred financing fees as a result of such refinancing.

Other, Net

Other, net consists primarily of other miscellaneous nonoperating items, such as bank charges and foreign exchange gains or losses as well as non-
recurring transaction fees.

The provision for income taxes consists of an estimate for U.S. federal, state, and foreign income taxes based on enacted rates, as adjusted for
allowable credits, deductions, uncertain tax positions, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities, and changes in the tax law. Due to cumulative losses, we
maintain a valuation allowance against the definite-lived U.S. federal and state deferred tax assets.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

The following table summarizes key components of Playboy’s results of operations for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 
Year Ended

December 31,   
 2021 2020  $ Change  % Change
Net revenues $ 246,586 $ 147,662  $ 98,924  67 %
Costs and expenses:   

Cost of sales (114,161) (74,384)  (39,777)  53 %
Selling and administrative expenses (200,063) (58,659)  (141,404)  241 %
Related party expenses (250) (1,007)  757  (75)%
Other operating expenses (964) — (964) *

Total costs and expenses (315,438) (134,050) (181,388) 135 %
Operating (loss) income (68,852) 13,612  (82,464)  *
Nonoperating (expense) income:    

Interest expense (13,312) (13,463)  151  (1)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt (1,217) — (1,217) *
Gain from settlement of convertible note 700 1,454 (754) (52)%
Other income, net 2,226 198  2,028  *

Total nonoperating expense (11,603) (11,811) 208  (2)%
(Loss) income before income taxes (80,455) 1,801  (82,256)  *
Benefit (expense) from income taxes 2,779 (7,072)  9,851  (139)%
Net loss (77,676) (5,271) (72,405)  *

Net loss attributable to PLBY Group, Inc. $ (77,676) $ (5,271) $ (72,405)  *

* Not meaningful
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The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 31,

2021 2020
Net revenues 100 % 100 
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales (46.3) (50.4)
Selling and administrative expenses (81.1) (39.7)
Related party expenses (0.1) (0.7)
Other operating expenses (0.4) — 

Total costs and expenses (127.9) (90.8)
Operating (loss) income (27.9) 9.2 
Nonoperating (expense) income:

Interest expense (5.4) (9.1)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (0.5) — 
Gain from settlement of convertible note 0.3 1.0 
Other income, net 0.9 0.1 

Total nonoperating expense (4.7) (8.0)
(Loss) income before income taxes (32.6) 1.2 
Benefit (expense) from income taxes 1.1 (4.8)
Net loss (31.5) (3.6)

Net (loss) income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest — — 

Net loss attributable to PLBY Group, Inc. (31.5) % (3.6)

Net Revenues

Net revenues increased by $98.9 million, or 67%, due to higher direct-to-consumer revenue of $83.7 million primarily from the acquisition of TLA
and Honey Birdette, and the continued growth of direct-to-consumer revenue on Playboy.com.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales increased by $39.8 million, or 53%, primarily due to increased direct-to-consumer revenue and the amortization of TLA and Honey
Birdette inventory step-ups resulting from purchase accounting.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $141.4 million, or 241%, due to higher stock-based compensation expense, increased direct-to-
consumer costs primarily as a result of the acquisition of TLA and Honey Birdette, acquisition related costs and expenses associated with being a newly
public company.

Related Party Expenses

Related party expenses decreased by $0.8 million, or 75% due to termination of our management agreement with an affiliate of one of our
stockholders for management and consulting services in the first quarter of 2021 upon consummation of the Business Combination.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses increased by $1.0 million, or 100% due to impairment of digital assets recognized in the fourth quarter of 2021.

Nonoperating (Expense) Income

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by $0.2 million, or 1%, primarily due to a lower interest rate obtained pursuant to the Refinancing.
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Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt increased by $1.2 million, due to the Refinancing.

Gain from Settlement of Convertible Note

Gain from settlement of convertible promissory note was $0.7 million and $1.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, due to the settlement of the convertible promissory notes payable to United Talent Agency and GBG International Holding Company Limited at
a 20% discount, respectively.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income, net increased by $2.0 million, primarily due to income recognized from litigation settlements.

Benefit (expense) from Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes decreased from $7.1 million of tax expense during 2020 to $2.8 million of tax benefit during 2021. The change was
primarily due to the offset of deferred tax liabilities on indefinite-lived intangibles by indefinite-lived net operating losses generated in 2021, and deferred tax
liabilities assumed in connection with the acquisition of Honey Birdette and GlowUp, resulting in the release of valuation allowance. There was also an
increase in the foreign income tax expense related to Honey Birdette’s foreign operations.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP measure is useful in evaluating our operational
performance. We use the following non-GAAP financial information to evaluate our ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes.
We believe that non-GAAP financial information, when taken collectively, may be helpful to investors in assessing our operating performance.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

“EBITDA” is defined as net income or loss before interest, income tax expense or benefit, and depreciation and amortization. “Adjusted EBITDA” is
defined as EBITDA adjusted for stock-based compensation and other special items determined by management. Adjusted EBITDA is intended as a
supplemental measure of our performance that is neither required by, nor presented in accordance with, GAAP. We believe that the use of EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA provides an additional tool for investors to use in evaluating ongoing operating results and trends and in comparing our financial measures
with those of comparable companies, which may present similar non-GAAP financial measures to investors. However, investors should be aware that when
evaluating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, we may incur future expenses similar to those excluded when calculating these measures. In addition, our
presentation of these measures should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or nonrecurring items. Our
computation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures computed by other companies, because all companies may not
calculate Adjusted EBITDA in the same fashion.

In addition to adjusting for non-cash stock-based compensation, we typically adjust for nonoperating expenses and income, such as management fees
paid to our largest stockholder, merger related bonus payments, non-recurring special projects including the implementation of internal controls, non-cash
charges for the remeasurement of the fair value of contingent consideration resulting from our acquisitions, expenses associated with financing activities,
acquisition related inventory step-up amortization and costs, the expense associated with digital asset impairment, reorganization and severance resulting in
the elimination or rightsizing of specific business activities or operations as we transform from a print and digital media business to a commerce centric
business.

The following table reconciles net loss to EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA (in thousands):
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 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020
Net loss $ (77,676) $ (5,271)
Adjusted for:
Interest expense 13,312 13,463 
Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,217 — 
Benefit (expense) from income taxes (2,779) 7,072 
Depreciation and amortization 7,291 2,259 
EBITDA (58,635) 17,523 
Adjusted for:   

Stock-based compensation 58,446 2,988 
Reduction in force expenses — 3,165 
Adjustments 9,413 1,880 
Amortization of inventory step-up 8,089 3,230 
Contingent consideration fair value remeasurement 2,369 — 
Digital assets impairment 964 — 
Management fees and expenses 250 1,007 
Nonoperating expenses — (1,299)
Acquisition related costs 11,549 (109)

Adjusted EBITDA $ 32,445 $ 28,385 

• Adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2021 are primarily related to bonus payments in connection with the Business Combination, as well as
consulting, advisory and other costs relating to other costs related to special projects, including, the implementation of internal controls over financial
reporting, and executive search costs.

• Amortization of inventory valuation step-up adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2021 relates to amortization of a non-cash inventory
valuation step-up as part of the purchase accounting resulting from the acquisition of TLA and Honey Birdette.

• Contingent consideration fair value remeasurement for the year ended December 31, 2021 relates to non-cash charges for the remeasurement of the
fair value of contingent consideration resulting from the acquisition of Honey Birdette and GlowUp.

• Digital assets impairment for the year ended December 31, 2021 relates to impairment of digital assets recognized in the fourth quarter of 2021.

• Acquisition related costs for the year ended December 31, 2021 include consulting and advisory costs related to acquisition activities.

• Reduction in force-related expense adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2020 include severance expense related to lay-offs associated with a
reorganization of the television and digital subscription businesses, as part of an overall rightsizing and consolidation of those activities as the
business transforms from a print and digital media business to primarily a commerce business.

• Adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2020 represent consulting support related to the Business Combination.

• Amortization of inventory valuation step-up adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2020 relates to amortization of a non-cash inventory
valuation step-up as part of the purchase accounting resulting from the acquisition of Yandy.

• Management fees and expenses adjustments for both periods represent fees paid to one of our stockholders.

• Nonoperating expense adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2020 include investment income and other miscellaneous items.
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Segments

Our Chief Executive Officer is our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). Our segment disclosure is based on its intention to provide the users
of our consolidated financial statements with a view of the business from our perspective. We operate our business in three primary operating and reportable
segments: Licensing, Direct-to-Consumer, and Digital Subscriptions and Content. Licensing operations include the licensing of one or more of our trademarks
and/or images for consumer products and location-based entertainment businesses. Direct-to-Consumer operations include consumer products sold through
third-party retailers or online direct-to-customer. Digital Subscriptions and Content operations include the licensing of one or more of our trademarks and/or
images for online gaming and the production, marketing and sales of programming under the Playboy brand name, which is distributed through various
channels, including domestic and international television and sales of tokenized digital art and collectibles.

The following are our results of financial performance by segment for each of the years presented (in thousands):

 Year Ended
December 31,

 2021 2020
Net revenues    
Licensing $ 64,021 $ 61,142 
Direct-to-consumer 147,848 64,116 
Digital subscriptions and content 33,756 20,913 
All other 961 1,491 
Total $ 246,586 $ 147,662 
 
Operating (loss) income
Licensing 47,477 44,466 
Direct-to-consumer (2,836) (752)
Digital subscriptions and content 7,882 9,478 
Corporate (121,955) (38,462)
All other 580 (1,118)
Total $ (68,852) $ 13,612 

Licensing

Net revenues increased by $2.9 million, or 5%, during 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to higher royalties from licensing collaborations in the
U.S.

Operating income increased by $3.0 million, or 7%, during 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to increased revenues.

Direct-to-Consumer

Net revenues increased by $83.7 million, or 131%, during 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to revenue from the acquisition of TLA in the first
quarter of 2021 and revenue from the acquisition of Honey Birdette in the third quarter of 2021, combined with higher e-commerce revenues.

Operating loss increased by $2.1 million, or 277%, during 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to increased direct-to-consumer expenses and
higher amortization of the inventory valuation step-up from purchase accounting related to the Honey Birdette and TLA acquisitions.

Digital Subscriptions and Content

Net revenues increased by $12.8 million, or 61%, during 2021 compared to 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to increased revenue from
sales of our tokenized digital art and collectibles.

Operating income decreased by $1.6 million, or 17%, during 2021 compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the expenses related to the
launch of Centerfold.
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All Other

Net revenues decreased by $0.5 million, or 36%, during 2021 compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily due to the cessation of publishing the
magazine in the first quarter of 2020 and production revenue in the second quarter of 2020, partly offset by the recognized revenues related to the fulfillment
of magazine subscription obligations in 2021.

Operating income increased by $1.7 million, or 152%, during 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to lower operating and severance costs related
to the cessation of publishing the magazine in the first quarter of 2020 and recognized revenue related to the fulfillment of magazine subscription obligations
in 2021.

Corporate

Corporate expenses increased by $83.5 million, or 217%, during 2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to increased stock-based compensation,
acquisition related costs, expenses related to the Business Combination and costs associated with our transition to a public company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

Our main source of liquidity is cash generated from operating and financing activities, which primarily includes cash derived from revenue
generating activities, in addition to proceeds from our recent public offering and issuance of debt, including term loans.

In June 2021, we completed a public offering in which 4,720,000 shares of our common stock were sold at a price of $46 per share. The underwriters
were also granted an option to purchase up to an additional 708,000 shares of our common stock from us at the public offering price, less underwriting
discounts and commissions. Such option expired unexercised. We incurred approximately $13.2 million of underwriting commissions and $1.0 million of
public offering related fees, which were netted against the proceeds. The net proceeds received from the public offering were $202.9 million.

As of December 31, 2021, our principal source of liquidity was our cash in the amount of $69.2 million which is primarily held in operating and
deposit accounts. Although consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting economic uncertainty could adversely affect our liquidity and capital
resources in the future, and cash requirements may fluctuate based on the timing and extent of many factors, such as those discussed above, we believe our
existing sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund our operations, including lease obligations, debt service requirements, capital expenditures and working
capital obligations for at least the next 12 months from the filing of this Annual Report. We may seek additional equity or debt financing in the future to
satisfy capital requirements, respond to adverse developments such as the COVID-19 pandemic, changes in our circumstances or unforeseen events or
conditions, or fund organic or inorganic growth opportunities. In the event that additional financing is required from third-party sources, we may not be able to
raise it on acceptable terms or at all.

Debt

2014 Term Loan

In June 2014, we borrowed $150.0 million under a four-and-one-half-year term loan maturing on December 31, 2018, at an effective rate of 7.0%
from DBD Credit Funding LLC pursuant to a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). In December 2019, the term loan was amended to borrow an
additional $12.0 million. Our debt bore interest at a rate per annum equal to the Eurodollar Rate for the interest period in effect plus the applicable margin in
effect from time to time. The Eurodollar Rate is the greater of (a) an interest rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next 1/100th of 1%)
determined by the administrative agent divided by 1 minus the statutory reserves (if any) and (b) 1.25% per annum. From 2016 to 2020, the term loan was
amended multiple times to increase the commitment amount, extend the maturity date to December 31, 2023, set up a debt reserve account and excess cash
account, and to revise the quarterly principal payments and applicable margin rates, among other amendments.

In March 2020, the term loan was amended to establish new quarterly principal payment amounts among other amendments. The amendment was
assessed and was accounted for as a modification. We incurred additional financing costs of $0.1 million related to this amendment that were capitalized.

In January 2021, the term loan was amended to defer the excess cash flow payment due in January 2021 to April 2021 among other amendments.
The terms of the modified term loan were not considered substantially different and the amendment was accounted for as a modification. On May 25, 2021,
the Credit Agreement was repaid in full and terminated upon completion of the refinancing described below.
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New Term Loan

On May 25, 2021, we borrowed $160.0 million under a term loan maturing on May 25, 2027 (the “New Term Loan”), at an effective rate of LIBOR
plus 5.75%, with a LIBOR floor of 0.50%. The New Term Loan replaced the 2014 Term Loan. The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the New Term
Loan may subsequently be adjusted on periodic measurement dates provided for under the New Credit Agreement based on the type of loans borrowed by us
and our total leverage ratio at such time. At our option, we may borrow loans which accrue interest at (i) a base rate (with a floor of 1.50%) or (ii) at LIBOR,
in each case plus an applicable per annum margin. The per annum applicable margin for base rate loans is 4.25% or 4.75%, with the lower rate applying when
the total leverage ratio as of the applicable measurement date is 3.00 to 1.00 or less, and the per annum applicable margin for LIBOR loans is 5.25% or 5.75%,
with the lower rate applying when the total leverage ratio as of the applicable measurement date is 3.00 to 1.00 or less. The New Term Loan requires quarterly
amortization payments of $0.4 million, commencing on September 30, 2021, with the balance becoming due at maturity. The interest rate on the New Term
Loan was 6.25% as of December 31, 2021.

Our obligations pursuant to the New Credit Agreement are guaranteed by us and any of our current and future wholly-owned, domestic subsidiaries,
subject to certain exceptions. In connection with the New Credit Agreement, the Company and the other guarantor subsidiaries of the Company entered into a
Pledge and Security Agreement with the collateral agent, pursuant to which we granted a senior security interest to the agent in substantially all of our assets
(including the stock of certain of our subsidiaries) in order to secure our obligations under the New Credit Agreement.

We entered into Amendment No. 1 to the New Credit Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2021, by and among PLBY, Playboy Enterprises, Inc., the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as the administrative agent and the collateral agent, to,
among other things: (a) obtain a $70 million incremental term loan, thereby increasing the aggregate principal amount of term loan indebtedness outstanding
under the New Credit Agreement to $230 million, and (b) amend the terms of the New Credit Agreement to, among other things, permit Honey Birdette and
certain of its subsidiaries to guaranty the obligations under the New Credit Agreement.

The Incremental Term Loan was incurred on materially the same terms as the New Term Loan. The New Credit Agreement, as amended by the First
Amendment, requires quarterly amortization payments of $0.6 million, commencing on September 30, 2021. The Incremental Term Loan, together with cash
on hand, was used to finance the acquisition of Honey Birdette and to pay fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Incremental Term Loan and such
acquisition.

As was the case with the 2014 Credit Agreement, the terms of the New Credit Agreement limit or prohibit, among other things, our ability to: incur
liens, incur additional indebtedness, make investments, transfer, sell or acquire assets, pay dividends and change the business we conduct. Acquiom Agency
Services LLC has a lien on all our assets as stated in the New Credit Agreement. The New Credit Agreement contains a financial covenant which requires the
Company to maintain a maximum total gross leverage ratio (calculated as a ratio of consolidated gross funded debt to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the
New Credit Agreement), in accordance with the terms of the New Credit Agreement). The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the
New Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2021.

Aircraft Term Loan

In May 2021, we borrowed $9.0 million under a five-year term loan maturing in May 2026 to fund the purchase of an aircraft. The stated interest rate
was 6.25% as of September 30, 2021. The Aircraft Term Loan requires monthly amortization payments of approximately $0.1 million, commencing on July 1,
2021. We incurred $0.1 million of financing costs related to the Aircraft Term Loan as of December 31, 2021, which were capitalized.

Promissory Notes — Creative Artists Agency and Global Brands Group

In August 2018, a convertible promissory note was issued to CAA Brand Management, LLC (“CAA”) for $2.7 million and a convertible promissory
note was issued to GBG International Holding Company Limited (“GBG”) for $7.3 million. These notes were non-interest bearing and were convertible into
shares of our common stock no later than October 31, 2020, which was extended to December 31, 2020. The terms of these notes were subject to negotiation
in December 2020, and in December 2020, we settled the outstanding GBG note at a 20% discount for $5.8 million, resulting in a gain from settlement of
$1.5 million. In January 2021, the outstanding note with CAA was converted into 51,857 shares of Legacy Playboy’s common stock, which was exchanged
for 290,563 shares of our common stock upon the closing of the Business Combination in February 2021.

Convertible Promissory Notes — United Talent Agency

In March and June 2018, we issued convertible promissory notes to UTA for an aggregate principal amount of $3.5 million. These notes were non-
interest bearing and were convertible into shares of our common stock no later than October 31, 2020, which was extended to December 31, 2020. In January
2021, the settlement terms of the outstanding notes were amended to extend the term to the one-month anniversary of the termination or expiration of the
Merger Agreement. In February 2021, we repaid the outstanding principal balance of the notes at a 20% discount resulting in a gain on settlement of $0.7
million.

52



Leases

Our principal lease commitments are for office space and operations under several noncancelable operating leases with contractual terms expiring
from 2021 to 2031. Some of these leases contain renewal options and rent escalations. As of December 31, 2021, our fixed lease were $25.4 million of which
$3.4 million are due in the next 12 months. For further information on our lease obligations, refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 Year Ended
December 31,

 2021 2020
Net cash provided by (used in):    
Operating activities $ (36,742) $ 813 
Investing activities $ (273,176) $ (5,470)
Financing activities $ 370,474 $ (8,490)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $36.7 million, including a net loss of $77.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. Net loss was
adjusted for non-cash charges of $70.2 million, primarily attributable to stock-based compensation expense of $58.4 million, loss on extinguishment of debt of
$1.2 million, $7.3 million of depreciation and amortization expense and $6.5 million of amortization of right of use assets, partially offset by deferred income
taxes of $6.7 million. Other changes in assets and liabilities represent items that had a current period cash flow impact, such as changes in working capital.
Net cash outflows from changes in working capital of $29.3 million were primarily associated with an increase in contract assets, receivables, inventories and
in prepaid expenses and other assets, and a decrease in operating lease liabilities and accrued salaries, wages, and employee benefits, offset by an increase in
accounts payable largely associated with infrastructure development costs incurred as part of our transition to a public company.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $0.8 million, including a net loss of $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. Net loss was
adjusted for non-cash charges of $7.6 million, primarily attributable to stock-based compensation expense of $3.0 million and $2.3 million of depreciation and
amortization expense. Other changes in assets and liabilities represent items that had a current period cash flow impact, such as changes in working capital.
Net cash outflows from changes in working capital of $1.5 million were primarily associated with an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, a decrease
in other liabilities and accrued expenses, offset by an increase in deferred revenues.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $273.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was primarily due to the acquisition of TLA
and Honey Birdette as well as purchase of an aircraft.

Net cash used in investing activities was $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, which was primarily due to the purchase of shares of
MCAC’s common stock in connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $370.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which was primarily due to net proceeds from
our June 2021 public offering, as well as issuance of long-term debt, net cash acquired from the Business Combination and PIPE Investment, partially offset
by the repayment of borrowings and the payment of financing costs.

Net cash used in financing activities was $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, which was primarily due to the repayment of
borrowings.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of
the financial statements, as well as the reported expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Estimates and judgments used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements are, by their nature, uncertain and unpredictable, and depend upon, among other things, many factors outside of our control,
such as demand for our products, economic conditions and other current and future events, such as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our estimates are
based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are described in the notes to our consolidated financial statements, we believe that the accounting policies
below are most critical to understanding our financial condition and historical and future results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when we transfer promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. This is determined by following a five-step process which includes (1) identifying the contract with a customer, (2)
identifying the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determining the transaction price, (4) allocating the transaction price, and (5) recognizing revenue
when or as we satisfy a performance obligation. We apply judgment to determine the nature of the promises within a revenue contract and whether those
promises represent distinct performance obligations. In determining the transaction price, we do not include amounts subject to uncertainties unless it is
probable that there will be no significant reversal of cumulative revenue when the uncertainty is resolved. We evaluate the nature of the license as to whether
it provides a right to access or right to use the intellectual property (“IP”), which then determines whether the revenue is recognized over time or at a point in
time. Sales or usage-based royalties received in exchange for licenses of IP are recognized at the later of when (1) the subsequent sale or usage occurs or (2)
the performance obligation to which some or all of the sales or usage-based royalty has been allocated is satisfied.

Trademark Licensing

We license trademarks under multi-year arrangements with consumer products, online gaming and location-based entertainment businesses.
Typically, the initial contract term ranges between one to ten years. Renewals are separately negotiated through amendments. Under these arrangements, we
generally receive an annual nonrefundable minimum guarantee that is recoupable against a sales-based royalty generated during the license year. Annual
minimum guarantee amounts are billed quarterly, semi-annually, or annually in advance and these payments do not include a significant financing component.
Excess royalties are payable quarterly. The performance obligation is a license of symbolic IP that provides the customer with a right to access the IP, which
represents a stand-ready obligation that is satisfied over time. We recognize revenue for the total minimum guarantee specified in the agreement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the agreement and recognize Excess Royalties only when the annual minimum guarantee is exceeded. Generally, Excess Royalties
are recognized when they are earned. As the sales reports from licensees are typically not received until after the close of the reporting period, we follow the
variable consideration framework and constraint guidance to estimate the underlying sales volume to recognize Excess Royalties based on historical
experience and general economic trends. Historical adjustments to recorded estimates have not been material.

Consumer Products

We generate revenue from the sale of intimate and other apparel, Halloween costumes and accessories, primarily through our direct-to-consumer
channels (e-commerce sites and brick-and-mortar retail stores). We recognize e-commerce revenue upon delivery of the purchased goods to the buyers as our
performance obligation, consisting of the sale of goods, is satisfied at this point in time when control is transferred. We recognize retail store revenue at a
point in time when a store satisfies a performance obligation and transfers control of the product to the customer. Our revenues are recognized net of
incentives and estimated returns. We periodically offer promotional incentives to customers, including basket promotional code discounts and other credits,
that are treated as a reduction of revenue.

A portion of consumer product sales is generated through third-party sellers, who list the product on their websites. These sales are either fulfilled by
us or through the third-party seller’s fulfillment services. We recognize the fees retained by the third-party sellers as expenses in cost of sales for inventory
provided through drop-shipment arrangements.

We charge shipping fees to customers. Since control transfers to the customer after the shipping and handling activities, we account for these activities
as fulfillment activities. All outbound shipping and handling costs are accounted for as fulfillment costs in cost of sales at the time revenue is recognized.
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Magazine and Digital Subscriptions

Digital subscription revenue is derived from subscription sales of PlayboyPlus.com and Playboy.tv, which are online content platforms. Digital
subscriptions represent a stand-ready obligation to provide continuous access to the platform, which is satisfied ratably over the term of the subscription. We
receive fixed consideration shortly before the start of the subscription periods from these contracts, which are primarily sold in monthly, annual, or lifetime
subscriptions. Revenues from lifetime subscriptions are recognized ratably over a five-year period, representing the estimated period during which the
customer accesses the platforms. Revenues from Playboy magazine and digital subscriptions are recognized ratably over the subscription period. We
discontinued publishing Playboy magazine in the first quarter of 2020.

Revenues generated from the sales of creator offerings to consumers on centerfold.com, our creator-led platform launched in December 2021, are
recognized at the point in time when the sale is processed. Revenues generated from centerfold.com subscriptions are recognized ratably over the subscription
period.

Tokenized Digital Art and Collectibles

We record revenue from sales of our tokenized digital art and collectibles at the point in time when the sale is processed on a gross basis. We are
primarily responsible for fulfillment of the promise, have inventory risk, and have the latitude in establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other
factors. We determined that we are the principal in these transactions as we have custody and control of our digital assets prior to the sale to the customer, and
discretion and latitude in establishing the price.

TV and Cable Programming

We license our programming content to certain cable television operators and direct-to-home satellite television operators who pay royalties based on
monthly subscriber counts and pay-per-view and video-on-demand buys for the right to distribute our programming under the terms of affiliation agreements.
The distinct performance obligations under such affiliation agreements include (i) a continuous transmission service to deliver live linear feeds and (ii)
licenses to our functional IP that are provided over the contract term that provide the operators the right to use our content library as it exists at a point in time.
For both performance obligations, our IP is the predominant or sole item to which the royalties relate. Royalties are generally collected monthly and revenue
is recognized as earned. The amount of royalties due to us is reported by operators based on actual subscriber and transaction levels. Such information is
generally not received until after the close of the reporting period. In these cases, we follow the variable consideration framework and constraint guidance to
estimate the number of subscribers and transactions to recognize royalty amounts based on historical experience. Historical adjustments to recorded estimates
have not been material. We offer sales incentives through various programs, consisting primarily of co-op marketing. We record advertising with customers as
a reduction to revenue unless we receive a distinct benefit in exchange for credits claimed by the customer and can reasonably estimate the fair value of the
distinct benefit received, in which case we record it as a marketing expense.

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record a receivable when we have an unconditional right
to consideration which will become due solely due to the passage of time. We record a contract asset when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing or
payment is contingent upon transfer of control of an unsatisfied performance obligation. We record a contract liability (deferred revenue) when revenue is
recognized subsequent to cash collection. For long-term non-cancelable contracts whereby we have begun satisfying the performance obligation, we will
record contract assets for the unbilled consideration which is contingent upon our future performance. Contract assets and contract liabilities are netted on a
contract-by-contract basis.

Unredeemed Site Credits

Site credits consist of gift cards issued and credits for returned merchandise. Revenue from the issuance of site credits is recognized when the site
credit is redeemed by the customer. We also recognize revenue for the breakage related to unredeemed site credits.

Practical Expedients

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type; however, our terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 days if not paid in
advance. We elected the practical expedient to not assess whether a significant financing component exists if the period between when we transfer a promised
good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service is one year or less.

Additionally, we have applied the practical expedient to not capitalize incremental costs of obtaining a contract if the amortization would be less than
12 months.
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Sales Taxes

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to various governmental authorities are excluded from the measurement of the transaction price
and presented on a net basis in our consolidated statements of operations.

Business Combinations, Goodwill and Acquired Intangible Assets, Net

We allocate the consideration transferred to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess
of the consideration transferred over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The excess of fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the consideration transferred is recorded as a gain in the consolidated statement of operations. Such valuations require
management to make significant estimates and assumptions. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but
which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is one year
from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the
conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.

We perform annual impairment test on goodwill in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or when events occur or circumstances change that would,
more likely than not, reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We may first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, an impairment test is unnecessary. If an impairment test is necessary, we will estimate the fair value of a
related reporting unit. Based on the annual impairment test, we determined there were no impairment charges to goodwill to be recognized during the periods
presented.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The carrying amounts of long-lived assets, including property and equipment, stores, acquired intangible assets and right-of-use operating lease
assets are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be
recoverable or that the useful life is shorter than originally estimated. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amounts to
the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate over its remaining life. If such review indicates that the carrying amount of intangible
assets is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to the fair value.

If the useful life is shorter than originally estimated, we amortize the remaining carrying value over the revised shorter useful life. If the asset is
considered to be impaired, the amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. For
the periods presented, we had recorded no impairment charges of long-lived assets.

Inventory

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods and are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”)
method.

Digital Assets

Digital assets, including non-fungible tokens and cryptocurrencies, are included in indefinite-lived intangible assets in the consolidated balance
sheets. We have ownership of and control over our digital assets and may use third party custodial services to secure them. Digital assets are initially recorded
at cost and are subsequently remeasured at cost, net of any impairment losses on our consolidated balance sheets. We assign costs to digital asset transactions
on a first-in, first-out basis. Gains or losses are not recorded until realized upon sale(s).

We determine the fair value of our digital assets on a nonrecurring basis, based on quoted prices on the active exchange(s) that we have determined is
the principal market for such assets (Level 1 inputs). We perform a quarterly, or more frequent. review to identify whether events or changes in circumstances,
principally decreases in the quoted prices on active exchanges on any day during the quarter, indicate that it is more likely than not that our digital assets are
impaired. The cost basis of digital assets will not be adjusted upward for subsequent increases in fair value. Such impairment in the value of digital assets is
recorded as a component of other operating expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. We recorded an impairment loss of approximately $1.0
million related to digital assets during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Stock-Based Compensation

We measure compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards, including stock options, restricted stock units and performance stock units
granted to employees, directors, and nonemployees, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. Compensation expense is recognized
ratably in earnings, generally over the period during which the recipient is required to provide service. We adjust compensation expense based on actual
forfeitures, as necessary.

Our stock options vest ratably over the contractual vesting period, which is generally three to four years, and the fair value of the awards is estimated
on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Our restricted stock units vest ratably over the contractual vesting period and the fair value of
the awards is estimated on the date of grant as the underlying value of the award. Awards with graded vesting features are recognized over the requisite
service period for the entire award. Our performance-based restricted stock units ("PSUs") vest upon achieving each of certain PLBY's stock price milestones
during the contractual vesting period. For milestones that have not been achieved, such PSUs vest over the derived requisite service period and the fair value
of such awards is estimated on the grant date using Monte Carlo simulations. The determination of the grant date fair value of PSUs issued is affected by a
number of variables and subjective assumptions, including (i) the fair value of PLBY’s common stock, (ii) the expected common stock price volatility over
the expected life of the award, (iii) the expected term of the award, (iv) risk-free interest rates, (v) the exercise price, and (vi) the expected dividend yield.
Forfeitures are recognized when they occur.

Income Taxes

We record income taxes under the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases, and attributable to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if,
based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the need to establish valuation allowances for
deferred tax assets is assessed periodically based on the more-likely-than-not realization threshold. This assessment considers, among other matters, the
nature, frequency, and severity of current and cumulative losses, the duration of statutory carryforward periods, and tax planning alternatives. Playboy uses a
two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals and
litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the largest amount of tax benefit as the largest amount that is more likely than not to be realized
upon settlement. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about
recent accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and our assessment, to the extent we have made one, of their potential impact on our financial
condition and results of operations.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We may be exposed to a variety of market and other risks, including the effects of changes in interest rates, inflation, and foreign currency exchange
rates, as well as risks to the availability of funding sources, hazard events, and specific asset risks. We do not hold or issue financial instruments for trading
purposes.

Set forth below are the market risks applicable to our business for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Interest Rate Risk

The market risk inherent in our financial instruments and our financial position represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in interest
rates. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had cash of $69.2 million and $13.4 million, respectively, and restricted cash and cash equivalents of $6.2
million and $2.1 million, respectively, primarily consisting of interest-bearing deposit accounts for which the fair market value would be affected by changes
in the general level of U.S. interest rates. However, an immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our
cash and restricted cash and cash equivalents.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had outstanding debt obligations of $237.4 million and $165.3 million, respectively, which accrued interest
at a rate of 6.25% and 8.25% as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively. A hypothetical 10% change in the interest rate on our debt for all
periods presented would not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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Credit Risk

At various times throughout the year, we maintained cash balances in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. We have not
experienced any losses in such accounts and do not believe that there is any credit risk to our cash. Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts
receivable is limited due to the wide variety of customers to whom our products are sold and/or licensed. We had a licensee that accounted for approximately
9% and 15% of our net revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk

We transact business in various foreign currencies and have significant international revenues, as well as costs denominated in foreign currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, primarily the Australian dollar. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. dollar, have in
the past, and may in the future, negatively affect our revenue and other operating results as expressed in U.S. dollars. For the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, we derived approximately 38% and 48% of our revenue from international customers, respectively, and we expect the percentage of revenue
derived from outside the United States to increase in future periods as we continue to expand globally. Revenue and related expenses generated from our
international operations are denominated in the functional currencies of the corresponding country. The functional currency of our subsidiaries that either
operate in or support these markets is generally the same as the corresponding local currency. The results of operations of, and certain of our intercompany
balances associated with, our international operations are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuations. Upon consolidation, as exchange rates vary, our
revenue and other operating results may differ materially from expectations, and we may record significant gains or losses on the remeasurement of
intercompany balances.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, we recorded an unrealized loss of $3.7 million, included in accumulated other comprehensive loss as of
December 31, 2021. This was primarily related to the decline in the U.S. dollar against the Australian dollar during the year ended December 31, 2021. A
hypothetical 10% movement in the Australian dollar would not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Market Price Risk of Digital Assets

During the fourth quarter of 2021 we released "Rabbitars", a non-fungible token collection, and accepted Ethereum as payment. As of December 31,
2021, the net carrying value of our digital assets held was $6.8 million. We account for our digital assets as indefinite-lived intangible assets, which are subject
to impairment losses if the fair value of our digital assets decreases below their carrying value at any time. Impairment losses cannot be recovered for any
subsequent increase in fair value. For example, the market price of one Ethereum in our principal market ranged from $3,533 - $4,814 during the fourth
quarter of 2021, but the carrying value of each Ethereum we held at the end of the reporting period reflects the lowest price of one Ethereum quoted on the
active exchange at any time since its receipt. Therefore, negative swings in the market price of Ethereum could have a material impact on our earnings and on
the carrying value of our digital assets. Positive swings in the market price of Ethereum are not reflected in the carrying value of our digital assets and impact
earnings only when the Ethereum is sold at a gain. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred an impairment loss of $1.0 million on our Ethereum.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
PLBY Group, Inc.
Los Angeles, California

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company at December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) and our report dated March 16, 2022 expressed an adverse opinion
thereon.

Change in Accounting Method Related to Leases

As discussed in Notes 1 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases during the year ended
December 31, 2021 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842, Leases.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matter does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing separate
opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Business Combinations – Valuation of Acquired Intangible Assets

As described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 9, 2021, the Company acquired Honey Birdette (Aust) Pty Limited for purchase
consideration of approximately $288.8 million. The Company accounted for the acquisition in accordance with ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations,
which required the Company to exercise judgment and make estimates and assumptions based on available information regarding the fair values of
identifiable tangible and intangible assets as of the date of the acquisition. Estimates and assumptions that the Company makes in estimating the fair value of
trade name include future cash flows that it expects to generate from the acquired assets. The Company recognized approximately $77.2 million of a trade
name intangible asset.
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We identified the determination of the trade name fair value as a critical audit matter. The principal considerations for our determination included the
following: (i) changes in the key assumptions could have a significant impact on the fair value of the trade name acquired, (ii) subjectivity and judgment
required to determine significant unobservable inputs and assumptions utilized by the Company in determining the fair value of the trade name, specifically
projected revenue growth rates, royalty rate, and discount rates, and (iii) appropriateness of use of various valuation models to determine the fair value of the
trade name. Auditing these elements involved especially challenging and subjective auditor judgment due to the nature and extent of audit effort required to
address these matters, including the extent of specialized skill or knowledge needed.

The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included:

• Assessing the reasonableness of projected revenue growth rates, royalty rate and discount rate through: (i) evaluating historical performance of the
target entity, (ii) assessing financial projections against market trends, industry metrics and peer-group and guideline companies, and (iii) performing
sensitivity analysis and evaluating the potential effect of changes in certain assumptions.

• Utilizing personnel with specialized knowledge and skill with valuation to assist in: (i) assessing the reasonableness of royalty rate and discount rates
incorporated into the various valuation model, and (ii) assessing the appropriateness of various valuation model utilized by management to determine
the fair values of the trade name.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2021.

Los Angeles, California

March 16, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Playboy Enterprises, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Playboy Enterprises, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020, and the related
consolidated statement of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the consolidated
financial statements (collectively, the financial statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations, stockholders’ equity and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We were not engaged to audit, review or apply any procedures to the adjustments resulting from the retroactive application of recapitalization in the
accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance about whether
such adjustments are appropriate and have been properly applied.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Prager Metis CPAs LLP

El Segundo, California
March 31, 2021

We have served as the Company’s auditor from 2015 to 2020.
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PLBY Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021  2020
Net revenues $ 246,586 $ 147,662 
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales (114,161) (74,384)
Selling and administrative expenses (200,063) (58,659)
Related party expenses (250) (1,007)
Other operating expenses (964) — 

Total costs and expenses (315,438) (134,050)
Operating (loss) income (68,852) 13,612 
Nonoperating (expense) income:

Interest expense (13,312) (13,463)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (1,217) — 
Gain from settlement of convertible promissory note 700 1,454 
Other, net 2,226 198 

Total nonoperating expense (11,603) (11,811)
(Loss) income before income taxes (80,455) 1,801 
Benefit (expense) from income taxes 2,779 (7,072)
Net loss (77,676) (5,271)

Net loss attributable to PLBY Group Inc. $ (77,676) $ (5,271)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (2.04) $ (0.24)

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted 38,105,736 22,199,591 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLBY Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Net loss $ (77,676) $ (5,271)
Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation adjustment (3,725) — 
Other comprehensive loss (3,725) — 

Comprehensive loss $ (81,401) $ (5,271)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLBY Group, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 December 31,
 2021  2020
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,245 $ 13,430 
Restricted cash 2,211 2,130 
Receivables, net of allowance for credit losses 14,129 6,601 
Inventories, net 39,881 11,788 
Stock receivable — 4,445 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,416 8,822 
Total current assets 138,882 47,216 
Restricted cash 4,030 — 
Property and equipment, net 26,445 5,203 
Operating right of use assets 38,746 — 
Digital assets, net 6,836 — 
Goodwill 270,577 504 
Other intangible assets, net 418,444 339,032 
Contract assets, net of current portion 17,315 7,159 
Other noncurrent assets 14,132 13,013 

Total assets $ 935,407 $ 412,127 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 20,577 $ 8,678 
Accrued salaries, wages, and employee benefits 4,623 4,870 
Deferred revenues, current portion 11,036 11,159 
Long-term debt, current portion 2,808 4,470 
Contingent consideration 36,630 — 
Convertible promissory notes — 6,230 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 9,697 — 
Other current liabilities and accrued expenses 32,417 18,556 
Total current liabilities 117,788 53,963 
Deferred revenues, net of current portion 42,532 43,792 
Long-term debt, net of current portion 226,042 154,230 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 91,208 74,909 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 35,534 — 
Other noncurrent liabilities 20 2,422 
Total liabilities 513,124 329,316 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (208) (208)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2021 and 2020;
42,996,191 shares issued and 42,296,191 shares outstanding at December 31, 2021; 20,626,249 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2020 4 2 
Treasury stock, at cost: 700,000 shares and 0 shares at December 31, 2021 and 2020 (4,445) — 
Additional paid-in capital 586,349 161,033 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (3,725) — 
Accumulated deficit (155,692) (78,016)
Total stockholders’ equity 422,491 83,019 

Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interest, and stockholders’ equity $ 935,407 $ 412,127 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

65



PLBY Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 

(in thousands, except share amounts)

 Common stock    

 Shares Amount
Treasury 

stock
Additional

paid-in capital
Accumulated 

deficit
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss Total

Balance at December 31, 2019, as previously
reported 3,681,185 $ 36 $ (23,453) $ 184,452 $ (78,016) $ — $ 83,019 

Retroactive application of recapitalization 16,945,064 (34) 23,453 (23,419) — — — 
Balance at December 31, 2019, effect of
reverse acquisition (Note 1) 20,626,249 2 — 158,045 (72,745) — 85,302 
Stock-based compensation expense and vesting
of restricted stock units — — — 2,988 — — 2,988 

Net loss — — — — (5,271) — (5,271)
Balance at December 31, 2020 20,626,249 $ 36 $ — $ 161,033 $ (78,016) $ — $ 83,019 

Conversion of convertible promissory note 290,563 — — 2,730 — — 2,730 
Business combination and PIPE financing 12,644,168 1 (4,445) 99,618 — — 95,174 
Secondary offering 4,720,000 1 — 202,894 — — 202,895 
Shares issued in connection with unit

purchase options exercise, net exercised 247,976 — — — — — — 
Shares issued in connection with employee

stock plans 301,063 — — — — — — 
Shares issued pursuant to trademark

licensing agreement 109,291 — — 5,000 — — 5,000 
Shares issued in connection with the

acquisition of Honey Birdette 2,160,261 — — 30,006 — — 30,006 
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 608,775 — — 2,329 — — 2,329 
Shares issued in connection with the

acquisition of GlowUp 548,034 — — 15,126 — — 15,126 
Contingent consideration in relation to

acquisition of GlowUp — — — 9,167 — — 9,167 
Shares issued pursuant to a license, services

and collaboration agreement 39,741 — — 1,500 — — 1,500 
Stock-based compensation expense and

vesting of restricted stock units — — — 56,946 — — 56,946 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (3,725) (3,725)
Net loss — — — — (77,676) — (77,676)

Balance at December 31, 2021 42,296,121 $ 4 $ (4,445) $ 586,349 $ (155,692) $ (3,725) $ 422,491 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

66



PLBY Group, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021  2020

Cash Flows From Operating Activities    
Net loss $ (77,676) $ (5,271)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 7,291 2,259 
Stock-based compensation 58,446 2,988 
Fair value remeasurement of liabilities 2,369 858 
Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,217 — 
Gain from settlement of convertible promissory note (700) (1,454)
Amortization of right of use assets 6,473 — 
Increase (decrease) in deferred income taxes (6,690) 2,621 
Other 1,814 317 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Receivables, net (6,744) (449)
Inventories (5,098) (209)
Contract assets (4,060) (330)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (11,544) (1,242)
Accounts payable 7,638 423 
Accrued salaries, wages, and employee benefits (2,573) 267 
Deferred revenues (277) 3,360 
Operating lease liabilities (5,140) — 
Other liabilities and accrued expenses (1,488) (3,325)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (36,742) 813 
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment (17,505) (884)
Stock receivable — (4,445)
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired (255,549) — 
Other investing activities (122) (141)

Net cash used in investing activities (273,176) (5,470)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net proceeds from public offering of stock 202,895 — 
Net proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 239,000 — 
Repayment of long-term debt (160,639) (2,315)
Repayment of convertible promissory note (2,800) (5,816)
Payment of deferred offering costs (6,910) (262)
Payment of financing costs (3,312) (97)
Net contribution from the Merger and PIPE Financing 99,911 — 
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 2,329 — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 370,474 (8,490)
Effect of exchange rates (630) — 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 59,926 (13,147)
Balance, beginning of year 15,560 28,707 

Balance, end of year $ 75,486 $ 15,560 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash consist of:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,245 $ 13,430 
Restricted cash 6,241 2,130 

Total $ 75,486 $ 15,560 

Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid for income taxes $ 5,809 $ 4,896 
Cash paid for interest $ 15,020 $ 13,559 
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-cash Activities

Purchases of property and equipment $ 450 $ 179 

Common stock issued in connection with license agreement $ 5,000 $ — 

Contingent consideration from acquisition of Honey Birdette and GlowUp $ 43,557 $ — 

Conversion of convertible notes into common stock $ 2,730 $ — 

Deferred offering costs in accounts payable $ — $ 396 

Stock issued in connection with acquisition of Honey Birdette and GlowUp $ 45,015 $ — 

Right of use assets in exchange for lease liabilities $ 2,992 $ — 

Reclassification of stock receivable to treasury stock upon settlement $ 4,445 $ — 

Digital assets acquired in connection with sale of tokenized art and collectibles $ 7,800 $ — 

Shares issued pursuant to a license, services and collaboration agreement $ 1,500 $ — 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLBY Group, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”), known as Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp (“MCAC”) prior to the completion of the
Business Combination (defined below), together with its subsidiaries, including Playboy Enterprises, Inc. (“Legacy Playboy”), through which it conducts
business, is a global consumer and lifestyle company marketing the Playboy brand through a wide range of direct-to-consumer products, licensing initiatives,
digital subscriptions and content, and location-based entertainment.

We have three reportable segments: Licensing, Direct-to-Consumer, and Digital Subscriptions and Content. Refer to Note 20, Segments.

Business Combination

On September 30, 2020, Legacy Playboy entered into an agreement and plan of merger (“Merger Agreement”), with MCAC, MCAC Merger Sub
Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of MCAC (“Merger Sub”), and Dr. Suying Liu, the Chief Executive Officer of MCAC. Pursuant to
the Merger Agreement, at the closing of the transactions contemplated thereby, Merger Sub would merge with and into Legacy Playboy (the “Merger”) with
Legacy Playboy surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of MCAC (the “Business Combination”). Under the Merger Agreement, MCAC agreed
to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Legacy Playboy common stock for approximately $381.3 million in aggregate consideration, comprised of (i)
23,920,000 shares of MCAC common stock, based on a price of $10.00 per share, subject to adjustment, and (ii) the assumption of no more than
$142.1 million of Legacy Playboy net debt. The Merger was subject to certain closing conditions, including stockholder approval, no material adverse effects
with respect to Legacy Playboy, and MCAC capital requirements.

In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Legacy Playboy, Sunlight Global Investment LLC (“Sponsor”), and Dr. Suying Liu
entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “Insider Stock Purchase Agreement”). Refer to Note 11, Stockholders’ Equity.

On September 30, 2020, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, MCAC entered into subscription agreements (the “Subscription
Agreements”) and registration rights agreements (the “PIPE Registration Rights Agreements”), with certain institutional and accredited investors (collectively,
the “PIPE Investors”), pursuant to, and on the terms and subject to the conditions of which, the PIPE Investors collectively subscribed for an aggregate
5,000,000 shares of MCAC common stock at $10.00 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $50.0 million (the “PIPE Investment”). The PIPE Investment
was consummated substantially concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination for net proceeds of $46.8 million.

On February 10, 2021, the Business Combination was consummated, and MCAC (i) issued an aggregate of 20,916,812 shares of its common stock to
existing stockholders of Legacy Playboy, (ii) assumed Legacy Playboy options exercisable for an aggregate of 3,560,541 shares of MCAC common stock at a
weighted-average exercise price of $5.61 and (iii) assumed the obligation to issue shares in respect of terminated Legacy Playboy restricted stock units
(“RSUs”) for an aggregate of 2,045,634 shares of MCAC common stock to be settled one year following the closing date. In addition, in connection with the
consummation of the Business Combination, MCAC was renamed “PLBY Group, Inc.” We incurred $1.3 million in transaction costs that were recorded in
“additional paid-in capital” upon consummation of the Business Combination.

Legacy Playboy’s options and RSUs that were outstanding as of immediately prior to the closing of the Business Combination (but not an option
granted to Ben Kohn on January 31, 2021 to purchase 965,944 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $10.52 per share (the “Pre-Closing
Option”)) were accelerated and fully vested. Each outstanding option was assumed by MCAC and automatically converted into an option to purchase such
number of shares of MCAC’s common stock equal to the product of (x) the merger consideration and (y) the option holder’s respective percentage of the
merger consideration. All RSUs that were then outstanding were terminated and will be settled in shares of common stock equal to the product of (x) the
merger consideration, and (y) the terminated RSU holder’s respective percentage of the merger consideration.
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The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization whereby MCAC, who is the legal acquirer, was treated as the “acquired”
company for financial reporting purposes and Legacy Playboy was treated as the accounting acquirer. This determination was primarily based on Legacy
Playboy having a majority of the voting power of the post-combination company, Legacy Playboy’s senior management comprising substantially all of the
senior management of the post-combination company, the relative size of Legacy Playboy compared to MCAC, and Legacy Playboy’s operations comprising
the ongoing operations of the post-combination company. Accordingly, for accounting purposes, the Business Combination is treated as the equivalent of a
capital transaction in which Legacy Playboy is issuing stock for the net assets of MCAC. The net assets of MCAC are stated at historical cost, with no
goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination are those of Legacy Playboy. All share, per share and net loss per
share amounts prior to the Business Combination have been retroactively restated to reflect the recapitalization.

The following table reconciles the elements of the Merger to the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of stockholders’
equity for the year ended December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

Cash - trust account and cash $ 54,044 
Cash - PIPE Investment 46,844 
Less: transaction costs paid in 2021 (977)
Net contributions from Merger and PIPE Investment 99,911 
Less: transaction costs paid in 2020 (292)

Merger and PIPE Investment $ 99,619 

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States, (“GAAP”).

Prior Period Reclassifications

The Company has reclassified certain prior fiscal year amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements to be consistent with the
current fiscal year presentation. As such, merchant processing fees of $1.2 million, previously included in selling and administrative expenses within the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020 were classified as cost of sales to conform with 2021 presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and all majority-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

The Company and Honey Birdette (Aust) Pty Limited ("Honey Birdette"), which the Company acquired in August 2021 (see Note 17, Business
Combinations), have different fiscal quarter and year ends. Honey Birdette follows a fiscal calendar widely used by the retail industry that results in a fiscal
year consisting of a 52- or 53-week period ending on the Sunday closest to December 31. Each fiscal year of Honey Birdette consists of four 13-week
quarters, with an extra week added to each fiscal year every five or six years. The Company follows a monthly reporting calendar, with its fiscal year ending
on December 31. The difference in fiscal periods for Honey Birdette and the Company is considered to be insignificant and no related adjustments have been
made in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

We regularly assess these estimates, including but not limited to, valuation of the Company’s trademarks and trade name; the recoverability of
editorial inventory; newsstand sales of the Company’s publications, pay-per-view and video-on-demand buys, and monthly subscriptions to the Company’s
television and digital content; the adequacy of reserves associated with accounts receivable and inventory; unredeemed gift cards and store credits; and stock-
based compensation expense including the determination of the fair value of our stock. We base these estimates on historical experience and on various other
market-specific and relevant assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates and such
differences could be material to the financial position and results of operations.
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Business Combinations
We allocate the consideration transferred to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess

of the consideration transferred over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The excess of fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the consideration transferred is recorded as a gain in the consolidated statement of operations. Such valuations require
management to make significant estimates and assumptions. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but
which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which is one year
from the acquisition date, we may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the
conclusion of the measurement period, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to earnings.

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk
At various times throughout the year, the Company maintained cash balances in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limits. We

have not experienced any losses in such accounts and do not believe that there is any credit risk to our cash. Concentration of credit risk with respect to
accounts receivable is limited due to the wide variety of customers to whom our products are sold and/or licensed. The following represents revenue and
receivables from the Company's customers exceeding 10% of the total in each category as of, and for the years ended, December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Customer Receivables Revenue Receivables Revenue
Customer A 30 % * * 11 %
Customer B 15 % * 30 % *
Customer C * * * 15 %

*Indicates the revenues or receivables for the customer did not exceed 10% of the Company’s total in each category as of or for the years
ended December 31, 2021 or 2020.

Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase and are stated at cost,

which approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash
At December 31, 2021 and 2020, restricted cash was primarily related to cash collateralized letters of credit we maintained in connection with the

lease of our Los Angeles headquarters and the purchase of an aircraft, as well as Honey Birdette’s term deposit in relation to Sydney office lease.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Trade receivables are reported at their outstanding unpaid balances, less allowances for credit losses. The allowances credit losses are increased by
the recognition of bad debt expense and decreased by charge-offs (net of recoveries) or by reversals to income. In determining expected credit losses, we
consider our historical level of credit losses, current economic trends, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the future cash
flows. A receivable balance is written off when we deem the balance to be uncollectible. The allowance for credit losses was $0.2 million at December 31,
2021 and 2020.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods and are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”)
method.

Licensed Programming and Digital Content Costs

We license content for programming on Playboy Television. The license costs are capitalized and reflected in prepaid expenses and other current
assets on our consolidated balance sheets. Licensed programming costs are amortized over a two-year period, representing the estimated period of use, with
50% of the cost amortized when the program is initially aired as we typically expect more upfront viewing, and the remaining balance over two years.
Amortization of licensed programming costs is recorded in cost of sales on our consolidated statements of operations. We review factors impacting the
amortization of the licensed programming costs on an ongoing basis.
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We conduct impairment testing on programming costs whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. If the carrying amount of the asset is not recoverable based on a forecasted undiscounted cash flow analysis, such asset would be reduced by the
estimated shortfall of fair value to recorded value. We estimate fair value using a forecasted-discounted cash flow method based in part on our financial results
and our expectation of future performance.

Digital content expenditures related to our online content platforms are expensed when the content is published.

Deferred Offering Costs

Legal, accounting and other costs incurred in connection with the Business Combination are capitalized as deferred offering costs in other noncurrent
assets on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. Capitalized deferred offering costs were $0.7 million at December 31, 2020. On February
10, 2021, upon consummation of the Business Combination, all deferred offering costs incurred through that date were reclassified to additional paid-in
capital.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation, except for assets acquired in connection with our business combinations,
which are reflected at fair value at the date of combination. Costs incurred for computer software developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized for
application development activities and are immediately expensed for preliminary project activities or post-implementation activities. Depreciation is recorded
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The useful life for furniture and equipment ranges from three to seven years,
software from two to three years, and aircraft is seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their
estimated useful lives or the terms of the related leases. The amortization of leasehold improvements is included in depreciation expense. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred and major betterments are capitalized. Sales and retirements of property and equipment are recorded by removing
the related cost and accumulated depreciation from the accounts, after which any related gains or losses are recognized.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Indefinite-lived intangible assets that are not amortized but subject to annual impairment testing consist of Playboy-branded trademarks. We
periodically perform a quantitative assessment to estimate the fair value of our Playboy-branded trademarks.

Based on the annual quantitative impairment test, we determined there were no impairment charges to our indefinite-lived assets to be recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

We perform annual impairment test on goodwill in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year or when events occur or circumstances change that would,
more likely than not, reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We may first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we determine it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, an impairment test is unnecessary. If an impairment test is necessary, we will estimate the fair value of a
related reporting unit. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the goodwill of that reporting unit is determined to be impaired, and we
will proceed with recording an impairment charge equal to the excess of the carrying value over the related fair value. If we determine it is more likely than
not that goodwill is not impaired, a quantitative test is not necessary. If a quantitative test is required, we will estimate the fair value of a reporting unit. We
recognize an impairment charge based on the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the reporting unit.

Based on our annual impairment tests, we determined there were no impairment charges to goodwill and our definite-lived assets to be recognized
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Definite-lived intangible assets include distribution agreements, photo and magazine archives, licensing agreements, and trade names and customer
lists, which we recognized in connection with our business combinations. Because these assets were recognized as identifiable intangible assets in connection
with our previous business combinations, we do not incur costs to renew or extend their terms. All of our definite-lived intangible assets are amortized using
the straight-line method over their useful lives.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The carrying amounts of long-lived assets, including property and equipment, stores, acquired intangible assets and right-of-use operating lease
assets are periodically reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be
recoverable or that the useful life is shorter than originally estimated. Recoverability of these assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amounts to
the future undiscounted cash flows the assets are expected to generate over its remaining life. If such review indicates that the carrying amount of intangible
assets is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is reduced to the fair value.
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If the useful life is shorter than originally estimated, we amortize the remaining carrying value over the revised shorter useful life. If the asset is
considered to be impaired, the amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of the impaired asset. For
the periods presented, we had recorded no impairment charges of long-lived assets.

Digital Assets

Digital assets, including non-fungible tokens and cryptocurrencies, are included in indefinite-lived intangible assets in the consolidated balance
sheets. We have ownership of and control over our digital assets and may use third party custodial services to secure them. Digital assets are initially recorded
at cost and are subsequently remeasured at cost, net of any impairment losses on our consolidated balance sheets. We assign costs to digital asset transactions
on a first-in, first-out basis. Gains or losses are not recorded until realized upon sale(s).

We determine the fair value of our digital assets on a nonrecurring basis, based on quoted prices on the active exchange(s) that we have determined is
the principal market for such assets (Level 1 inputs). We perform a quarterly, or more frequent review to identify whether events or changes in circumstances,
principally decreases in the quoted prices on active exchanges on any day during the quarter, indicate that it is more likely than not that our digital assets are
impaired. The cost basis of digital assets will not be adjusted upward for subsequent increases in fair value. Such impairment in the value of digital assets is
recorded as a component of other operating expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. We recorded an impairment loss of approximately $1.0
million related to digital assets during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Leases

Prior to January 1, 2021, we categorize leases at their inception as either operating or capital. In the ordinary course of business, we entered into
noncancelable operating leases for office space. We recognize lease costs on a straight-line basis and treat lease incentives as a reduction of rent expense over
the term of the agreement. The differences between cash rent payments and rent expense are recorded as deferred rent liabilities.

Upon adoption of Topic 842 on January 1, 2021, we determine if an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, by evaluating whether there is an
identified asset and whether we control the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. We determine the classification of the lease, whether
operating or financing, at the lease commencement date, which is the date the leased assets are made available for use. We use the non-cancelable lease term
when recognizing the right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities, unless it is reasonably certain that a renewal or termination option will be exercised.
We account for lease components and non-lease components as a single lease component. Modifications are assessed to determine whether incremental
differences result in new contract terms and accounted for as a new lease or whether the additional right of use should be included in the original lease and
continue to be accounted for with the remaining ROU asset.

Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the
lease term. Lease payments consist of the fixed payments under the arrangement, less any lease incentives. Variable costs, such as common area maintenance
costs and additional payments for percentage rent, are not included in the measurement of the ROU assets and lease liabilities, but are expensed as incurred.
As the implicit rate of the leases is not determinable, we use an incremental borrowing rate based on the estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing
over a similar term of the lease payments in determining the present value of the lease payments. Lease expenses are recognized on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. We do not recognize ROU assets on lease arrangements with a term of 12 months or less.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is stated at cost.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when we transfer promised goods or services in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. This is determined by following a five-step process which includes (1) identifying the contract with a customer, (2)
identifying the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determining the transaction price, (4) allocating the transaction price, and (5) recognizing revenue
when or as we satisfy a performance obligation. We apply judgment to determine the nature of the promises within a revenue contract and whether those
promises represent distinct performance obligations. In determining the transaction price, we do not include amounts subject to uncertainties unless it is
probable that there will be no significant reversal of cumulative revenue when the uncertainty is resolved. We evaluate the nature of the license as to whether
it provides a right to access or right to use the intellectual property (“IP”), which then determines whether the revenue is recognized over time or at a point in
time. Sales or usage-based royalties received in exchange for licenses of IP are recognized at the later of when (1) the subsequent sale or usage occurs or (2)
the performance obligation to which some or all of the sales or usage-based royalty has been allocated is satisfied.
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Trademark Licensing

We license trademarks under multi-year arrangements with consumer products, online gaming and location-based entertainment businesses.
Typically, the initial contract term ranges between one to ten years. Renewals are separately negotiated through amendments. Under these arrangements, we
generally receive an annual nonrefundable minimum guarantee that is recoupable against a sales-based royalty generated during the license year. Annual
minimum guarantee amounts are billed quarterly, semi-annually, or annually in advance and these payments do not include a significant financing component.
Earned royalties in excess of the minimum guarantee (“Excess Royalties”) are payable quarterly. The performance obligation is a license of symbolic IP that
provides the customer with a right to access the IP, which represents a stand-ready obligation that is satisfied over time. We recognize revenue for the total
minimum guarantee specified in the agreement on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement and recognize Excess Royalties only when the annual
minimum guarantee is exceeded. Generally, Excess Royalties are recognized when they are earned. As the sales reports from licensees are typically not
received until after the close of the reporting period, we follow the variable consideration framework and constraint guidance to estimate the underlying sales
volume to recognize Excess Royalties based on historical experience and general economic trends. Historical adjustments to recorded estimates have not been
material.

Consumer Products

We generate revenue from the sale of intimate and other apparel, Halloween costumes and accessories, primarily through our direct-to-consumer
channels (e-commerce sites and brick-and-mortar retail stores). We recognize e-commerce revenue upon delivery of the purchased goods to the buyer as our
performance obligation, consisting of the sale of goods, is satisfied at this point in time when control is transferred. We recognize retail store revenue at a
point in time when a store satisfies a performance obligation and transfers control of the product to the customer. Our revenue is recognized net of incentives
and estimated returns. We periodically offer promotional incentives to customers, including basket promotional code discounts and other credits, that are
treated as a reduction of revenue.

A portion of consumer product sales is generated through third-party sellers, who list the product on their websites. These sales are either fulfilled by
us or through the third-party seller’s fulfillment services. We recognize the fees retained by the third-party sellers as expenses in cost of sales for inventory
provided through drop-shipment arrangements.

We charge shipping fees to customers. Since control transfers to the customer after the shipping and handling activities, we account for these
activities as fulfillment activities. All outbound shipping and handling costs are accounted for as fulfillment costs in cost of sales at the time revenue is
recognized.

Magazine and Digital Subscriptions

Digital subscription revenue is derived from subscription sales of PlayboyPlus.com and Playboy.tv, which are online content platforms. Digital
subscriptions represent a stand-ready obligation to provide continuous access to the platform, which is satisfied ratably over the term of the subscription. We
receive fixed consideration shortly before the start of the subscription periods from these contracts, which are primarily sold in monthly, annual, or lifetime
subscriptions. Revenues from lifetime subscriptions are recognized ratably over a five-year period, representing the estimated period during which the
customer accesses the platforms. Revenues from Playboy magazine and digital subscriptions are recognized ratably over the subscription period. We
discontinued publishing Playboy magazine in the first quarter of 2020.

Revenues generated from the sales of creator offerings to consumers on centerfold.com, our creator-led platform launched in December 2021, are
recognized at the point in time when the sale is processed. Revenues generated from centerfold.com subscriptions are recognized ratably over the subscription
period.

Tokenized Digital Art and Collectibles

We record revenue from sales of our tokenized digital art and collectibles at the point in time when the control is transferred on a gross basis. We are
primarily responsible for fulfillment of the promise, have inventory risk, and have the latitude in establishing pricing and selecting suppliers, among other
factors. We determined that we are the principal in these transactions as we have custody and control of our digital assets prior to the sale to the customer, and
discretion and latitude in establishing the price.
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TV and Cable Programming

We license our programming content to certain cable television operators and direct-to-home satellite television operators who pay royalties based on
monthly subscriber counts and pay-per-view and video-on-demand buys for the right to distribute our programming under the terms of affiliation agreements.
The distinct performance obligations under such affiliation agreements include (i) a continuous transmission service to deliver live linear feeds and (ii)
licenses to our functional IP that are provided over the contract term that provide the operators the right to use our content library as it exists at a point in time.
For both performance obligations, our IP is the predominant or sole item to which the royalties relate. Royalties are generally collected monthly and revenue
is recognized as earned. The amount of royalties due to us is reported by operators based on actual subscriber and transaction levels. Such information is
generally not received until after the close of the reporting period. In these cases, we follow the variable consideration framework and constraint guidance to
estimate the number of subscribers and transactions to recognize royalty amounts based on historical experience. Historical adjustments to recorded estimates
have not been material. We offer sales incentives through various programs, consisting primarily of co-op marketing. We record advertising with customers as
a reduction to revenue unless we receive a distinct benefit in exchange for credits claimed by the customer and can reasonably estimate the fair value of the
distinct benefit received, in which case we record it as a marketing expense.

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers. We record a receivable when we have an unconditional right
to consideration which will become due solely due to the passage of time. We record a contract asset when revenue is recognized prior to invoicing or
payment is contingent upon transfer of control of an unsatisfied performance obligation. We record a contract liability (deferred revenue) when revenue is
recognized subsequent to cash collection. For long-term non-cancelable contracts whereby we have begun satisfying the performance obligation, we will
record contract assets for the unbilled consideration which is contingent upon our future performance. Contract assets and contract liabilities are netted on a
contract-by-contract basis.

Unredeemed Site Credits

Site credits consist of gift cards issued and credits for returned merchandise. Revenue from the issuance of site credits is recognized when the site
credit is redeemed by the customer. We also recognize revenue for the estimated breakage related to unredeemed site credits on a pro-rata basis as the credit.

Practical Expedients

Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type. However, our terms generally include a requirement of payment within 30 days if not paid in
advance. We elected the practical expedient to not assess whether a significant financing component exists if the period between when we transfer a promised
good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service is one year or less.

Additionally, we have applied the practical expedient to not capitalize incremental costs of obtaining a contract if the amortization would be less than
12 months.

Sales Taxes

Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to various governmental authorities are excluded from the measurement of the transaction price
and presented on a net basis in our consolidated statements of operations.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily consist of merchandise costs, warehousing, personnel and editorial content costs for Playboy magazine (through March 31,
2020), websites, credit card fees and collectibles, and Playboy Television, agency fees, branding events and paper, printing, customer shipping and handling
expenses, fulfillment activities, and freight-in.

Selling and Administrative

Selling and administrative expenses primarily consist of corporate office and retail store occupancy costs, personnel-related costs including stock-
based compensation, and contractor fees for accounting/finance, legal, human resources, information technology and other administrative functions, general
marketing and promotional activities, insurance and management fees. Selling and administrative costs are expensed as incurred.
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Advertising Costs

We expense advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense was $22.7 million and $10.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. We also have various arrangements with customers pursuant to which we reimburse them for a portion of their advertising costs in the
form of co-op marketing which provide advertising benefits to us. The costs that we incur for such advertising costs are recorded as a reduction of revenue.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure compensation expense for all stock-based payment awards, including stock options, restricted stock units and performance stock units
granted to employees, directors, and nonemployees, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. Compensation expense is recognized
ratably in earnings, generally over the period during which the recipient is required to provide service. We adjust compensation expense based on actual
forfeitures, as necessary.

Our stock options vest ratably over the contractual vesting period, which is generally three to four years, and the fair value of the awards is estimated
on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Our restricted stock units vest ratably over the contractual vesting period and the fair value of
the awards is estimated on the date of grant as the underlying value of the award. Awards with graded vesting features are recognized over the requisite
service period for the entire award. Our performance-based restricted stock units ("PSUs") vest upon achieving each of certain PLBY's stock price milestones
during the contractual vesting period. For milestones that have not been achieved, such PSUs vest over the derived requisite service period and the fair value
of such awards is estimated on the grant date using Monte Carlo simulations. The determination of the grant date fair value of PSUs issued is affected by a
number of variables and subjective assumptions, including (i) the fair value of PLBY’s common stock, (ii) the expected common stock price volatility over
the expected life of the award, (iii) the expected term of the award, (iv) risk-free interest rates, (v) the exercise price, and (vi) the expected dividend yield.
Forfeitures are recognized when they occur.

Our phantom stock appreciation rights ("PSARs") entitle the holder to receive cash determined by reference to appreciation, from and after the date
of grant, in the fair market value of a share of our wholly-owned subsidiary Yandy Enterprises LLC's ("Yandy") common stock units over the base price on the
final vesting date of the awards. As the PSARs are cash-settled awards, they are recorded as a liability at fair value and remeasured each reporting period until
settlement at the end of their four-year vesting term. The fair value of the awards is estimated using a combination of a market approach based on guideline
companies and an income approach based on discounted cash flows to determine the enterprise value of Yandy.

Income Taxes

We record income taxes under the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases, and attributable to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if,
based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that such assets will not be realized. Accordingly, the need to establish valuation allowances for
deferred tax assets is assessed periodically based on the more-likely-than-not realization threshold. This assessment considers, among other matters, the
nature, frequency, and severity of current and cumulative losses, the duration of statutory carryforward periods, and tax planning alternatives. Playboy uses a
two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals and
litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the largest amount of tax benefit as the largest amount that is more likely than not to be realized
upon settlement. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

Significant management judgment is required in determining provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax contingencies,
unrecognized tax benefits, and any required valuation allowance, including taking into consideration the probability of the tax contingencies being incurred.
Management assesses this probability based upon information provided by its tax advisers, its legal advisers and similar tax cases. If at a later time the
assessment of the probability of these tax contingencies changes, accrual for such tax uncertainties may increase or decrease.

The Company has a valuation allowance due to management’s overall assessment of risks and uncertainties related to its future ability in the US to
realize and, hence, utilize certain deferred tax assets, primarily consisting of net operating losses ("NOLs"), carry forward temporary differences and future tax
deductions.

The effective tax rate for annual and interim reporting periods could be impacted if uncertain tax positions that are not recognized are settled at an
amount which differs from the Company's estimate. Finally, if the Company is impacted by a change in the valuation allowance resulting from a change in
judgment regarding the realizability of deferred tax assets, such effect will be recognized in the interim period in which the change occurs.
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Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net loss and other gains and losses affecting stockholders’ deficit that, under GAAP, are excluded from net loss. Our
other comprehensive loss represents foreign currency translation adjustment attributable to Honey Birdette operations. Refer to Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Loss.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to PLBY Group, Inc. stockholders by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding for the period. The diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding
for the period. For periods in which we report net losses, diluted net loss per share is the same as basic net loss per share because potentially dilutive common
shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes — Simplifying the Accounting for
Income Taxes (Topic 740) (“ASU 2019-12”), which simplifies income tax accounting in various areas including, but not limited to, the accounting for hybrid
tax regimes, tax implications related to business combinations, and interim period accounting for enacted changes in tax law, along with some codification
improvements. ASU 2019-12 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted this
standard on January 1, 2021 with no material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842”), which supersedes the guidance in former ASC 840, Leases. This
standard requires lessees to apply a dual approach, classifying leases as either finance or operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is
effectively a financed purchase by the lessee. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. A lessee is also required to record a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases with a term of greater
than 12 months regardless of their classification. Leases with a term of 12 months or less may be accounted for similar to existing guidance for operating
leases today. Originally, a modified retrospective transition approach was required for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented in the financial statements. In July 2018, the FASB issued guidance to permit an alternative transition method for Topic 842,
which allows transition to the new lease standard by recognizing a cumulative- effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of
adoption. Entities may elect to apply either approach. There are also a number of optional practical expedients that entities may elect to apply.

We adopted ASC 842 effective January 1, 2021 using the alternative transition method. Comparative information has not been restated and will
continue to be reported under accounting standards in effect for those periods. In adopting the new guidance, we elected to apply the package of transition
practical expedients, which allows us not to reassess: (1) whether any expired or existing contracts contain leases under the new definition of a lease; (2) lease
classification for any expired or existing leases; and (3) whether previously capitalized initial direct costs would qualify for capitalization under ASC 842. In
transition, we did not elect to apply the hindsight practical expedient, which permits entities to use hindsight in determining the lease term and assessing
impairment of right-of-use assets. We further elected to apply the short-term lease policy under which lease arrangements with a term of 12 months or less
will be recognized on the statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The adoption of ASC 842 resulted in the recognition of a new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all operating leases. As
a result of the ASC 842 adoption on January 1, 2021, we recorded operating right-of-use assets of $15.7 million, including an offset to deferred rent of $1.2
million, along with associated operating lease liabilities of $16.9 million.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives
and Hedging, and Topic 825 Financial Instruments, ("ASU 2019-04"). This guidance replaces the “as incurred” loss model with an “expected loss” model
which requires the recognition of an allowance for credit losses expected to be incurred over an asset’s lifetime. The measurement of expected credit losses is
based on relevant information about past events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts impacting the collectability of the reported
amounts. This guidance was adopted as of January 1, 2021 on a modified retrospective basis and did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements or related disclosures.

Accounting Pronouncements Issued but Not Yet Adopted

We do not believe that there were any recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting pronouncements that would have a material effect on our
financial statements.
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2. Fair Value Measurements 

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous
market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. We apply the following fair value hierarchy,
which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is
available and significant to the fair value measurement:

Level 1 inputs: Based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs: Based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in
markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets); or model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs are
observable or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 inputs: Based on unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of fair value of assets or
liabilities, and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

For cash equivalents, receivables and certain other current assets and liabilities, the amounts reported approximate fair value due to their short-term
nature. For debt, we believe that the amounts reported approximate fair value based upon the refinancing of our senior secured debt in May 2021, its
amendment in August 2021 and the Aircraft Term Loan we obtained in May 2021. Refer to Note 9, Debt, for additional disclosures about our debt.

The following table summarizes the fair value of our financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value
hierarchy (in thousands):

 December 31, 2021

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Liabilities
Contingent consideration liability $ — $ — $ (36,630) $ (36,630)

 December 31, 2020
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities
PSARs liability $ — $ — $ (858) $ (858)

There were no transfers of financial instruments between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 during the periods presented.

The phantom stock appreciation rights (“PSARs”) liability is remeasured to its fair value each reporting period until its settlement at the end of the
four-year vesting period with changes in fair value recorded in “selling and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of operations. The fair
value of the PSARs is based on the fair value of one unit of the equity of Yandy, our wholly-owned subsidiary, which was estimated using a combination of
market and income approaches to determine the enterprise value, weighting each approach and applying a discount for lack of marketability. The fair value of
each PSAR as of December 31, 2020 was based on a Black-Scholes model using the fair value per unit of Yandy’s equity of $50.46 as an input as well as the
following: (i) base price of $13.00; (ii) volatility of 29.30%; (iii) expected term of three years; and (iv) risk-free rate of 0.17%. The assumptions used to
estimate the liability are based on estimates and any change in such assumptions could increase or decrease the liability by a material amount.

Contingent consideration liability is comprised of contingent consideration recorded in connection with the acquisition of Honey Birdette, which
represents the fair value for the shares issued to the Honey Birdette sellers that remained subject to lock-up restrictions as of December 31, 2021, net of the
fair value of the FY22 true-up adjustment, and contingent consideration recorded in connection with the acquisition of GlowUp, which represents the fair
value for shares which may be issued and cash which may be paid to the GlowUp sellers subject to certain indemnification obligations and performance
criteria. Refer to Note 17, Business Combinations.
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We recorded the acquisition-date fair value of these contingent liabilities as part of the consideration transferred. The fair value of contingent and
deferred consideration was estimated using either (i) a Monte Carlo simulation analysis in an option pricing framework, using revenue projections, volatility
and stock price as key inputs or (ii) a scenario-based valuation model using probability of payment, certain cost projections, and either discounting (in the case
of cash-settled consideration) or stock price (for share-settled consideration) as key inputs. The analysis approach was chosen based on the terms of each
purchase agreement and our assessment of appropriate methodology for each case. The contingent payments and value of stock issuances are subsequently
remeasured to fair value each reporting date using the same fair value estimation method originally applied with updated estimates and inputs as of
December 31, 2021. We recorded $2.4 million of charges as a result of contingent liabilities fair value remeasurement in selling and administrative expenses
in 2021. We classified financial liabilities associated with the contingent consideration as Level 3 due to the lack of relevant observable inputs. Changes in
assumptions described above could have an impact on the payout of contingent consideration.

The following table provides a roll-forward of the fair value of the liabilities categorized as Level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2021 (in
thousands):

 
December 31,

2021
Beginning balance $ 858 
Issuance of contingent consideration in connection with our acquisitions 34,390 
PSARs liability settlement (846)
Change in fair value and other 2,228 

Ending balance $ 36,630 

Assets Measured and Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

In addition to liabilities that are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company records assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring
basis. Generally, assets are recorded at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as a result of impairment charges.The Company recognized losses of $1.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2021 related to our digital assets which had a fair value of $6.8 million on the impairment date. Fair value of digital
assets held are predominantly based on Level 1 inputs.

3. Revenue Recognition

Contract Balances

Our contract assets relate to the Trademark Licensing revenue stream where arrangements are typically long-term and noncancelable. Contract assets
are reclassified to accounts receivable when the right to bill becomes unconditional. Our contract liabilities consist of billings or payments received in advance
of revenue recognition and are recognized as revenue when transfer of control to customers has occurred. Contract assets and contract liabilities are netted on
a contract-by-contract basis. Contract assets were $17.4 million and $8.3 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Contract liabilities were
$53.6 million and $55.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The changes in such contract balances during the year ended December 31,
2021 primarily relate to (i) $55.1 million of revenues recognized that were included in gross contract liabilities at December 31, 2020, (ii) $4.8 million
increase in contract liabilities due to cash received in advance or consideration to which we are entitled remaining in the net contract liability balance at period
end, (iii) $48.2 million of contract assets reclassified into accounts receivable as the result of rights to consideration becoming unconditional, (iv) a $0.9
million increase in contract liabilities due to the acquisition of Honey Birdette, and (v) a $10.0 million increase in contract assets due to certain trademark
licensing contract modification.

Contract assets and contract liabilities are netted on a contract-by-contract basis. Contract assets were $8.3 million and $8.0 million as of
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Contract liabilities were $55.1 million and $51.6 million as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, respectively. The changes in such contract balances during the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily relate to (i) $55.8 million of
revenues recognized that were included in gross contract liabilities at December 31, 2019, (ii) $4.5 million increase in contract liabilities due to cash received
in advance or consideration to which we are entitled remaining in the net contract liability balance at period end (iii) $54.7 million of contract assets
reclassified into accounts receivable as the result of rights to consideration becoming unconditional and (iv) $0.3 million decrease in contract liabilities due to
contract modifications.
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Future Performance Obligations

As of December 31, 2021, unrecognized revenue attributable to unsatisfied and partially unsatisfied performance obligations under our long-term
contracts was $370.0 million of which $363.0 million relates to Trademark Licensing, $4.9 million relates to Magazine and Digital Subscriptions, and $2.0
million relates to other obligations. Unrecognized revenue of the Trademark Licensing revenue stream will be recognized over the next nine years, of which
64% will be recognized in the first five years. Unrecognized revenue of the Magazine and Digital Subscriptions revenue stream will be recognized over the
next five years of which 50% will be recognized in the first year. Unrecognized revenues under contracts disclosed above do not include contracts for which
variable consideration is determined based on the customer’s subsequent sale or usage.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table disaggregates revenue by type (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31, 2021

 Licensing  
Direct-to-
consumer  

Digital
subscriptions
and content  Other  Total

Trademark licensing $ 64,021 $ — $ 2,034 $ — $ 66,055 
Magazine, digital subscriptions and product — — 21,268 799 22,067 
TV and cable programming — — 10,454 162 10,616 
Consumer products — 147,848 — — 147,848 

Total revenues $ 64,021 $ 147,848 $ 33,756 $ 961 $ 246,586 

 Year Ended December 31, 2020

 Licensing
Direct-to-
consumer

Digital
subscriptions
and content  Other  Total

Trademark licensing $ 61,142 $ — $ 2,420 $ — $ 63,562 
Magazine, digital subscriptions and product — — 8,658 771 9,429 
TV and cable programming — — 9,835 692 10,527 
Consumer products — 64,116 — 28 64,144 

Total revenues $ 61,142 $ 64,116 $ 20,913 $ 1,491 $ 147,662 

The following table disaggregates revenue by point-in-time versus over time (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020

Point in time $ 170,847 $ 86,49
Over time 75,739 61,17

Total revenues $ 246,586 $ 147,66

4. Inventories, Net

The following table sets forth inventories, net, which are stated at the lower of cost (specific cost and first-in, first-out) and net realizable value (in
thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Editorial and other pre-publication costs $ 263 $ 298 
Merchandise finished goods 39,618 11,490 

Total $ 39,881 $ 11,788 

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, reserves for slow-moving and obsolete inventory related to merchandise finished goods amounted to $1.5 million and
$0.2 million, respectively.
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5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Prepaid agency fees and commissions $ 24 $ 2,408 
Prepaid foreign withholding taxes 2,431 2,207 
Deposits 1,302 100 
Prepaid insurance 1,209 313 
Contract assets, current portion 77 1,173 
Software implementation costs 1,585 — 
Prepaid inventory not yet received 2,749 — 
Licensed programming costs 447 497 
Other 3,592 2,124 
Total $ 13,416 $ 8,822 

As of December 31, 2021, the unamortized balance of the licensed programming costs will be recognized over two years. We recognized
amortization expense of $0.5 million, and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Additionally, in 2021, the Company capitalized implementation costs incurred through a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract. The
capitalized implementation costs related to the cloud computing arrangement are amortized over the term of the arrangement, which is three years. These costs
are classified in our consolidated balance sheets in prepaid expenses and other current assets or other noncurrent assets based on the term of the arrangement,
and the related cash flows are presented as cash outflows from operations. The amortization expense related to capitalized implementation costs during the
year ended December 31, 2021 was immaterial.

6. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Furniture and fixtures $ 11,908 $ 7,211 
Aircraft 13,298 — 
Leasehold improvements 9,619 3,543 
Total property and equipment, gross 34,825 10,754 
Less: accumulated depreciation (8,380) (5,551)

Total $ 26,445 $ 5,203 

In May 2021, we purchased an aircraft for an aggregate purchase price of $12.0 million. Subsequently we capitalized $1.3 million of costs related to
the refurbishment of the aircraft and inspecting and testing the aircraft prior to purchase. The aircraft is being amortized on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of seven years.

The aggregate depreciation expense related to property and equipment, net was $3.5 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible Assets

Our indefinite-lived intangible assets that are not amortized but subject to annual impairment testing consist of $331.9 million and $336.7 million of
Playboy-branded trademarks and acquired trade names as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

In January 2021, we assessed and adjusted the expected use of our certain acquired trade names. In determining the estimated useful life of acquired
trade names, we consider the longevity of the trade name, economic factors and period over which economic benefit is consumed, among other factors. No
material impact was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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During the fourth quarter of 2021, we released "Rabbitars", a non-fungible token collection, and accepted Ethereum as payment. As of December 31,
2021, the carrying value of our digital assets held was $6.8 million, which reflects cumulative impairments of $1.0 million.

The table below summarizes our intangible assets, net (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Digital assets, net $ 6,836 $ — 
Total amortizable intangible assets, net 86,519 2,377 
Total indefinite-lived intangible assets 331,925 336,655 

Total $ 425,280 $ 339,032 

Capitalized trademark costs include costs associated with the acquisition, registration and/or renewal of our trademarks. We expense certain costs
associated with the defense of our trademarks. Registration and renewal costs of $0.6 million and $0.7 million were capitalized during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The weighted average period prior to the next renewal or extension of such trademarks is 8.6 years as of
December 31, 2021.

Our amortizable intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

 

Weighted-
Average Life

(Years)  
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount

December 31, 2021
Trade names 11.8 $ 85,684 $ (3,293) $ 82,391 
Distribution agreements 15 3,720 (2,687) 1,033 
Photo and magazine archives 10 2,000 (2,000) — 
Customer list 10 1,180 (236) 944 
Developed technology 3 2,300 (149) 2,151 

Total $ 94,884 $ (8,365) $ 86,519 

 

Weighted-
Average Life

(Years)  
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount

December 31, 2020
Distribution agreements 15 $ 3,720 $ (2,438) $ 1,282 
Photo and magazine archives 10 2,000 (1,967) 33 
Licensing agreements 9 5,913 (5,913) — 
Customer list 10 1,180 (118) 1,062 
Total $ 12,813 $ (10,436) $ 2,377 

The aggregate amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets was $3.8 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, expected amortization expense relating to definite-lived intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter is as
follows (in thousands):

2022 $ 8,430 
2023 8,430 
2024 8,281 
2025 7,663 
2026 7,457 
Thereafter 46,258 

Total $ 86,519 
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Goodwill

Changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2021 were as follows (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 504 
Acquisition of TLA 16,374 
Acquisition of Honey Birdette 223,381 
Acquisition of GlowUp 32,603 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (2,285)
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 270,577 

8. Other Current Liabilities and Accrued Expense

Other current liabilities and accrued expenses consist of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Accrued interest $ 1,476 $ 3,991 
Accrued agency fees and commissions 3,456 5,950 
Outstanding gift cards and store credits 4,960 — 
Inventory in transit 8,323 — 
Taxes 5,654 846 
Other 8,548 7,769 

Total $ 32,417 $ 18,556 

9. Debt

The following table sets forth debt (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Term loan, due 2023 $ — $ 159,058 
Term loan, due 2027 (as refinanced and amended) 228,850 — 
Airplane term loan, due 2026 8,569 — 
Convertible promissory notes — 6,230 

Total debt 237,419 165,288 
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs (2,389) (358)
Less: unamortized debt discount (6,180) — 

Total debt, net of unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount 228,850 164,930 
Less: current portion of long-term debt (3,206) (4,470)
Net of current portion of unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discount 398 — 
Less: Promissory notes — (6,230)

Total debt, net of current portion $ 226,042 $ 154,230 

Term Loan

2014 Term Loan

In June 2014, we borrowed $150.0 million under a four-and-one-half-year term loan maturing on December 31, 2018, at an effective rate of 7.0%
from DBD Credit Funding LLC pursuant to a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). In December 2019, the term loan was amended to borrow an
additional $12.0 million. Our debt bore interest at a rate per annum equal to the Eurodollar Rate for the interest period in effect plus the applicable margin in
effect from time to time. The Eurodollar Rate was the greater of (a) an interest rate per annum (rounded upward, if necessary, to the next 1/100th of 1%)
determined by the administrative agent divided by 1 minus the statutory reserves (if any) and (b) 1.25% per annum. From 2016 to 2020, the term loan was
amended multiple times to increase the commitment amount, extend the maturity date to December 31, 2023, set up a debt reserve account and excess cash
account, and to revise the quarterly principal payments and applicable margin rates, among other amendments.
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In March 2020, the term loan was amended to establish new quarterly principal payment amounts among other amendments. The amendment was
assessed and was accounted for as a modification. We incurred additional financing costs of $0.1 million related to this amendment that were capitalized.

In January 2021, the term loan was amended to defer the excess cash flow payment due in January 2021 to April 2021 among other amendments.
The terms of the modified term loan were not considered substantially different and the amendment was accounted for as a modification. On May 25, 2021,
the Credit Agreement was repaid in full and terminated upon completion of the refinancing described below.

New Term Loan

In May 2021, we consummated the refinancing of the term loan facility (the “Refinancing”), which was scheduled to expire on December 31, 2023.
Pursuant to the Refinancing’s new Credit and Guaranty Agreement (the “New Credit Agreement”) with Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as the administrative
agent and collateral agent, we obtained a new $160.0 million senior secured term loan (the “New Term Loan”), which was fully funded at the closing of the
Refinancing. In connection with the Refinancing, we were required to pay off the prior term loan facility with an outstanding principal balance of
approximately $154.7 million, as well as certain fees and expenses in connection with such payoff. We financed the payoff of the prior facility with proceeds
from the New Term Loan.

As a result of the Refinancing, we recognized a loss on the early extinguishment of debt of $1.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2021,
due to $1.0 million of fees which were expensed as incurred in connection with the Refinancing, as well as $0.2 million of fees as a result of such
Refinancing.

The New Term Loan has a six-year term and matures in May 25, 2027. The New Term Loan accrues interest at LIBOR plus 5.75%, with a LIBOR
floor of 0.50%. The interest rate applicable to borrowings under the New Term Loan may subsequently be adjusted on periodic measurement dates provided
for under the new credit agreement based on the type of loans borrowed by us and our total leverage ratio at such time. The New Term Loan requires quarterly
amortization payments of $0.6 million, commencing on September 30, 2021, with the balance becoming due at maturity.

Our obligations pursuant to the New Credit Agreement are guaranteed by the Company and any current and future wholly-owned, domestic
subsidiaries of the Company, subject to certain exceptions. In connection with the New Credit Agreement, the Company and the other guarantor subsidiaries
of the Company entered into a Pledge and Security Agreement with the collateral agent, pursuant to which we granted a senior security interest to the agent in
substantially all of our assets (including the stock of certain of our subsidiaries) in order to secure our obligations under the New Credit Agreement.

In August 2021, in connection with the acquisition of Honey Birdette, the New Term Loan was amended to (a) obtain a $70.0 million incremental
term loan for the purpose of funding the acquisition, thereby increasing the aggregate principal amount of term loan indebtedness outstanding under the New
Credit Agreement to $230.0 million, and (b) amend the terms of the New Credit Agreement to, among other things, permit Honey Birdette and certain of its
subsidiaries to guaranty the obligations under the New Credit Agreement. In connection with such amendment, $2.0 million of debt issuance costs were
expensed as incurred, and $1.7 million of debt discount were capitalized.

As was the case with the 2014 Credit Agreement, the terms of the New Credit Agreement limit or prohibit, among other things, our ability to: incur
liens, incur additional indebtedness, make investments, transfer, sell or acquire assets, pay dividends and change the business we conduct. Acquiom Agency
Services LLC has a lien on all our assets as stated in the New Credit Agreement. The New Credit Agreement contains a financial covenant which requires the
Company to maintain a maximum total gross leverage ratio (calculated as a ratio of consolidated gross funded debt to consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the
New Credit Agreement), in accordance with the terms of the New Credit Agreement). The Company was in compliance with the financial covenants under the
New Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2021.

Aircraft Term Loan

In May 2021, we borrowed $9.0 million under a five-year term loan maturing in May 2026 to fund the purchase of an aircraft (the “Aircraft Term
Loan”). The stated interest rate was 6.25% as of December 31, 2021. The Aircraft Term Loan requires monthly amortization payments of approximately
$0.1 million, commencing on July 1, 2021. We incurred $0.1 million of financing costs related to the Aircraft Term Loan, which were capitalized.

Original issue discounts and deferred financing costs were incurred in connection with the issuance of our term loans. Costs incurred in connection
with debt are capitalized and offset against the carrying amount of the related indebtedness. These costs are amortized over the term of the related
indebtedness and are included in “interest expense” in the consolidated statements of operations. Amortization expense related to deferred financing costs was
immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. Interest expense related to our debt was $13.3 million and $13.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The stated interest rate was 6.25% and 8.25% as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.
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The following table sets forth maturities of the principal amount of our term loans as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands):

2022 $ 3,206 
2023 3,265 
2024 3,327 
2025 3,396 
2026 6,875 
Thereafter 217,350 

Total $ 237,419 

Convertible Promissory Notes Creative Artists Agency–Global Brands Group LLP

In August 2018, a convertible promissory note was issued to CAA Brand Management, LLC (“CAA”) for $2.7 million and a convertible promissory
note was issued to GBG International Holding Company Limited (“GBG”) for $7.3 million. These notes were noninterest bearing and were convertible into
shares of our common stock no later than October 31, 2020, which was extended to December 31, 2020. The terms of these notes were subject to negotiation
in December 2020, and in December 2020, we settled the outstanding GBG note at a 20% discount for $5.8 million, resulting in a gain from settlement of
$1.5 million. In January 2021, the outstanding note with CAA was converted into 51,857 shares of Legacy Playboy’s common stock, which was exchanged
for 290,563 shares of our common stock upon the closing of the Business Combination in February 2021.

Convertible Promissory Note United Talent Agency, LLC

In March 2018, we issued a convertible promissory note to United Talent Agency, LLC (“UTA”) for $2.0 million. In June 2018, we issued a second
convertible promissory note to UTA for $1.5 million. These notes were noninterest bearing and were to be convertible into shares of our common stock no
later than October 31, 2020, which was extended to December 31, 2020. In January 2021, the settlement terms of the notes were amended to extend the term
to the one-month anniversary of the termination or expiration of the Merger Agreement. In February 2021, the outstanding convertible notes with UTA were
settled for $2.8 million resulting in a gain from settlement of $0.7 million.

10. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

On April 13, 2015, the Company sold 25% of the membership interest in its subsidiary, After Dark LLC, to an unaffiliated third party for
$1.0 million. As part of the arrangement the Company granted a put right to this party which provides the right, but not the obligation, to the third party to
cause the Company to purchase all of the third party’s interest in After Dark LLC at the then fair market value. This put right can be exercised on April 13 of
each year. Additionally, the put right can be exercised upon a change of control of the Company. To date, the put right has not been exercised, including in
connection with the Business Combination. The Company’s controlling interest in this subsidiary requires the operations of this subsidiary to be included in
the consolidated financial statements. Noncontrolling interest with redemption features, such as put options, that are not solely within our control (redeemable
noncontrolling interest) are reported as mezzanine equity on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, between liabilities and equity.
Net income or loss of After Dark LLC is allocated to its noncontrolling member interest based on the noncontrolling member interest’s ownership percentage.

Additionally, the results of operations of the subsidiary that are not attributable to the Company are shown as “Net loss attributable to redeemable
noncontrolling interest” in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. There was no change in the balance of
the redeemable noncontrolling interest as After Dark LLC did not generate any operating activities during 2021 and 2020.

11. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

The holders of the Company’s common stock have one vote for each share of common stock. Common stockholders are entitled to dividends when,
as, and if declared by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). As of December 31, 2021, no dividends had been declared by the Board.

Common stock reserved for future issuance consists of the following:
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 December 31,
 2021  2020
Shares available for grant under stock option plan 4,003,059 1,646,518 
Options issued and outstanding under stock option plan 3,211,071 2,594,597 
Unvested restricted stock units 585,075 313,976 
Vested restricted stock units not yet settled 2,133,179 1,731,658 
Unvested performance-based restricted stock units 544,036 — 
Shares issuable pursuant to a license, services and collaboration agreement 79,485 — 
Convertible promissory note payable to CAA — 290,563 

Total common stock reserved for future issuance 10,555,905 6,577,312 

Treasury Stock

In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, Legacy Playboy, Sponsor, and Dr. Suying Liu entered into the Insider Stock Purchase
Agreement, pursuant to which Legacy Playboy purchased 700,000 shares of MCAC’s common stock (the “Initial Shares”) from Sponsor. Subject to the
satisfaction of conditions set forth under the Merger Agreement, Sponsor was obligated to transfer the Initial Shares to Legacy Playboy upon the closing of the
Merger or, if the Merger Agreement was terminated, upon the consummation of any other business combination. As of December 31, 2020, Legacy Playboy
had paid a nonrefundable $4.4 million prepayment, representing the purchase price of the 700,000 Initial Shares, at a price of $6.35 per share. This payment is
included as a current asset in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2020. In February 2021, the Initial Shares were transferred to us
upon the closing of the Merger and reclassified from “stock receivable” to “treasury stock” as part of the recapitalization.

In connection with our recapitalization that occurred with the consummation of the Business Combination, we eliminated Legacy Playboy’s
previously held treasury stock of 1,164,847 shares. We held 700,000 shares of treasury stock as of December 31, 2021.

Public Offering

In June 2021, we completed a public offering in which 4,720,000 shares of our common stock were sold at a price of $46 per share. The underwriters
were also granted an option to purchase up to an additional 708,000 shares of our common stock from us at the public offering price, less underwriting
discounts and commissions. Such option expired unexercised. We incurred approximately $13.2 million of underwriting commissions and $1.0 million of
public offering related fees, which were netted against the proceeds. The net proceeds received from the public offering were $202.9 million.

12. Stock-Based Compensation

In June 2018, Legacy Playboy adopted its 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“2018 Plan”), under which 6,287,687 of Legacy Playboy’s common shares
were originally reserved for issuance. Our employees, directors, officers, and consultants are eligible to receive nonqualified and incentive stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, and other share awards under the 2018 Plan. All stock options and restricted stock
unit awards granted under the 2018 Plan in 2019 and 2020 that were outstanding immediately prior to the consummation of the Business Combination were
accelerated and fully vested (other than the Pre-Closing Option), and subsequently converted into options to purchase or the right to receive shares of our
common stock as described in Note 1, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. The impact of the acceleration of the vesting of
829,547 stock options and 288,494 restricted stock unit awards was an expense of $3.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

On February 9, 2021, our stockholders approved our 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan, which became effective following
consummation of the Business Combination. As of December 31, 2021, 4,003,059 shares were available for issuance under the 2021 Plan. In addition, the
shares authorized for the 2021 Plan may be increased on an annual basis via an evergreen refresh mechanism for a period of up to 10 years, beginning with the
fiscal year that begins January 1, 2022, in an amount equal up to 4% of the outstanding shares of common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding
fiscal year. Following the effectiveness of the 2021 Plan, no further awards will be granted under the 2018 Plan, but the 2018 Plan will remain outstanding and
continue to govern outstanding awards granted thereunder.

On October 29, 2021, we awarded restricted stock units for the issuance of 567,080 shares of our common stock upon settlement, stock options for
the purchase of 259,305 shares of our common stock and performance-based restricted stock units for the issuance of 2,176,130 shares of our common stock
upon settlement (collectively, the “Equity Grants”) to certain of our employees. The Equity Grants were issued pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The exercise price
for the stock option grants is $28.08 per share, which was the closing share price for a share of our common stock on the grant date. The restricted stock units
and stock option grants vest subject to each grantee’s continued service to the Company. The performance-based restricted stock units vest upon the
achievement of certain share price targets by our common stock and subject to each grantee’s continued service to the Company.
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On December 23, 2021, we awarded restricted stock units for the issuance of 112,482 shares of our common stock upon settlement to certain of our
directors.

Stock Option Activity

Stock option activity under our 2018 and 2021 Plans is as follows:

 
Number of 

options

Weighted-
average 

exercise price  

Weighted-
average

remaining 
contractual 
term (years)  

Aggregate
intrinsic

value
(in thousands)

Balance – December 31, 2020 2,594,597 $ 3.79 8.5 $ 13,791 
Granted 1,225,249 $ 14.24 
Exercised (608,775) $ 3.83 $ 20,207 
Forfeited — — 
Cancelled — — 

Balance – December 31, 2021 3,211,071 $ 7.77 7.9 $ 60,978 

Exercisable – December 31, 2021 1,985,822 $ 3.77 7.1 $ 45,407 

Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2021 3,211,071 $ 7.77 7.9 $ 60,978 

The options granted during the period were not included in the number of options for which vesting was accelerated as part of the Business Combination.

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of all outstanding and exercisable stock options and the fair
value of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 2021.

The grant date fair value of options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $2.1 million and $1.1 million, respectively.
The options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 had a weighted-average fair value of $6.18 and $3.22 per share, respectively, at the
grant date.

Restricted Stock Units

A summary of restricted stock unit activity under our 2018 and 2021 Plans is as follows:

 
Number of 

awards

Weighted-
average grant
date fair value

per share
Unvested and outstanding balance at December 31, 2020 313,976 $ 4.30 
Granted 679,562 $ 28.22 
Vested (404,992) $ 9.77 
Forfeited (3,471) $ 28.08 

Unvested and outstanding balance at December 31, 2021 585,075 $ 28.15 

The total fair value of restricted stock units that vested during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $4.0 million and $1.9
million, respectively. All 2,133,179 outstanding and fully vested restricted stock units remained unsettled at December 31, 2021, out of which 2,042,163 are
legacy outstanding and fully vested restricted stock units that will be settled at least one year from the consummation of the Business Combination. As such,
they are excluded from outstanding shares of common stock but are included in weighted-average shares outstanding for the calculation of basic net loss per
share for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Performance Stock Units

To determine the value of performance-based restricted stock units for stock-based compensation purposes, the Company uses the Monte Carlo
simulation valuation model. The Monte Carlo simulation model utilizes multiple input variables, including derived service period of 1.88 years, to estimate
the probability that the market conditions will be achieved and is applied to the trading price of our common stock on the date of grant.

A summary of performance stock unit activity under our 2021 Plan is as follows:

(1)

(1)     
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Number of 
awards

Weighted-
average grant
date fair value

per share
Unvested and outstanding balance at December 31, 2020 — — 
Granted 2,176,130 $ 26.18 
Vested (1,632,094) $ 28.08 
Forfeited — — 

Unvested and outstanding balance at December 31, 2021 544,036 $ 20.49 

The total fair value of performance-based restricted stock units that vested during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was approximately
$45.8 million and $— million, respectively.

Stock Options Granted

To determine the value of stock option awards for stock-based compensation purposes, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
and the assumptions discussed below. Each of these inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment.

Fair value of common stock – Prior to the Business Combination, the fair value of our shares of common stock underlying the awards has historically
been determined by the Board of Directors with input from management and contemporaneous third-party valuations, as there was no public market for our
common stock. The Board of Directors determined the fair value of the common stock by considering a number of objective and subjective factors including:
the valuation of comparable companies, our operating and financial performance, the lack of liquidity of our common stock, transactions in our common
stock, and general and industry specific economic outlook, among other factors. Subsequent to the Business Combination, the fair value of our common stock
is based on the quoted price of our common stock.

Expected term — For employee awards granted at-the-money, we estimate the expected term based on the simplified method, which is the midpoint
between the vesting date and the end of the contractual term for each award since our historical share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable
basis upon which to estimate the expected term. For nonemployee awards and employee awards granted out-of-the-money, our best estimate of the expected
term is the contractual term of the award.

Volatility — We derive the volatility from the average historical stock volatilities of several peer public companies over a period equivalent to the
expected term of the awards as we do not have sufficient historical trading history for our stock. We selected companies with comparable characteristics to us,
including enterprise value, risk profiles, and position within the industry and with historical share price information sufficient to meet the expected term of the
stock options. We will continue to apply this process until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own stock price becomes
available.

Risk-free interest rate — The risk-free interest rate is based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant, the term of which
is consistent with the expected life of the award.

Dividend yield — We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock. Therefore, we used
an expected dividend yield of zero.

We estimated the fair value of each option on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model applying the weighted-average
assumptions in the following table:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021 2020
Fair value of common stock $4.63 - $28.08 $5.02 - $8.
Expected term, in years 5.49 - 5.86 5 - 6.
Expected volatility 45% - 47% 40% - 50
Risk-free interest rate 0.57% - 1.27% 0.39% - 1.46
Expected dividend yield 0% 0
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense under our Plans was as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021  2020
Cost of sales $ 1,955 $ 10 
Selling and administrative expenses 56,491 2,978 

Total $ 58,446 $ 2,988 

Cost of sales includes $1.8 million of stock-based compensation expense associated with equity awards granted to an independent contractor for services
pursuant to the terms of a license, services and collaboration agreement.

At December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock option awards was $5.7 million and is expected to be
recognized over the remaining weighted-average service period of 2.3 years. At December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to
unvested restricted stock unit awards was $14.3 million and is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average service period of 2.5 years. At
December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested performance-based restricted stock unit awards was $10.1 million and is
expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-average service period of 1.8 years.

Phantom Stock Appreciation Rights

In September 2020, the Company established the Yandy Phantom Stock Appreciation Rights Plan (“PSAR Plan”) whereby PSARs are granted to
certain executives. PSARs granted under the plan are non-assignable and are cash-settled based on the fair value of a common stock unit of Yandy on a
minority, non-marketable basis, on the four-year anniversary of the vesting commencement date. We granted 91,500 PSARs during 2021 which vest over a
four-year period, commencing on December 31, 2020, with a one-year cliff and monthly vesting thereafter.

The liability associated with the PSARs is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and is recorded within other noncurrent liabilities on our
consolidated balance sheets at its fair value of $— and $0.9 million as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020. In the second quarter of 2021, the
portion of PSAR liability was forfeited pursuant to a separation agreement with an employee, and, in the third quarter of 2021, we entered into agreements
with employees holding the remaining PSARs, pursuant to which outstanding PSARs were forfeited and subsequently converted into restricted stock units in
October 2021.

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

Our principal lease commitments are for office space and operations under several noncancelable operating leases with contractual terms expiring
from 2021 to 2031. Some of these leases contain renewal options and rent escalations.

In 2019, we entered into an agreement to lease space for our corporate headquarters in Los Angeles, which we occupied under a sublease with a third
party. The new lease commenced in July 2020 upon the expiration of the sublease and is for a term of approximately seven years. We have $2.0 million in
cash collateralized letters of credit related to the lease and sublease as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Yandy’s operating lease for warehousing and office space in Phoenix, Arizona expired in February 2021, following an extension of the original
December 2020 expiration. On August 26, 2020, we entered into a non-cancellable operating lease for 51,962 square feet of warehousing and office space in
Phoenix, Arizona for Yandy’s operations. The lease commenced on February 1, 2021 and expires on May 31, 2031, with an option to renew for an additional
five or 10 years at market rates. Rent, which commenced in June 2021, is payable monthly and is subject to annual increases of 3% for a total lease
commitment of $4.1 million. Additionally, we are eligible to receive a tenant improvement allowance of up to $0.8 million.

In 2017, we vacated our New York office space and entered into an agreement to sublease the space for a period approximating the remaining term of
our lease. This lease expires in 2024.

In connection with the acquisition of TLA, as disclosed in Note 17, Business Combinations, we acquired 41 retail stores (40 stores as of December
31, 2021), one office and one warehouse space, which TLA leases and operates in Washington, Oregon, California, Texas and Tennessee for the purpose of
selling its products to customers. The majority of the leases are triple net leases, for which TLA, as a lessee, is responsible for paying rent as well as common
area maintenance, insurance and taxes. Lease terms run between 2 and 10 years in length, with the average lease term being approximately 5 years and in
many cases include renewal options.

(1)

(1)    
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In connection with the acquisition of Honey Birdette, as disclosed in Note 17, Business Combinations, we acquired 59 retail stores and two office
spaces, which Honey Birdette leases and operates in Australia, the United States and the United Kingdom for the purpose of selling its products to customers.
The majority of the leases are triple net leases, for which Honey Birdette, as a lessee, is responsible for paying rent as well as common area maintenance,
insurance and taxes. Lease terms run between 2 and 10 years in length, with the average lease term being approximately 5 years and in many cases include
renewal options.

Lease cost associated with operating leases is charged to expense in the year incurred and is included in our consolidated statements of operations.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, lease cost charged to selling, general and administrative expense was $3.1 million. Lease cost for the year ended
December 31, 2021 is included in the table below. Lease cost charged to cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was immaterial. Most
of our leases include one or more options to renew, with renewal terms that generally can extend the lease term for an additional 4 to 5 years. The exercise of
lease renewal options is at our sole discretion.

As of December 31, 2021 the weighted average remaining term of these operating leases is 5.4 years and the weighted average discount rate used to
estimate the net present value of the operating lease liabilities was 4.9%. Cash payments for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities
were $7.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities were $3.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021.

Net lease cost recognized in our consolidated statements of operations as of December 31, 2021 is summarized as follows (in thousands):

 
Year Ended December

31, 2021
Operating lease cost  $ 9,099 
Variable lease cost  1,370 
Short-term lease cost 674 
Sublease income  (368)

Net lease cost  $ 10,775 

Maturities of our operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December 31: Amounts
2022 $ 11,447 
2023 9,894 
2024 8,314 
2025 6,588 
2026 6,131 
Thereafter 7,393 
Total undiscounted lease payments 49,767 
Less: imputed interest (4,536)
Total operating lease liabilities $ 45,231 
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 9,697 

Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent portion $ 35,534 

The following table sets forth the future minimum lease commitments and future sublease income as of December 31, 2020, under operating leases
with initial or remaining noncancelable terms in excess of one year prior to the adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2021 (in thousands):
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Minimum
Lease

Commitments  
Sublease
Income

2021  $ 3,433 $ (288)
2022  3,451 (313)
2023  3,564 (322)
2024  3,828 (246)
2025  3,588 — 
Thereafter  7,553 — 

Total  $ 25,417 $ (1,169)

Legal Contingencies

From time to time, we may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of our business activities. We accrue a liability for such
matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and that such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required to
determine both probability and the estimated amount.

TNR Case

On December 17, 2021, Thai Nippon Rubber Industry Public Limited Company, a manufacturer of condoms and lubricants and a publicly traded
Thailand company (“TNR”), filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California against Playboy and its subsidiary Products
Licensing, LLC. TNR alleges a variety of claims relating to Playboy’s termination of a license agreement with TNR and the business relationship between
Playboy and TNR prior to such termination. TNR alleges, among other things, breach of contract, unfair competition, breach of the implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing, and interference with contractual and business relations due to Playboy’s conduct. TNR is seeking over $100 million in damages arising
from the loss of expected profits, declines in the value of TNR’s business, unsalable inventory and investment losses. Playboy believes TNR’s claims and
allegations are without merit, and Playboy will defend itself vigorously in this matter.

Dream Case

On December 7, 2021, Steve Shaw, a former consultant to GlowUp Digital, Inc. (a/k/a “Dream” and subsequently renamed Centerfold Digital Inc.),
the company acquired by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, brought suit in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles,
against Michael Dow and Michael Berman (the principals of Dream), Centerfold Digital Inc. and Playboy. Mr. Shaw alleges a variety of claims, based upon
an alleged (unsigned) agreement with Dream that Mr. Shaw was to be granted up to 20% of the equity of Dream (valued at $6 million based on the
$30 million purchase price in the agreement for the Company’s acquisition of Dream). Subsequent to such alleged agreement and prior to the Company’s
acquisition of Dream, Dream and Mr. Shaw entered into a standard mutual release agreement pursuant to which Mr. Shaw released any claims against Dream,
including any rights to equity in Dream, in exchange for a monetary payment. Mr. Shaw is alleging, among other things, breach of contract, misrepresentation
and fraud in connection with his alleged agreement with Dream and the circumstances under which he entered into the release. Mr. Shaw is seeking damages,
costs and attorneys’ fees. Playboy believes Mr. Shaw’s claims and allegations are without merit, and Playboy will defend itself vigorously in this matter,
including the assertion of its own counterclaims.

2020 Former Employee Case

On May 18, 2020, a former employee filed a complaint against us in Los Angeles County Superior Court related to the individual’s former
employment with us. A settlement was reached in April 2021 for dismissal of the case upon payment to the complainant of $0.2 million, which is anticipated
to be primarily covered by our employment practices liability insurance.

AVS Case

In March 2020, our subsidiary Playboy Enterprises International, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “PEII”) terminated its license agreement with a
licensee, AVS Products, LLC (“AVS”), for AVS’s failure to make required payments to PEII under the agreement, following notice of breach and an
opportunity to cure. On February 6, 2021, PEII received a letter from counsel to AVS alleging that the termination of the contract was improper, and that PEII
failed to meet its contractual obligations, preventing AVS from fulfilling its obligations under the license agreement.
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On February 25, 2021, PEII brought suit against AVS in Los Angeles Superior Court to prevent further unauthorized sales of PLAYBOY branded
products and for disgorgement of unlawfully obtained funds. On March 1, 2021, PEII also brought a claim in arbitration against AVS for outstanding and
unpaid license fees. PEII and AVS subsequently agreed that the claims PEII brought in arbitration would be alleged in the Los Angeles Superior Court case
instead, and on April 23, 2021, the parties entered into and filed a stipulation to that effect with the court. On May 18, 2021, AVS filed a demurrer, asking for
the court to remove an individual defendant and dismiss PEII’s request for a permanent injunction. On June 10, 2021, the court denied AVS’s demurrer. AVS
filed an opposition to PEII’s motion for a preliminary injunction to enjoin AVS from continuing to sell or market PLAYBOY branded products on July 2,
2021, which the court denied on July 28, 2021.

On August 10, 2021, AVS filed a cross-complaint for breach of contract, breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, quantum
meruit and declaratory relief. As in its February 2021 letter, AVS alleges its license was wrongfully terminated and that PEII failed to approve AVS’
marketing efforts in a manner that was either timely or that was commensurate with industry practice. AVS is seeking to be excused from having to perform
its obligations as a licensee, payment of the value for services rendered by AVS to PEII outside of the license, and damages to be proven at trial. We believe
AVS’ claims and allegations are without merit, and we will defend this matter vigorously. The parties are currently engaged in discovery. The court has set a
preliminary trial date of September 13, 2022.

Hefner Trust Case

On May 21, 2019, Michael Whalen, as Trustee for the Hugh M. Hefner 1991 Trust, (the “Trust”), initiated an arbitration against the Company
asserting that the Company had breached that certain License Agreement between Hugh M. Hefner (“Mr. Hefner”) and the Company dated on or about
March 4, 2011, wherein Mr. Hefner licensed his image, signature, voice, likeness and other elements of his persona and identity to the Company. The Trust
has also asserted statutory claims against the Company for the alleged violation of Mr. Hefner’s right of publicity. The parties entered into a Settlement
Agreement, dated August 21, 2020, pursuant to which the Company paid to the Trust $1.8 million to settle this matter in September 2020.

2019 Former Employee Case

On April 1, 2019, a former employee, through counsel, delivered to the Company a letter which set forth various potential claims against the
Company related to the individual’s former employment with the Company. A settlement was reached in October 2020 in the amount of $2.6 million. We have
employment practices liability insurance for such claims which is capped at $2.5 million. We paid $0.4 million in November 2020, representing the amount of
the settlement not covered by the employment practices liability insurance and had a $0.3 million receivable from the insurance provider as of December 31,
2020, and had received such amount as of December 31, 2021.

Michigan Class Action Case

In January 2019, a class action suit was initiated against the Company on behalf of a group of Michigan Playboy magazine subscribers, where the
subscribers sued after their personal details were disclosed in violation of the Michigan Preservation of Personal Privacy Act. The parties entered into a
Settlement Agreement which was approved, and the court entered a final judgement on August 19, 2020 in the amount of $3.9 million to be paid by the
Company. The amount was paid in September 2020.

Indian Harbor Case

On October 15, 2018, Playboy filed a lawsuit in Los Angeles Superior Court (the “Court”) against its insurer, Indian Harbor Insurance Company
(“Indian Harbor”), captioned Playboy Enterprises, Inc. v. Indian Harbor Insurance Company, for breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith
and fair dealing, and seeking declaratory relief, after Indian Harbor threatened to sue Playboy on an alleged theory of lack of coverage after Indian Harbor
paid approximately $4.8 million towards the settlement of claims against Playboy made by Elliot Friedman. Among other things, we are seeking declaratory
relief that the underlying claims asserted against Playboy are covered claims under Playboy’s insurance policies with Indian Harbor. On December 14, 2018,
Indian Harbor filed its answer to the complaint and filed counterclaims against Playboy for declaratory relief that it has no obligation to provide coverage for
the underlying claims and that it is entitled to recoup the amounts it paid in the settlement, with interest. Indian Harbor filed a motion for summary judgment,
seeking, among other things, summary adjudication that (1) the insurance policy does not provide coverage because the underlying claim was allegedly first
made before the policy period of the policy and (2) that Indian Harbor does not have to provide coverage because Playboy allegedly failed to provide timely
notice of the claim. On September 9, 2020, the Court denied Indian Harbor’s motion, in part, ruling as a matter of law that Playboy had properly reported the
underlying claim under the correct policy; but granted the motion as to Playboy’s breach of contract and bad faith claims because Indian Harbor ultimately
funded the settlement. Based on the summary judgment ruling, the parties agreed to enter into a stipulated judgment in Playboy’s favor to advance the issues
for appeal, with Indian Harbor intending to appeal the Court’s decision as to when the underlying claim was first made. The Court entered the parties’
stipulated judgment on July 26, 2021. On October 15, 2021, Indian Harbor filed its notice of appeal. On December 13, 2021, Indian Harbor filed its opening
appellate brief, and our response is due by March 29, 2022. We intend to continue to prosecute our claims in this matter and vigorously defend ourselves
against Indian Harbor’s counterclaims on appeal.
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We may periodically be involved in other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. These matters are not expected to have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

COVID-19

In March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. Since that time, we have focused on protecting our
employees, customers and vendors to minimize potential disruptions while managing through this pandemic. Nonetheless, the COVID-19 pandemic continues
to disrupt and delay global supply chains, affect production and sales across a range of industries and result in legal restrictions requiring businesses to close
and consumers to stay at home for days-to-months at a time. These disruptions have impacted our business by slowing the launch of new products, causing
certain products sold by Yandy to be out-of-stock, hindering new licensing and collaboration deals, temporarily closing retail stores of Honey Birdette post-
acquisition and certain of our licensees and closing the London Playboy Club and certain other Playboy-branded live gaming operations. As a result, licensing
revenues from certain gaming and retail licensees declined in the last three quarters of 2020 and the full year of 2021, as compared to royalties from such
sources during pre-pandemic periods. However, as of the date of these consolidated financial statements, our business as a whole has not suffered any material
adverse consequences to date from the COVID-19 pandemic, as negative impacts have thus far been offset by an increase in online direct-to-consumer sales
and higher royalties from licensing collaborations in the United States during the years ended December 2020 and 2021. The extent of the impact of COVID-
19 on our future operational and financial performance will depend on certain developments, including the further duration and spread of the outbreak and its
impact on employees and vendors, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, the full extent
to which COVID-19 may impact our future financial condition or results of operations is uncertain.

14. Severance Costs

We have incurred severance costs stemming from reducing our headcount as the business has shifted from primarily a print and digital media
business, generating advertising and sponsorship revenues, to primarily a commerce business marketing consumer products. We did not incur such costs
during the year ended December 31, 2021. The costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2020 resulted from the rightsizing of our business. We
recorded severance costs of $0.6 million in accrued salaries, wages, and employee benefits and $0.1 million in other noncurrent liabilities as of December 31,
2020 on the consolidated balance sheets. Severance costs in the consolidated statements of operations were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2020
Corporate Other Total

Cost of sales $ 153 $ 1,022 $ 1,175 
Selling and administrative expenses 463 206 669 

Total severance costs $ 616 $ 1,228 $ 1,844 

15. Income Taxes

The following table sets forth the domestic and foreign components of income/(loss) before income taxes (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020

US $ (73,385) $ 1,80
Foreign (7,070) —

Total $ (80,455) $ 1,80

The following table sets forth income tax benefit (expense) (in thousands):
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 Year Ended December 31,
 2021  2020
Current expense from income taxes:

Federal $ — $ — 
State (219) (237)
Foreign (3,843) (4,422)

Total current expense from income taxes (4,062) (4,659)
 
Deferred benefit (expense) from income taxes:

Federal 6,616 567 
State (2,088) (2,980)
Foreign 2,313 — 

Total deferred benefit (expense) from income taxes 6,841 (2,413)

Total $ 2,779 $ (7,072)

The following table sets forth a reconciliation from the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate:

 Year ended December 31,
 2021 2020
Federal income tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State income tax, net of federal benefit (2.4) 10.1 
Foreign withholding taxes, net of credits

(3.2) 189.9 
Transaction costs (2.4) 29.5 
Change in the statutory rate (1.8) 96.3 
Change in valuation allowance 4.6 (80.8)
Equity compensation (9.3) — 
Foreign rate differential 0.8 — 
Adjustment to deferred taxes    

(3.0) 125.4 
Other (1.0) 1.3 

Effective rate 3.5 % 392.7 %

Foreign withholding taxes, net of credits relate to foreign tax withholding on royalties received from various foreign jurisdictions.
The 2021 equity compensation adjustment is mainly related to the windfall tax deductions reduced by the officer compensation limitations.

On March 18, 2020, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act (“FFCR Act”), and on March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security Act (“CARES Act”) were each enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The FFCR Act and the CARES Act contain numerous income tax
provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer side social security payments, net operating loss carryback periods, alternative
minimum tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical corrections to tax depreciation methods for qualified
improvement property. The FFCR Act and CARES Act did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2021.

On June 29, 2020, Assembly Bill 85 (“A.B. 85”) was signed into California law. A.B. 85 provides for a three-year suspension of the use of net
operating losses for medium and large businesses and a three-year cap on the use of business incentive tax credits to offset no more than $5.0 million of tax
per year. A.B. 85 suspends the use of net operating losses for taxable years 2021, 2022 and 2023 for certain taxpayers with taxable income of $1.0 million or
more. The carryover period for any net operating losses that are suspended under this provision will be extended. A.B. 85 also requires that business incentive
tax credits including carryovers may not reduce the applicable tax by more than $5.0 million for taxable years 2021, 2022 and 2023. Due to A.B.85, the
Company was not able to offset its California taxable income with its net operating losses during these years.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had an immaterial amount of unremitted earnings related to certain foreign subsidiaries. The Company
intends to continue to reinvest its foreign earnings indefinitely and does not expect to incur any significant United States taxes related to such amounts.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The following table sets forth the significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2021  2020
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 48,368 $ 45,113 
Tax credit carryforwards — 2,805 
Deferred revenue 1,951 1,312 
Stock compensation 3,284 2,557 
Investment in partnership 11,409 11,402 
Lease liabilities 4,417 — 
Other deductible temporary differences 6,587 4,996 

Total deferred tax assets 76,016 68,185 
Less valuation allowance (63,712) (67,444)

Deferred tax assets, net $ 12,304 $ 741 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Fixed assets $ (521) $ 219 
Intangible assets (99,676) (75,757)
Right of use assets (3,305) — 
Other deductible temporary differences (10) (112)

Total deferred tax liabilities (103,512) (75,650)

Deferred tax liabilities, net $ (91,208) $ (74,909)

The realization of deferred income tax assets may be dependent on the Company’s ability to generate sufficient income in future years in the
associated jurisdiction to which the deferred tax assets relate. The Company considers all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled
reversals of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies, and recent financial performance. Based on the review of
all positive and negative evidence, including a three-year cumulative pre-tax loss, the Company concluded that except for the deferred tax liability recorded on
certain indefinite life intangibles, it should record a full valuation allowance against all other net deferred income tax assets at December 31, 2021 and 2020 as
none of these deferred income tax assets were more likely than not to be realized as of the balance sheet dates. However, the amount of the deferred income
tax assets considered realizable may be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are increased or if objective negative
evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present. Based on the level of historical operating results the Company has recorded a valuation
allowance of $63.7 million and $67.4 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s valuation allowance
decreased by $3.7 million, mainly driven by the expense of certain stock compensation deferred tax assets due to the officers' compensation limitation, and the
expiration of certain tax credits and state NOLs.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had federal and state NOL carryforwards of $203.1 million and $72.6 million, respectively, available to
offset taxable income in tax year 2022 and thereafter. Of the $203.1 million in federal NOL carryforwards, $19.7 million can be carried forward indefinitely
and the remaining NOL carryforwards start to expire in 2028. Of the $72.6 million in state NOL carryforwards, $0.1 million can be carried forward
indefinitely and the remaining start to expire in 2022. The Company also had Australian NOL of $1.6 million that can be carried forward indefinitely.

Tax laws impose restrictions on the utilization of NOL carryforwards and research and development credit carryforwards in the event of a change in
ownership of the Company as defined by Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383. The Company has experienced ownership changes in the past that
impact the availability of its net operating losses and tax credits. Should there be additional ownership changes in the future, the Company's ability to utilize
existing carryforwards could be substantially restricted.

A summary of changes to the amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
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 Year Ended December 31,
 2021  2020
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 610 $ 610 
Increase (decrease) for positions taken in the prior year — — 
Increase (decrease) for positions taken in the current year 141 — 
Decrease related to settlements with taxing authorities — — 
Decrease from lapse in statute of limitations — — 

Balance at the end of the year $ 751 $ 610 

The Company records a tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained with the taxing
authority having full knowledge of all relevant information. The Company records a reduction to deferred tax assets for unrecognized tax benefits from
uncertain tax positions as discrete tax adjustments in the first period that the more-likely-than-not threshold is not met. As of December 31, 2020, the
Company recorded unrecognized tax benefits of $0.6 million in its financial statements. For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company recorded
unrecognized tax benefits of $0.8 million. All unrecognized tax benefits are related to foreign withholding taxes on the Company’s licensing revenue.

The reversal of the uncertain tax benefits would affect the effective tax rate. The Company has not incurred any material interest or penalties as of the
current reporting period with respect to income tax matters. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions in
income tax expense. We estimate that $0.1 million of the unrecognized tax benefits will be recognized over the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2021 and
2020, there were no material interest and penalties associated with unrecognized tax benefits recorded in the Company's consolidated statements of operations
or consolidated balance sheets.

The Company is subject to examinations by taxing authorities for income tax returns filed in the U.S. federal and states as well as foreign
jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to income tax examination by the U.S. federal, state or local tax authorities for years ended December 31,
2016 or prior; however, its tax attributes, such as NOL carryforwards and tax credits, are still subject to examination in the year they are used. In our foreign
tax jurisdictions, the statute of limitation for tax years after 2015 remain open for examinations in Australia, and for tax years after 2019 in the UK.

16. Net Loss Per Share

The following table presents the reconciliation of weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted:

 
Year Ended

December 31,
 2021  2020

Net loss attributable to PLBY Group Inc. $ (77,676) $ (5,271)

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding 37,818,301 22,199,591 
Vested restricted stock units not issued 287,435 — 

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share, basic and diluted 38,105,736 22,199,591 

Net loss per share basic and diluted $ (2.04) $ (0.24)

The following outstanding potentially dilutive shares have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share due to their anti-dilutive
effect:

 
Year Ended

December 31,
 2021  2020
Stock options to purchase common stock 3,211,071 2,594,597 
Unvested restricted stock units 585,075 313,976 
Unvested performance-based restricted stock units 544,036 — 
Convertible promissory notes — 684,615 

Total 4,340,182 3,593,188 
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17. Business Combinations

Acquisition of TLA Acquisition Corp.

On March 1, 2021, we acquired 100% of the equity of TLA Acquisition Corp. (“TLA”) for cash consideration of $24.9 million. TLA is the parent
company of the Lovers family of stores, a leading omnichannel online and brick-and-mortar sexual wellness chain, with 40 stores in five states. The primary
drivers for the acquisition were to leverage TLA’s brick-and-mortar presence, e-commerce capabilities, attractive brand positioning and customer database.

The following table sets forth the final allocation of the purchase price for TLA to the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed from TLA (in thousands):

Tangible net assets and liabilities:
Inventory $ 7,61
Property and equipment 1,66
Accounts payable (1,31
Other net assets (3,51

Total net assets 4,44
Intangible assets:

Trade name 4,10
Total intangible assets 4,10

Net assets acquired 8,54
Purchase consideration 24,91

Goodwill $ 16,37

The estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired was determined by our management. TLA’s inventory consists of merchandise finished
goods and its fair value was measured as net realizable value, or the selling price of the inventory less costs of disposal and a reasonable profit allowance for
the selling effort. Trade name consists of the TLA trade name/domain and its fair value was estimated using a relief-from-royalty method. The useful life of
the TLA trade name was estimated to be ten years. Unfavorable leasehold interest is due to the fair values of acquired lease contracts having contractual rents
higher than fair market rents. This liability will be wound down as an offset to rent expense over a four-year period, which is the average remaining
contractual life of the acquired leases. The unfavorable leasehold interest liability is included in the other net assets amount in the table above.

The net updates to the estimated purchase price allocation in the fourth quarter of 2021 were immaterial. The total acquisition consideration was
greater than the fair value of the net assets acquired resulting in the recognition of goodwill of $16.4 million. The factors that make up the goodwill amount
primarily pertain to the value of the expected synergies resulting in strengthening and expansion of our e-commerce and brick-and-mortar market positions.
Although this TLA acquisition does not give rise to any new tax deductible goodwill, TLA has tax deductible goodwill of $19.0 million from a previous
acquisition.

TLA’s operating results were consolidated with ours beginning on March 1, 2021. Therefore, the consolidated results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2021 may not be comparable to the same periods in 2020. TLA’s results of operations included in our consolidated results of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2021 are presented in the table below (in thousands):

Net revenues $ 44,73
Costs and expenses

Cost of sales (19,12
Selling and administrative expenses (22,73

Total costs and expenses (41,85
Operating income 2,88
Nonoperating income
Income taxes expense (2

Net income $ 2,86
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Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following table summarizes certain of our supplemental pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, as if
the acquisition of TLA had occurred as of January 1, 2020. The unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020
reflects (i) the reduction in amortization expense based on fair value adjustments to the intangible assets acquired from TLA; (ii) the reduction in rent expense
due to the amortization of unfavorable leasehold interest acquired from TLA; and (iii) the reversal of interest expense on TLA’s debt that was settled on the
acquisition date. For the year ended December 31, 2021, transaction costs incurred by us and TLA were $0.9 million and $0.7 million, respectively. The
unaudited pro forma financial information is for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition
been made at that date or of results which may occur in the future (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

As Reported Pro Forma As Reported Pro Forma
Net revenues $ 246,586 $ 255,435 $ 147,662 $ 186,612 
Net loss $ (77,676) $ (76,264) $ (5,271) $ (12,717)

Acquisition of Honey Birdette

On June 28, 2021, we entered into a Share Purchase Agreement to acquire Honey Birdette, a company organized under the laws of Australia.
Pursuant to the SPA, on August 9, 2021, we acquired all of the capital stock of Honey Birdette. Aggregate consideration for the acquisition consisted of
approximately $233.4 million in cash and 2,155,849 shares of our common stock. The Closing Date per share price of our common stock of $26.57 resulted in
total consideration transferred of $288.8 million. As a result of the transaction, Honey Birdette became our indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary.

On August 19, 2021, an additional 4,412 shares of Company common stock were issued to the Honey Birdette sellers pursuant to the terms of the
FY21 true-up under the SPA.

The acquisition of the luxury lingerie brand Honey Birdette, with 58 stores across three continents (59 stores as of December 31, 2021), expands our
brand portfolio with a new high-end franchise, and provides us with product design, sourcing and direct-to-consumer capabilities that we believe can be
leveraged to accelerate the growth of our core apparel and sexual wellness businesses.

The following table presents the fair value of the consideration transferred in the acquisition of Honey Birdette (in thousands) at the closing of the
acquisition. The amounts initially reported in Australian dollars, were translated into U.S. dollars using an exchange rate of $0.7356 as of the Closing Date.

Cash consideration $ 233,441 
Stock consideration:

Transferred shares 29,889 
Lock-up shares 25,460 

Total consideration transferred $ 288,790 

 The fair value of approximately 1,124,919 shares of common stock of the Company transferred to the sellers based on a price of $26.57 per share at closing.
The fair value of approximately 1,030,930 shares of common stock of the Company issued and held at the Company’s transfer agent account based on a
price of $26.57 per share at closing, and true-up adjustments representing a fair value of the settlement at closing based on Honey Birdette’s fiscal year 2021
EBITDA results and price per share of $26.57 at Closing, as well as fiscal year 2022 forecasted revenue. The fiscal year 2021 EBITDA and Closing true-up
resulted in 4,412 shares of our common stock being issued to the Honey Birdette sellers on August 19, 2021.

The lock-up shares are subject to post-closing true-up adjustments, where, following the closing, the Honey Birdette sellers are entitled to the
issuance of additional shares of Company common stock in the event that Honey Birdette’s financial results for each of its 2021 and 2022 fiscal years exceed
certain financial targets set forth in the SPA (each a “true-up”). In the event that Honey Birdette fails to achieve certain financial results for its 2021 and 2022
fiscal years as set forth in the SPA, a portion of the stock consideration may be canceled in accordance with the terms of the SPA.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2) 
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The fair value of the lock-up shares and FY22 true-up adjustment was recorded as a contingent liability in current liabilities. The acquisition-date fair
value of the contingent consideration liability to be settled in a variable number of shares was determined based on the likelihood of issuing stock related to
the contingent earn-out clauses, as part of the consideration transferred. For contingent consideration to be settled in common stock, we use public market data
to determine the fair value of the shares as of the acquisition date and on an ongoing basis. See Note 2, Fair Value Measurements, for subsequent
measurements of these contingent liabilities.

The following table sets forth the final allocation of the purchase price for Honey Birdette to the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Honey Birdette (in thousands):

Net assets and liabilities:
Cash $ 3,950 
Inventory 16,015 
Property and equipment 5,185 
Other tangible net assets (liabilities) (12,243)
Unfavorable leasehold interest, net (1,690)
Trade name 77,238 
Deferred tax liability (23,046)

Total net assets acquired 65,409 
Purchase consideration 288,790 

Goodwill $ 223,381 

The estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired was determined by our management. Honey Birdette’s inventory consists of
merchandise finished goods, and its fair value was measured as net realizable value, or the selling price of the inventory less costs of disposal and a reasonable
profit allowance for the selling effort. Trade name consists of the Honey Birdette trade name/domain, and its fair value was estimated using a relief-from-
royalty method. The useful life of the Honey Birdette trade name was estimated to be 12 years. Unfavorable leasehold interest, net is due to the fair values of
acquired lease contracts having contractual rents higher than fair market rents. This liability will be wound down as an offset to rent expense over the
remaining contractual life of the acquired leases.

The updates to the estimated purchase price allocation in the fourth quarter of 2021 were primarily due to a decrease in inventory step up adjustment.
The total acquisition consideration was greater than the fair value of the net assets acquired resulting in the recognition of goodwill of $223.4 million. The
factors that make up the goodwill amount primarily pertain to the value of the expected synergies resulting in strengthening and expansion of our e-commerce
and brick-and-mortar market positions.

The acquisition was a tax-free acquisition as we acquired the carryover tax basis of Honey Birdette’s assets and liabilities. As a result of the
acquisition, we acquired estimated deferred tax liabilities of $23.0 million.

Honey Birdette’s operating results are consolidated with our operating results beginning on August 9, 2021. Therefore, our consolidated results of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 may not be comparable to the same period in 2020. Honey Birdette’s results of operations included in our
consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 are presented in the table below (in thousands):

Net revenues $ 32,288 
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales (14,445)
Selling and administrative expenses (17,341)

Total costs and expenses (31,786)
Operating income 502 
Nonoperating income 559 
Benefit (expense) from income taxes 2,162 

Net income $ 3,223 
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Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following table summarizes certain of our supplemental pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, as if
the acquisition of Honey Birdette had occurred as of January 1, 2020. The unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2021
and 2020 reflects (i) the increase in amortization expense based on fair value adjustments to the intangible assets acquired from Honey Birdette; (ii) the
reduction in rent expense due to the amortization of unfavorable leasehold interest, net acquired from Honey Birdette; (iii) interest expense associated with the
borrowing of an additional $70.0 million under our New Credit Agreement used to partially finance the acquisition; (iv) amortization of the inventory fair
value step-up adjustment; (v) tax adjustments calculated using an estimated blended statutory rate of 27.55% based on the predominant taxable jurisdictions of
Honey Birdette; and (vi) certain adjustments to convert Honey Birdette’s consolidated income statements from IFRS to U.S. GAAP. Transaction costs
incurred by us and Honey Birdette during the year ended December 31, 2021 were $9.0 million and $12.9 million, respectively. The unaudited pro forma
financial information is for comparative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what would have occurred had the acquisition been made at that
date or of results which may occur in the future (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

As Reported Pro Forma As Reported Pro Forma
Net revenues $ 246,586 $ 292,708 $ 147,662 $ 201,524 
Net loss $ (77,676) $ (67,772) $ (5,271) $ (15,931)

Acquisition of GlowUp

On October 22, 2021, we completed the acquisition (the “GlowUp Merger”) of GlowUp Digital Inc., a Delaware corporation (“GlowUp”), pursuant
to that certain Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 15, 2021 (the “GlowUp Agreement”), by and among the Company, PB Global Merger Sub
Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Dream Merger Sub”), GlowUp and Michael Dow, solely in his capacity as
representative of the holders of the outstanding shares of GlowUp’s common stock and of the holders of the outstanding SAFEs (Simple Agreements for
Future Equity) issued by GlowUp. At the effective time of the GlowUp Merger, the separate corporate existence of Dream Merger Sub ceased, and GlowUp
survived the GlowUp Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company under the name “Centerfold Digital Inc” ("Centerfold").

At the closing of the GlowUp Merger, in accordance with the terms of the GlowUp Agreement, including certain adjustments to the GlowUp Merger
consideration determined as of the closing, (i) holders of GlowUp’s equity securities that are accredited investors became entitled to receive, in the aggregate,
548,034 shares of the Company’s common stock and (ii) holders of GlowUp equity securities that are non-accredited investors became entitled to receive, in
the aggregate, $342,308 in cash. Pursuant to the GlowUp Agreement, the number of GlowUp Merger consideration shares was determined based on a price
per share of $23.4624, which was the volume weighted average closing price per share of the Company’s common stock on the Nasdaq Global Market over
the 10 consecutive trading day period ending on (and including) the trading day immediately preceding the execution of the GlowUp Agreement (i.e., October
14, 2021), representing aggregate closing consideration of approximately $13.2 million. In addition, $0.8 million in transaction expenses were paid by the
Company on behalf of the sellers as of closing. Contingent consideration of up to an additional 664,311 shares of our stock and $0.4 million in cash in the
aggregate may be issued or paid (as applicable) to GlowUp’s equity holders upon the release of the portion thereof held back in respect of indemnification
obligations or the satisfaction of performance criteria, as applicable, pursuant to the terms of the GlowUp Agreement. The fair value of contingent
consideration at closing was valued at $18.1 million, $9.2 million of which was classified as equity and $8.9 million was recorded in current liabilities. The
closing date per share price of the Company’s common stock of $27.60 resulted in total consideration transferred valued at $34.4 million at closing.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the total consideration transferred in the acquisition of GlowUp at the closing of the acquisition (in
thousands).

Cash consideration (including transaction expenses paid for sellers) $ 1,142 
Stock consideration 15,126 
Contingent consideration 18,097 

Total consideration transferred $ 34,365 

The acquisition-date fair value of the contingent consideration to be settled in shares or paid in cash (as applicable) to GlowUp’s equity holders upon
the release of the portion thereof held back in respect of indemnification obligations or the satisfaction of performance criteria was determined based on the
likelihood of issuing stock or paying cash related to the contingent clauses, as part of the consideration transferred. For contingent consideration to be settled
in common stock, we use public market data to determine the fair value of the shares as of the acquisition date and on an ongoing basis. See Note 2, Fair
Value Measurements, for subsequent measurements of these contingent liabilities.
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The following table sets forth the preliminary allocation of the purchase price for GlowUp to the fair value of the identifiable tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed from GlowUp (in thousands):

Net assets and liabilities:
Developed technology $ 2,300 
Deferred tax liability (538)

Total net assets acquired 1,762 
Purchase consideration 34,365 

Goodwill $ 32,603 

The estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired was determined by our management. Developed technology has a useful life of three
years.

The total acquisition consideration was greater than the fair value of the net assets acquired resulting in the recognition of goodwill of $32.6 million.
The factors that make up the goodwill amount primarily pertain to the value of the expected synergies resulting in strengthening and expansion of our digital
subscription positions.

The acquisition was a tax-free acquisition as we acquired the carryover tax basis of GlowUp’s assets and liabilities. As a result of the acquisition, we
recorded estimated deferred tax liabilities of $0.5 million. Our estimate is preliminary and is subject to finalization and adjustment, which could be material,
during the measurement period of up to one year from the acquisition date. During the measurement period, we will adjust the estimate if new information is
obtained about facts or circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have changed the estimate.

Centerfold’s operating results are consolidated with our operating results beginning on October 22, 2021. Therefore, our consolidated results of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 may not be comparable to the same period in 2020. Centerfold’s results of operations included in our
consolidated results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 did not have a material impact on our consolidated results of operations.

18. Accrued Salaries, Wages, and Employee Benefits

Our US Employee Investment Savings Plan is a defined-contribution plan consisting of two components: a 401(k) plan and a profit-sharing plan.
Eligible employees may participate in our 401(k) plan upon their date of hire. The 401(k) plan offers several mutual fund investment options. The purchase of
our stock has never been an option. We make matching contributions to the 401(k) plan based on each participating employee’s contributions and eligible
compensation. The matching contribution expense related to this plan was $0.9 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. We are also party to an Australian contribution plan that requires contributions based on a percentage of annual compensation. Contributions to
these plans totaled $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The profit-sharing plan covers all employees who have completed 12 months of service or at least 1,000 hours. Our discretionary contribution to the
profit-sharing plan is distributed to each eligible employee’s account in an amount equal to the ratio of each eligible employee’s compensation, subject to
Internal Revenue Service limitations, to the total compensation paid to all such employees. We did not make any contributions to the plan during the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

19. Related Party Transactions

During 2011, we entered into a management agreement with an affiliate of one of our stockholders for management and consulting services. Based
on the terms of this agreement, management fees were $1.0 million per calendar year. We terminated this agreement in the first quarter of 2021 upon
consummation of the Business Combination. We recorded management fees of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, and $0.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2021. There were no amounts due to or due from this affiliate as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

20. Segments

We have three reportable segments: Licensing, Direct-to-Consumer, and Digital Subscriptions and Content. The Licensing segment derives revenue
from trademark licenses for third-party consumer products and location-based entertainment businesses. The Direct-to-Consumer segment derives revenue
from sales of consumer products sold through third-party retailers, online direct-to-customer or brick-and-mortar through our recently acquired sexual
wellness chain, Lovers, with 41 stores in five states (40 stores as of December 31, 2021), and lingerie company, Honey Birdette, with 58 stores in three
countries, as disclosed in Note 17, Business Combinations (59 stores as of December 31, 2021). The Digital Subscriptions and Content segment derives
revenue from the subscription of Playboy programming that is distributed through various channels, including websites and domestic and international
television, from trademark licenses for online gaming and from sales of tokenized digital art and collectibles.
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Our Chief Executive Officer is our Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”). Segment information is presented in the same manner that our
CODM reviews the operating results in assessing performance and allocating resources. Total asset information is not included in the tables below as it is not
provided to and reviewed by our CODM. The “All Other” line items in the tables below are primarily attributable to Playboy magazine and brand marketing
and these segments do not meet the quantitative threshold for determining reportable segments. We discontinued publishing Playboy magazine in the first
quarter of 2020. The “Corporate” line item in the tables below includes certain operating expenses that are not allocated to the reporting segments presented to
our CODM. These expenses include legal, human resources, accounting/finance, information technology and facilities. The accounting policies of the
reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 1, Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The following table sets forth financial information by reportable segment (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
 2021  2020
Net revenues:
Licensing $ 64,021 $ 61,142 
Direct-to-consumer 147,848 64,116 
Digital subscriptions and content 33,756 20,913 
All other 961 1,491 

Total $ 246,586 $ 147,662 

Operating income (loss):
Licensing $ 47,477 $ 44,466 
Licensing (2,836) (752)
Direct-to-consumer 7,882 9,478 
Digital subscriptions and content (121,955) (38,462)
All other 580 (1,118)

Total $ (68,852) $ 13,612 

Depreciation and amortization:
Licensing $ (284) $ (606)
Licensing (4,710) (402)
Direct-to-consumer (297) (240)
Digital subscriptions and content (2,000) (808)
All other — (203)

Total $ (7,291) $ (2,259)

Goodwill:
Licensing $ — $ — 
Direct-to-consumer 237,470 — 
Digital subscriptions and content 33,107 504 
Total $ 270,577 $ 504 

Geographic Information

Revenue by geography is based on where the customer is located. Long-lived assets, net includes property and equipment, net and operating lease
right-of-use assets. The following tables set forth revenue and long-lived assets, net by geographic area as of and for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020 (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,
Net revenues: 2021 2020
China $ 43,535 $ 42,569 
United States 152,410 76,365 
Australia 21,379 4 
UK 6,156 5,077 
Other 23,106 23,647 

Total $ 246,586 $ 147,662 
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December 31,
Long-lived assets: 2021 2020
Australia $ 6,767 $ — 
United States 57,401 5,203 
Other 1,023 — 

Total $ 65,191 $ 5,203 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls
and procedures as of December 31, 2021. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated
to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives.

Based on the evaluation performed as of December 31, 2021, as a result of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting that
are described below in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
determined that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of such date.

Management’s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, its Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and effected by such company's board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over
financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company's annual or interim consolidated financial statements
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the framework set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the
Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 due to the material weaknesses described below.
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Excluded Acquisitions

Management’s evaluation of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 excluded an evaluation of the internal control over
financial reporting of our 2021 acquisitions identified below, as we continue to integrate certain business processes and systems of the acquired businesses.
Accordingly, certain changes have been made and will continue to be made to our internal control over financial reporting until such integration is complete.
In reliance on interpretive guidance issued by the SEC, management has chosen to exclude from its assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, internal control over financial reporting for the acquired companies identified below as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2021, and will include its assessment of internal control over financial reporting for such acquired businesses in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. The excluded acquisitions are:

a. TLA Acquisition Corp., which we acquired in March 2021. TLA's total revenues of $44.7 million, or 18% of our consolidated revenues, and total
assets of $36.4 million, or 4% of our consolidated total assets, are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021.

b. Honey Birdette (Aust.) Pty Ltd, which we acquired in August 2021. Honey Birdette’s total revenues of $32.3 million, or 13% of our consolidated
revenues, and total assets of $327.6 million, or 35% of our consolidated total assets, are included in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021

c. GlowUp Digital Inc. (subsequently renamed Centerfold Digital Inc.), which we acquired in October 2021. Centerfold’s total revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2021, included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries were immaterial and total assets
were $34.9 million, or 4% of our consolidated total assets, as of December 31, 2021.

Material Weaknesses in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management has determined that the Company had the following material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting:

Control Environment, Risk Assessment, and Monitoring

We did not maintain appropriately designed entity-level controls impacting the control environment, risk assessment procedures, and effective
monitoring controls to prevent or detect material misstatements to the consolidated financial statements. These deficiencies were attributed to: (i) lack of
structure and responsibility, insufficient number of qualified resources and inadequate oversight and accountability over the performance of controls, (ii)
ineffective identification and assessment of risks impacting internal control over financial reporting, and (iii) ineffective evaluation and determination as to
whether the components of internal control were present and functioning.

Control Activities and Information and Communication

These material weaknesses contributed to the following additional material weaknesses within certain business processes and the information
technology environment:

• We did not fully design, implement and monitor general information technology controls in the areas of program change management, user
access, and segregation of duties for systems supporting substantially all of the Company’s internal control processes. Accordingly, the Company
did not have automated process-level controls, and manual controls that are dependent upon the information derived from the IT systems are also
determined to be ineffective.

• We did not design and implement, and retain appropriate documentation of formal accounting policies, procedures and controls across
substantially all of the Company’s business processes to achieve timely, complete, accurate financial accounting, reporting, and disclosures.
Additionally, we did not design and implement controls maintained at the corporate level which are at a sufficient level of precision to provide
for the appropriate level of oversight of business process activities and related controls.

• We did not appropriately design and implement management review controls at a sufficient level of precision around complex accounting areas
and disclosure including business combinations, income tax, digital assets, stock-based compensation and lease accounting.

• We did not appropriately design and implement controls over the existence, accuracy, completeness, and cutoff of inventory.

Further, although management did not conduct a formal assessment of internal controls over financial reporting, in connection with the integration of
our 2021 acquisitions, as well as during the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, management has identified
material weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting relating to our 2021 acquisitions:
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• We did not fully design, implement and monitor general information technology controls in the areas of program change management, user
access, and segregation of duties for systems supporting substantially all of the Company’s internal control processes related to our 2021
acquisitions.

• We did not design and implement, and retain appropriate documentation of formal accounting policies, procedures and controls across
substantially all of the Company’s business processes related to our 2021 acquisitions to achieve timely, complete, accurate financial accounting,
reporting, and disclosures.

• We did not appropriately design and implement controls over the existence, accuracy, completeness, and cutoff of inventory related to our 2021
acquisitions.

Although these material weaknesses did not result in any material misstatement of our consolidated financial statements for the periods presented,
they could lead to a material misstatement of account balances or disclosures. Accordingly, management has concluded that these control deficiencies
constitute material weaknesses.

Remediation Efforts

We have begun the process of, and we are focused on, designing and implementing effective internal controls measures to improve our internal
control over financial reporting and remediate the material weaknesses. Our internal control remediation efforts include the following:

• We hired additional qualified accounting resources and outside resources to segregate key functions within our financial and information
technology processes supporting our internal controls over financial reporting.

• We are in the process of reassessing and formalizing the design of certain accounting and information technology policies relating to security
and change management controls.

• We engaged an outside firm to assist management with (i) reviewing our current processes, procedures, and systems and assessing the design of
controls to identify opportunities to enhance the design of controls that would address relevant risks identified by management, and (ii)
enhancing and implementing protocols to retain sufficient documentary evidence of operating effectiveness of such controls.

In addition to implementing and refining the above activities, we expect to engage in additional remediation activities in fiscal year 2022, including:

• Continuing to enhance and formalize our accounting, business operations, and information technology policies, procedures, and controls to
achieve complete, accurate, and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures.

• Complete the implementation of our new enterprise reporting software and other system integrations, and establish effective general controls
over these systems to ensure that our automated process level controls and information produced and maintained in our IT systems is relevant
and reliable

• Implementation of a new warehouse management system, and redesigning certain inventory process controls to increase the level of precision.

• Designing and implementing controls that address the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the performance of controls over
accounting transactions and disclosures.

• Enhancing policies and procedures to retain adequate documentary evidence for certain management review controls over certain business
processes including precision of review and evidence of review procedures performed to demonstrate effective operation of such controls.

• Developing monitoring controls and protocols that will allow us to timely assess the design and the operating effectiveness of controls over
financial reporting and make necessary changes to the design of controls, if any.

While these actions and planned actions are subject to ongoing management evaluation and will require validation and testing of the design and
operating effectiveness of internal controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, we are committed to the continuous improvement of our
internal control over financial reporting and will continue to diligently review our internal control over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our independent registered public accounting firm, BDO USA, LLP, as auditor of our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for material weaknesses as described above in this Item 9A, and the ongoing integration, of TLA, Honey Birdette GlowUp, there have been
no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during our fourth quarter
ended December 31, 2021, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely.
Accordingly, any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable,
not absolute assurances. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to
monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate for our business, but there can be no assurance that such improvements will be sufficient
to provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors
PLBY Group, Inc.
Los Angeles, California

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited PLBY Group, Inc.’s (the “Company’s”) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”).
In our opinion, the Company did not maintain, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on
the COSO criteria.

We do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance on management’s statements referring to any corrective actions taken by the Company after the
date of management’s assessment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”), the consolidated
balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as “the consolidated financial statements”) and our report dated March 16, 2022
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying “Item 9A, Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting”. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As indicated in the accompanying “Item 9A, Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting”, management’s assessment of and
conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of TLA Acquisition Corp. (“TLA”), Honey
Birdette (Aust.) Pty Limited (“Honey Birdette”) and GlowUp Digital Inc. (“GlowUp”), which were acquired on March 1, 2021, August 9, 2021 and October
22, 2021, respectively, and which are included in the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2021, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended. TLA, Honey Birdette and GlowUp constituted 4%,
35% and 4% of total assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2021, and 18%, 13% and 0% of total revenues, respectively, for the year ended December 31,
2021. Management did not assess the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of TLA, Honey Birdette and GlowUp because of the timing of
the acquisitions. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial
reporting of TLA, Honey Birdette and GlowUp.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Material weaknesses
have been identified and described in management’s assessment. These material weaknesses related to management’s failure to design and maintain effective
controls over financial reporting, specifically related to the following: (1) entity-level controls impacting the control environment, risk assessment procedures,
and monitoring controls to prevent or detect material misstatements to the consolidated financial statements; (2) general information technology controls
related to program change management, user access, and segregation of duties for systems supporting substantially all of the Company’s internal control
processes; (3) documentation of formal accounting policies, procedures and controls across all business processes as well as design and maintenance of
controls at the corporate level at a sufficient level of precision; (4) design and implementation of management review controls at a sufficient level of precision
over complex accounting areas and related disclosures, including business combinations, income tax, digital assets, stock-based compensation, and lease
accounting; and, (5) the design and implementation of controls over the existence, accuracy, completeness and cutoff of inventory.

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2021 consolidated financial
statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 16, 2022, on those consolidated financial statements.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Los Angeles, California

March 16, 2022

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.

107



PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to our directors, executive officers and corporate governance will be included in the proxy statement for the 2022 annual
meeting of the Company’s stockholders (or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K), which is expected to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal
year end, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information relating to the compensation of our executive officers and directors will be included in the proxy statement for the 2022 annual meeting
of the Company’s stockholders (or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K), which is expected to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information relating to the ownership of our securities by certain beneficial owners and our management and related stockholder matters will be
included in the proxy statement for the 2022 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders (or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K), which is
expected to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information relating to related party transactions and director independence will be included in the proxy statement for the 2022 annual meeting of the
Company’s stockholders (or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K), which is expected to be filed within 120 days of our fiscal year end, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information relating to the principal accounting services provided to the Company and the fees for such services will be included in the proxy
statement for the 2022 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders (or an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K), which is expected to be filed
within 120 days of our fiscal year end, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

    (a)    The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1.    Consolidated Financial Statements: See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” at “Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data” herein.

(b)    Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules. All schedules are omitted for the reason that the information is included in the consolidated
financial statements or the notes thereto or that they are not required or are not applicable.

(c)    Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index below are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit Index

Exhibit No.  Description
2.1*

 
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 30, 2020, by and among Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp, MCAC Merger Sub Inc.,
Suying Liu and Playboy Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Annex A to MCAC’s Preliminary Proxy Statement file with the
SEC on November 9, 2020).

2.2* Share Purchase Agreement, dated June 28, 2021, by and among PLBY Group, Inc., PLBY Australia Pty Ltd, Honey Birdette (Aust) Pty
Limited, the sellers party thereto, and Ray Itaoui, as the sellers’ representative (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of PLBY’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 29, 2021)

3.1  Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of PLBY Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of PLBY’s
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021)

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of PLBY Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
February 16, 2021)

4.1 Description of registered securities.
10.1

 
Form of Subscription Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2020, by and among Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp and certain
institutional and accredited investors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of MCAC’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 1, 2020).

10.2
 

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2020, by and among Mountain Crest Acquisition Corp and certain
institutional and accredited investors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of MCAC’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on October 1, 2020).

10.3
 

Form of Support Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2020, by and among Playboy Enterprises, Inc., officers and directors of Mountain
Crest Acquisition Corp, Sunlight Global Investment LLC, Suying Liu and Dong Liu (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of MCAC’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 1, 2020).

10.4

 

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2021, by and among PLBY Group, Inc., Suying Liu,
Dong Liu, Nelson Haight, Todd Milbourn, Wenhua Zhang, RT-ICON Holdings LLC, and each of the other shareholders of Playboy
Enterprises, Inc. whose names are listed on Exhibit A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.5  Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2021, by and among PLBY Group, Inc. and RT-ICON Holdings LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.6  Form of Lock-Up Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of MCAC’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
October 1, 2020).

10.7  Voting Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2021, by and among PLBY Group, Inc., RT-ICON Holdings LLC and Drawbridge Special
Opportunities Fund LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.8†  PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.9 Letter Agreement, dated June 4, 2020 by and between MCAC and Sunlight Global Investment LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 of MCAC’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 1, 2020).
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Exhibit No.  Description
10.10 Investment Management Trust Agreement, dated June 4, 2020 by and between MCAC and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of MCAC’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 10, 2020).
10.11 Consent to Merger Transaction and Wavier to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2020, by and among Products Licensing LLC,

Playboy Enterprises International, Inc., Playboy Enterprises, Inc., and Yandy Enterprises LLC (f/k/a Y Acquisition Co. LLC), DBD Credit
Funding LLC, as Administrative Agent, and the Lenders whose signatories are affixed hereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30
of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.12 Agreement, dated January 10, 2021, by and between Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and CAA Brand Management, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 of PLBY’s Form S-1 (333-255585) filed with the SEC on April 28, 2021).

10.13 Form of Unit Purchase Option between MCAC and Chardan Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of MCAC’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-238320) filed with the SEC on May 15, 2020).

10.14 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated September 30, 2020, by and among Sunlight Global Investment LLC, Suying Liu and Playboy
Enterprises, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of MCAC’s Form S-1/A filed with the SEC on February 4, 2021).

10.15  Credit Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2014, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding LLC, administrative agent, and
the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.16
 

First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 7, 2016, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding LLC,
as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 16, 2021).

10.17
 

Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 29, 2016, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding
LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.18
 

Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20, 2017, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding LLC,
as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 16, 2021).

10.19 Fourth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2018, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding
LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.20 Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 14, 2018, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding LLC,
as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 16, 2021).

10.21 Sixth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2018, by and among Products Licensing LLC, DBD Credit Funding
LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.22 Seventh Amendment and Joinder to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 24, 2018, by and among Products Licensing LLC,
Playboy Enterprises International, Inc., Playboy Enterprises, Inc., DBD Credit Funding LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.23 Eighth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of March 15, 2019, by and among Products Licensing LLC, Playboy Enterprises
International, Inc., Playboy Enterprises, Inc., DBD Credit Funding LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 17, 2021).

10.24 Ninth Amendment and Joinder to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2019, by and among Products Licensing LLC, Playboy
Enterprises International, Inc., Playboy Enterprises, Inc., Y Acquisition Co. LLC, China Products Licensing, LLC., DBD Credit Funding
LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.25 Tenth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of March 27, 2020, by and among Products Licensing LLC, Playboy Enterprises
International, Inc., Playboy Enterprises, Inc., Y Acquisition Co. LLC, China Products Licensing, LLC, Yandy Enterprises LLC., DBD
Credit Funding LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of PLBY’s Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.26 Eleventh Amendment to the Credit Agreement and Waiver, dated as of January 4, 2021, by and among Products Licensing LLC, Playboy
Enterprises International, Inc., Playboy Enterprises, Inc., Y Acquisition Co. LLC, China Products Licensing, LLC, Yandy Enterprises
LLC., DBD Credit Funding LLC, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of
PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
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Exhibit No.  Description
10.27 Commercial-Industrial Triple Net Lease, dated as of August 26, 2020, by and between Yandy Enterprises, LLC and 67 VB Owner, LP

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.28† Offer Letter, dated as of December 20, 2012, by and between Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and David Israel, as amended on February 8, 2021

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.29† Employment Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2021, by and between Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and Ben Kohn (as assumed by PLBY

Group, Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.30† Employment Agreement, dated as of February 10, 2021, by and between Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and Chris Riley (as assumed by PLBY

Group, Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.31† Offer Letter, dated as of January 23, 2021, by and between Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and Florus Beuting, as amended on February 8, 2021

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.32† Form of Indemnification Agreement, by and between PLBY Group, Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.26 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.33† PLBY Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, effective February 10, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27

of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
10.34+ Product License Agreement, effective as of December 6, 2019, by and between Playboy Enterprises International, Inc. and New Handong

Investment (Guangdong) Co., Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16,
2021).

10.35+ First Amendment, effective as of June 18, 2020, to the Product License Agreement, effective as of December 6, 2019, by and between
Playboy Enterprises International, Inc. and New Handong Investment (Guangdong) Co., Ltd (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of
PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.36† Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2021, between PLBY Group, Inc. and Lance Barton (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.31 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.37† Form of Option/RSU Acknowledgement and Lock-up Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.38† Playboy Enterprises, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on February 16, 2021).

10.39† Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under Playboy Enterprises, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.34 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).

10.40*+ Form of Aircraft Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on April 7, 2021).

10.41 Letter Agreement, dated July 22, 2020, by and between MCAC and Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.41 of PLBY’s Form S-1 (333-255585) filed with the SEC on April 28, 2021).

10.42 Joinder Agreement, dated September 30, 2020, by and among MCAC, Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC and Roth Capital Partners LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 of PLBY’s Form S-1 (333-255585) filed with the SEC on April 28, 2021).

10.43 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2021, entered into by and among Playboy Enterprises, Inc., the Company and certain
subsidiaries of the Company, the lenders party thereto, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 25, 2021).

10.44 Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of May 25, 2021, entered into by and among Playboy Enterprises, Inc., the Company and certain
subsidiaries of the Company, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 25, 2021).

10.45 Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of August 11, 2021, by and among PLBY, Playboy Enterprises, Inc., each
guarantor party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Acquiom Agency Services LLC, as the administrative agent and the collateral agent
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 11, 2021).

10.46* Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 31, 2021, by and between Playboy Enterprises, Inc. and TLA Acquisition Corp. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of PLBY' sForm 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 13, 2021).

10.47* Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated October 15, 2021, by and among PLBY Group, Inc., PB Global Merger Sub Inc., GlowUp Digital
Inc. and Michael Dow, solely as representative of the stockholders of GlowUp Digital Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
PLBY's Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2021).
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Exhibit No.  Description
10.48 Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan.
10.49 Form of Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan.
10.50 Form of Non-Employee Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan.
10.51 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation

Plan.
14.1 Code of Conduct and Ethics, adopted by PLBY Group, Inc.’s board of directors on February 10, 2021 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 14.1 of PLBY’s Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
16.1 Letter from Marcum LLP to the SEC, dated as of February 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 of PLBY's Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on February 16, 2021).
16.2 Letter from Prager Metis CPAs LLP to the SEC, dated as of July 9, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 of PLBY's Form 8-K

filed with the SEC on July 9, 2021).
21.1 List of subsidiaries of PLBY Group, Inc.
23.1 Consent of Prager Metis CPAs LLP.
23.2 Consent of BDO USA, LLP.
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page).
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1^ Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2^ Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley

Act of 2002.
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit
will be furnished to the SEC upon request.

† Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.

+ Certain confidential portions (indicated by brackets and asterisks) have been omitted from this exhibit pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) or 601(b)(10) of
Regulation S-K, as applicable. The Company agrees to furnish to the SEC a copy of any omitted portions of the exhibit upon request.

^    This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), or otherwise subject
to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Exchange Act.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PLBY GROUP, INC.

Date: March 16, 2022 By: /s/ Ben Kohn
Name: Ben Kohn
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

(Principal executive officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Ben Kohn and Lance Barton and
each or any one of them, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and
stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all
intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or
his substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ Ben Kohn Chief Executive Officer, President and Director March 16, 2022
Ben Kohn (Principal executive officer)

/s/ Lance Barton Chief Financial Officer March 16, 2022
Lance Barton (Principal financial officer)

/s/ Florus Beuting Chief Accounting Officer March 16, 2022
Florus Beuting (Principal accounting officer)

/s/ Suhail Rizvi Director March 16, 2022
Suhail Rizvi

/s/ Tracey Edmonds Director March 16, 2022
Tracey Edmonds

/s/ James Yaffe Director March 16, 2022
James Yaffe
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Exhibit 10.48

PLBY GROUP, INC.
NOTICE OF GRANT OF NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION

(Employees General Form)

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants to Optionee an Option Right (the “Option”) to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock set forth
below under the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). The Option is subject to all of the terms and conditions in this
Notice of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Option (this “Grant Notice”), in the Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement attached hereto (the “Agreement”) and in
the Plan. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Grant Notice will have the meanings given to such terms in the Plan or Agreement, as
applicable, and the Plan and Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference into this Grant Notice. If there are any inconsistences between this Grant Notice
or the Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall govern.

Optionee: [____________________]
Type of Grant: Nonqualified Option Right
Date of Grant: [________________]
Number of Shares Subject to the Option: [________]
Option Price (per share): $[_______]
Vesting Start Date: [Vesting Start Date]
Vesting Schedule: Subject to the conditions set forth in the Agreement, including but not limited

to Optionee’s continuous Service until the applicable vesting date, the Option
shall vest as follows: [insert vesting schedule].

Vesting Schedule may be included in an appendix to a grant agreement accepted via an electronic platform.

[1]

[1] 

1



PLBY GROUP, INC.

Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted, pursuant to the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), to
the Optionee named in the Notice of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Option (the “Grant Notice”) to which this Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement is attached
(together with the Grant Notice, this “Agreement”) an Option Right (the “Option”) to purchase shares of Common Stock as set forth in such Grant Notice,
subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings given to such terms in the Plan. As
used in this Agreement:

a. “Cause” shall mean “Cause” (or a term of substantively similar meaning) as defined in the individual employment agreement in effect as of
the Date of Grant between Optionee and the Company or any Subsidiary (an “Employment Agreement”), if any, or, if Optionee does not then have an
effective Employment Agreement (or such Employment Agreement does not define “Cause”), then “Cause” shall mean (i) the commission by
Optionee of a felony or a fraud, (ii) conduct by Optionee that brings the Company or any of its Subsidiaries into substantial public disgrace or
disrepute, (iii) gross negligence or gross misconduct by Optionee with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iv) Optionee’s
abandonment of Optionee’s employment with the Company, (v) Optionee’s insubordination or failure to follow the directions of the Board or such
other individual to whom Optionee reports, which is not cured (if curable) within three (3) days after written notice thereof to Optionee, (vi)
Optionee’s breach of a material employment policy of the Company, which is not cured (if curable) within three (3) days after written notice thereof
to Optionee, or (vii) any other breach by Optionee of this Agreement or any other agreement with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which is
material and which is not cured (if curable) within thirty (30) days after written notice thereof to Optionee.

b. “Disability” (or similar terms) shall mean shall mean “Disability” (or a term of substantively similar meaning) as defined in Optionee’s
Employment Agreement, if any, or, if Optionee does not then have an effective Employment Agreement (or such Employment Agreement does not
define “Disability”), then “Disability” shall mean that Optionee, because of accident, disability or physical or mental illness, is incapable of
performing Optionee’s duties to the Company, as determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Optionee shall
be deemed to have become incapable of performing Optionee’s duties to the Company if Optionee is incapable of so doing for (i) a continuous period
of 90 days and remains so incapable at the end of such 90 day period or (ii) periods amounting in the aggregate to 180 days within any one period of
365 days and remains so incapable at the end of such aggregate period of 180 days.

c. [“Good Reason” shall mean “Good Reason” as defined in Optionee’s Employment Agreement.]

d. “Service” shall mean the Optionee’s employment or service with the Company or a Subsidiary, whether as an employee, a Director, a
consultant or similar individual who provides services to the Company or any Subsidiary that are equivalent to those typically performed by an
employee (provided that such person satisfies the Form S-8 definition of “employee”). Unless otherwise provided by the Board, the Optionee’s
Service shall not be deemed to have terminated merely because of a change in the capacity in which the Optionee renders Service or a change in the
Company or Subsidiary for which the Optionee renders Service, provided that there is no interruption or termination of the Optionee’s Service.
Furthermore, the Optionee’s Service shall not be deemed to have been interrupted or terminated in the case of transfers between locations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries or if the Optionee takes any military leave, sick leave, or other bona fide leave of absence approved by the Company.

2. Grant of Option. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan, the Company has granted to
Optionee, as of the Date of Grant, an Option to purchase the number of shares of Common Stock set forth in the Grant Notice at the Option Price
specified therein. The Option Price represents at least the Market Value per Share on the Date of Grant. The Option is intended to be a nonqualified
stock option.

3. Vesting of Option.

a. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Option shall vest and become exercisable (“Vest,” or “Vested”) as set forth in the Grant Notice if
Optionee remains in continuous Service in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Grant Notice (the period from the Date of Grant
until the last vesting date of the Vesting Schedule, the “Vesting Period”). Any portion of the Option that does not become Vested shall be forfeited,
including[, except as provided in Section 3(b) or Section 3(c) below], if Optionee ceases to be in continuous Service for any reason prior to the end
of the Vesting Period.

b. [Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, the unvested portion of the Option (to the extent the Option has not been forfeited) shall Vest in full
upon any termination of Optionee’s Service (i) by the Company without Cause or (ii) by Optionee for Good Reason. / Notwithstanding Section 3(a)
above, 1/3 of the Option (to the extent the Option has not been forfeited) shall Vest in full upon any termination of Optionee’s Service (i) by the
Company without Cause or (ii) by Optionee for Good
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Reason, in any case, if such termination occurs within the first 12 months following [DATE] and the remaining portion of the Option shall be
immediately forfeited.]

c. Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, in the event of a Change in Control, the Option shall Vest in accordance with Section 5 below.

4. Right To Exercise; Termination of the Option. Any portion of the Option that becomes Vested in accordance with Section 3 shall remain
exercisable until, and shall terminate on, the earliest of the following dates:

a. Three (3) months after any termination of Optionee’s Service, unless such termination of Optionee’s Service (i) is due to Optionee’s death or
Disability as described in Section 4(b) or 4(c), (ii) is a result of a termination for Cause as described in Section 4(d), [or (iii) is a result of a
termination by the Company without Cause or by Optionee for Good Reason as described in Section 4(e)];

b. One (1) year after Optionee’s death if such death occurs while Optionee is employed by the Company or any Subsidiary [or serving on the
Board];

c. One (1) year after the termination of Optionee’s Service with the Company or a Subsidiary due to Disability;

d. Immediately upon the termination of Optionee’s Service by the Company or any Subsidiary for Cause;

e. [One (1) year after any termination of Optionee’s Service by the Company without Cause or by Optionee for Good Reason / (or three (3)
years after any termination of Optionee’s Service by the Company or its successor without Cause or by Optionee for Good Reason that occurs within
[three months prior to or / 24 months following a Change in Control)]; or

f. Ten (10) years from the Date of Grant.

For the avoidance of doubt, any portion of the Option that remains outstanding, whether or not Vested, will terminate immediately on the tenth
anniversary of the Date of Grant.

5. Effect of Change in Control.

a. Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, if at any time before the end of the Vesting Period (or forfeiture of the Option), and while Optionee is
continuously employed by the Company or a Subsidiary [or serving on the Board], a Change in Control occurs, then the Option shall Vest in full
(except to the extent that a Replacement Award is provided to Optionee in accordance with Section 5(b) to continue, replace or assume the Option
covered by this Agreement (the “Replaced Award”)) immediately prior to (and contingent upon) the Change in Control. [If, after receiving a
Replacement Award, Optionee’s Service is terminated by the Company without Cause or Optionee for Good Reason during the remaining vesting
period for the Replacement Award and within [three months prior to or / 24 months following a Change in Control, the Replacement Award shall
immediately vest in full.]

b. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Replacement Award” means an award (i) of an option to purchase publicly traded equity securities of the
Company or its successor in the Change in Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change in
Control, (ii) that has a value at the time of grant or adjustment at least equal to the value of the Replaced Award, (iii) if Optionee is subject to U.S.
federal income tax under the Code, the tax consequences of which to such Optionee under the Code are not less favorable to such Optionee than the
tax consequences of the Replaced Award, and (iv) the other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to Optionee than the terms and
conditions of the Replaced Award (including the provisions that would apply in the event of a subsequent termination of Optionee’s Service or
Change in Control). A Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent it does not result in the Replaced Award or Replacement Award failing
to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the
form of a continuation of the Replaced Award if the requirements of the two preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of whether the
conditions of this paragraph are satisfied will be made by the Board or the Committee, as constituted immediately before the Change in Control, in its
sole discretion.

6. Exercise and Payment of Option. To the extent exercisable, the Option may be exercised in whole or in part from time to time and will be settled in
Common Stock by Optionee giving written notice to the Company at its principal office specifying the number of shares of Common Stock for which
the Option is to be exercised and paying the aggregate Option Price for such Common Stock. Payment of the Option Price by Optionee shall be (a) in
cash, by check acceptable to the Company or by wire transfer of immediately available funds, (b) by the actual or constructive transfer to the
Company of Common Stock owned by Optionee having a value at the time of exercise equal to the total Option Price, (c) subject to any conditions or
limitations established by the Board or the Committee, by the withholding of Common Stock otherwise issuable upon exercise of the Option pursuant
to a “net exercise” arrangement, (d) by a combination of such methods of payment, or (e) by such other methods as may be approved by the Board or
the Committee.
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7. Restrictions on Transfer of the Option. Subject to Section 15 of the Plan, the Option is not transferable by Optionee other than by will or the laws
of descent and distribution, and in no event shall the Option be transferred for value.

8. No Dividend Equivalents. Optionee shall not be entitled to dividends or dividend equivalents with respect to the Option or the Common Stock
underlying the Option until such Common Stock is issued after the exercise of the Option (or portion thereof).

9. Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable subject to the Option and the other terms and conditions of the grant evidenced by
this Agreement are subject to mandatory adjustment, including as provided in Section 11 of the Plan.

10. Taxes and Withholding. To the extent that the Company or any Subsidiary is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes or other
amounts in connection with any payment made to or benefit realized by Optionee or any other person under the Option, Optionee agrees that the
Company or such Subsidiary will withhold any taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by the Company or such Subsidiary under federal,
state, local or non-U.S. law as a result of such payment or benefit in an amount sufficient to satisfy the minimum statutory withholding amount
permissible. To the extent that the amounts available to the Company or such Subsidiary for such withholding are insufficient, it shall be a condition
to the obligation of the Company to make any such delivery or payment that Optionee or such other person make arrangements satisfactory to the
Company for payment of the balance of such taxes or other amounts required to be withheld. In no event will the market value of Common Stock to
be withheld pursuant to this Section 10 to satisfy applicable withholding taxes or other amounts exceed the minimum amount of taxes that could be
required to be withheld. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to guarantee any particular tax
result for Optionee with respect to any payment provided to Optionee hereunder, and Optionee shall be responsible for any taxes imposed on
Optionee with respect to any such payment.

11. Data Privacy. Optionee hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of
Optionee’s personal data as described in this Agreement and any other Option grant materials by and among, as applicable, Company or any of
its Subsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Optionee’s participation in the Plan.

Optionee understands that the Company and its Subsidiaries may hold certain personal information about Optionee, including,
but not limited to, Optionee’s name, home address, email address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number, passport number
or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any shares of stock or directorships held in the Company, details of all options or any
other entitlement to shares of Common Stock awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Optionee’s favor (“Data”), for the
exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

Optionee understands that Data may be transferred to a stock plan service provider as may be designated by the Company from
time to time, which would be assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. Optionee understands
that the recipients of the Data may be located in the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country (e.g., the United States) may have
different data privacy laws and protections than Optionee’s country. Optionee understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he
or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her local human resources
representative. Optionee authorizes the Company, the stock plan service provider as may be designated by the Company from time to time, and its
affiliates, and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and
managing the Plan, to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing,
administering and managing his or her participation in the Plan. Optionee understands that Data will be held only as long as is necessary to
implement, administer and manage Optionee’s participation in the Plan. Optionee understands that if he or she resides outside the United States,
he or she may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary
amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human
resources representative. Further, Optionee understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If Optionee
does not consent, or if Optionee later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her employment status or service and career with the Company
will not be adversely affected; the only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing Optionee’s consent is that the Company would not be
able to grant Optionee options or other equity awards or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Optionee understands that refusing or
withdrawing his or her consent may affect Optionee’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Optionee’s
refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, Optionee understands that he or she may contact his or her local human resources representative.

12. Compliance with Law. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state securities laws; provided,
however, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to issue any shares of Common
Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a violation of any such law. The Option shall not be exercisable if such
exercise would involve a violation of any law.
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13. No Right to Future Awards or Employment. The Option award is a voluntary, discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not
constitute a commitment to make any future awards. The Option award and any related payments made to Optionee will not be considered salary or
other compensation for purposes of any severance pay or similar allowance, except as otherwise required by law. Nothing contained in this
Agreement will confer upon Optionee any right to be employed or remain employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, nor limit or affect in
any manner the right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to terminate Optionee’s employment or adjust the compensation of Optionee.

14. Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to Optionee under this Agreement or the Plan shall not be taken into account in
determining any benefits to which Optionee may be entitled under any profit-sharing, retirement or other benefit or compensation plan maintained by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and shall not affect the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life
insurance plan covering employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

15. Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the amendment is applicable
hereto; provided, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect Optionee’s rights with respect to the Option without Optionee’s consent, and
Optionee’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is deemed necessary by the Company to ensure compliance with Section 10D of the
Exchange Act.

16. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a court of competent
jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the remaining provisions hereof shall
continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

17. Relation to Plan. The Option granted under this Agreement and all of the terms and conditions hereof are subject to all of the terms and conditions
of the Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan will govern. The Committee acting pursuant
to the Plan, as constituted from time to time, shall, except as expressly provided otherwise herein or in the Plan, have the right to determine any
questions which arise in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Optionee acknowledges and
agrees that this Agreement and the award described herein are subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s clawback policy (if any) as may
be in effect from time to time, including specifically to implement Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or regulations
promulgated thereunder (including applicable rules and regulations of any national securities exchange on which the Common Stock may be traded).

18. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the Option and Optionee’s participation in the Plan,
or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means or request Optionee’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means.
Optionee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in the Plan through an online or
electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

19. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed with the internal substantive laws of the State of Delaware, without giving
effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other jurisdiction.

20. Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 7 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the
successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of Optionee, and the successors and assigns of the Company.

21. Acknowledgement. Optionee acknowledges that Optionee (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an opportunity to review the terms of this
Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan and (d) agrees to such terms and conditions.

22. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which
together will constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement on the day and year indicated below.

PLBY GROUP, INC.

By: ______________

Name:____________
Title: ____________
Date: ____________

Optionee Acknowledgment and Acceptance

By: ______________

Name: ___________
Date: ____________
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PLBY GROUP, INC.
NOTICE OF GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

(Employees General Form)

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants to the Participant the number of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) set
forth below under the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). The RSUs are subject to all of
the terms and conditions in this Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units (this “Grant Notice”), in the Restricted Stock Units
Agreement attached hereto (the “Agreement”) and in the Plan. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Grant
Notice will have the meanings given to such terms in the Plan, and the Plan and the Agreement are hereby incorporated by
reference into this Grant Notice. If there are any inconsistencies between this Grant Notice or the Agreement and the Plan, the terms
of the Plan shall govern.

Participant: [Name]
Type of Grant: Restricted Stock Units
Date of Grant: [Grant Date]
Number of RSUs: [#]
Vesting Start Date: [Vesting Start Date]
Vesting Schedule: Subject to the conditions set forth in the Agreement,

including but not limited to the Participant’s continued
Service until the applicable vesting date, the RSUs
shall vest as follows: [insert vesting schedule].

 Vesting Schedule may be included in an appendix to a grant agreement accepted via an electronic platform.

1
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PLBY GROUP, INC.

Restricted Stock Units Agreement

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted, pursuant to the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), to the Participant named in the Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units (the “Grant Notice”) to
which this Restricted Stock Units Agreement is attached (together with the Grant Notice, this “Agreement”) an award of Restricted
Stock Units as set forth in such Grant Notice, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings given to
such terms in the Plan. As used in this Agreement:

(a)    [“Cause” shall mean “Cause” (or a term of substantively similar meaning) as defined in the individual employment
agreement in effect as of the Date of Grant between the Participant and the Company or any Subsidiary (an “Employment
Agreement”).]

(b)    [“Good Reason” shall mean “Good Reason” as defined in the Participant’s Employment Agreement.]

(c)    “Service” shall mean the Participant’s employment or service with the Company or a Subsidiary, whether as an
employee, a Director, a consultant or similar individual who provides services to the Company or any Subsidiary that are
equivalent to those typically performed by an employee (provided that such person satisfies the Form S-8 definition of
“employee”). Unless otherwise provided by the Board, the Participant’s Service shall not be deemed to have terminated
merely because of a change in the capacity in which the Participant renders Service or a change in the Company or
Subsidiary for which the Participant renders Service, provided that there is no interruption or termination of the Participant’s
Service. Furthermore, the Participant’s Service shall not be deemed to have been interrupted or terminated in the case of
transfers between locations of the Company and its Subsidiaries or if the Participant takes any military leave, sick leave, or
other bona fide leave of absence approved by the Company.

2. Grant of RSUs. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan, the
Company has granted to the Participant, as of the Date of Grant, the number of RSUs set forth in the Grant Notice. Each
RSU shall represent the right of the Participant to receive one share of Common Stock subject to and upon the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and the Plan.

3. Vesting of RSUs.

(a)     The RSUs shall vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Grant Notice (the period from the Date of
Grant until the last applicable vesting date, the “Vesting Period”), subject to the Participant’s continued Service through the
applicable vesting date. Any RSUs that do not so become vested shall be forfeited, including[,
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except as provided in Section 3(b) or Section 3(c) below,] if the Participant ceases to be in continuous Service for any
reason prior to the end of the Vesting Period.

(b)    [Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, the RSUs shall become vested in full and payable to the Participant pursuant to
Section 5 hereof upon the date that the Participant’s Service is terminated by the Company or its Subsidiary without Cause
or the Participant terminates his or her Service for Good Reason. / Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, 1/3 of the RSUs
shall become vested in full and payable to the Participant pursuant to Section 5 hereof upon the date that the Participant’s
Service is terminated by the Company or its Subsidiary without Cause or the Participant terminates his or her Service for
Good Reason if such termination occurs within the first twelve (12) months following [DATE] and the remainder of the
RSUs shall be immediately forfeited.]

(c)    Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, in the event of a Change in Control that occurs prior to the end of the Vesting
Period and subject to the Participant’s continued Service through such time, the RSUs shall become vested in full and
payable to the Participant pursuant to Section 5 hereof upon the consummation of the Change in Control, except to the
extent that a Replacement Award is provided to the Participant to continue, replace or assume the RSUs covered by this
Agreement (the “Replaced Award”) immediately prior to (and contingent upon) the Change in Control. [If, within [three (3)
months prior to or] twenty-four (24) months after receiving a Replacement Award, the Participant’s Service is terminated by
the Company or its successor without Cause or the Participant for Good Reason during the remaining vesting period for the
Replacement Award, the Replacement Award shall immediately vest in full.] For purposes of this Agreement, a
“Replacement Award” means an award (i) of the same type (e.g., time-based restricted stock units) as the Replaced Award,
(ii) that has a value at least equal to the value of the Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly traded equity securities of
the Company or its successor in the Change in Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor
following the Change in Control, (iv) if the Participant holding the Replaced Award is subject to U.S. federal income tax
under the Code, the tax consequences of which to such Participant under the Code are not less favorable to such Participant
than the tax consequences of the Replaced Award, and (v) the other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to
the Participant holding the Replaced Award than the terms and conditions of the Replaced Award (including the provisions
that would apply in the event of a subsequent Change in Control). A Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent
it does not result in the Replaced Award or Replacement Award failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of
the Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation of
the Replaced Award if the requirements of the two preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of whether the
conditions of this paragraph are satisfied will be made by the Board or Committee, as constituted immediately before the
Change in Control, in its sole discretion.

4. Restrictions on Transfer of RSUs. Subject to Section 15 of the Plan, neither the RSUs evidenced hereby nor any interest
therein or in the shares of Common Stock underlying such RSUs shall be transferable prior to the settlement of such RSUs
pursuant to Section 5 hereof other than by will or pursuant to the laws of descent and distribution.

3



5. Form and Time of Payment of RSUs.

(a)     Payment for the RSUs, after and to the extent they have become vested and nonforfeitable, shall be made in the form
of one share of Common Stock for each vested RSU. Payment shall be made following the date that the RSUs become
vested pursuant to Section 3 hereof on a day on which the sale of such shares of Common Stock would not violate the terms
of a blackout period (whether under the Company’s insider trading policy, applicable law or otherwise), but in any event no
later than March 15th of the calendar year following the calendar year in which such RSUs become vested.

(b)    Except to the extent provided by Section 409A of the Code and permitted by the Board or the Committee, no shares of
Common Stock may be issued to the Participant at a time earlier than otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

(c)    The Company’s obligations to the Participant with respect to the RSUs will be satisfied in full upon the issuance of
shares of Common Stock corresponding to such RSUs.

6. Voting and Other Rights.

(a)     The Participant shall have no rights of ownership in the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs and no right to
vote the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs until the date on which the shares of Common Stock underlying the
RSUs are issued or transferred to the Participant pursuant to Section 5 above.

(b)    The obligation of the Company under this Agreement will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise of the
Company to deliver shares of Common Stock in the future, and the rights of the Participant will be no greater than that of an
unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of the
Company under this Agreement.

7. Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each RSU and the other terms and conditions of the
grant evidenced by this Agreement are subject to mandatory adjustment, including as provided in Section 11 of the Plan.

8. Taxes. To the extent that the Company or any Subsidiary is required to withhold
federal, state, local or foreign taxes or other amounts in connection with any payment made to or benefit realized by the Participant
pursuant to this Agreement, the Participant agrees that the Company or such Subsidiary will withhold any taxes or other amounts
required to be withheld by the Company or such Subsidiary under federal, state, local or non-U.S. law as a result of such payment
or benefit in an amount sufficient to satisfy the minimum statutory withholding amount permissible. To the extent that the amounts
available to the Company or such Subsidiary for such withholding are insufficient, it shall be a condition to the obligation of the
Company to make any such delivery or payment that the Participant or such other person make arrangements satisfactory to the
Company for payment of the balance of such taxes or other amounts required to be withheld. In no event will the market value of
Common Stock to be withheld pursuant to this Section 8 to satisfy applicable withholding taxes or other amounts exceed the
minimum amount of taxes that could be required to be withheld. Notwithstanding any other provision of
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this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to guarantee any particular tax result for the Participant with respect to any
payment provided to the Participant hereunder, and the Participant shall be responsible for any taxes imposed on the Participant
with respect to any such payment.

9. Data Privacy. The Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in
electronic or other form, of the Participant’s personal data as described in this Agreement and any other RSU grant
materials by and among, as applicable, Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of implementing,
administering and managing the Participant’s participation in the Plan.

The Participant understands that the Company and its Subsidiaries may hold certain personal information about the
Participant, including, but not limited to, the Participant’s name, home address, email address and telephone number,
date of birth, social insurance number, passport number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any
shares of stock or directorships held in the Company, details of all options, RSUs or any other entitlement to shares of
Common Stock awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in the Participant’s favor (“Data”), for the
exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

The Participant understands that Data may be transferred to a stock plan service provider as may be designated by the
Company from time to time, which would be assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and
management of the Plan. The Participant understands that the recipients of the Data may be located in the United States
or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy laws and
protections than the Participant’s country. The Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States,
he or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her
local human resources representative. The Participant authorizes the Company, the stock plan service provider as may be
designated by the Company from time to time, and its affiliates, and any other possible recipients which may assist the
Company (presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan, to receive, possess, use,
retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing, administering and
managing his or her participation in the Plan. The Participant understands that Data will be held only as long as is
necessary to implement, administer and manage the Participant’s participation in the Plan. The Participant understands
that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may, at any time, view Data, request additional information
about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents
herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human resources representative. Further, the
Participant understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If the Participant
does not consent, or if the Participant later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her employment status or service
and career with the Company will not be adversely affected; the only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing the
Participant’s consent is that the Company would not be able to grant the Participant options, RSUs or other equity
awards or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, the Participant understands that refusing or
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withdrawing his or her consent may affect the Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on
the consequences of the Participant’s refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, the Participant understands that he or
she may contact his or her local human resources representative.

10.     Compliance with Law.

(a)    The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state securities laws; provided,
however, that notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to
issue any shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a violation of any such
law.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement prevents the Participant from
providing, without prior notice to the Company, information to governmental authorities regarding possible legal violations
or otherwise testifying or participating in any investigation or proceeding by any governmental authorities regarding
possible legal violations, and for purpose of clarity the Participant is not prohibited from providing information voluntarily
to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 21F of the Exchange Act.

11.     Compliance With Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Agreement and the Plan
comply with or be exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a
manner consistent with this intent, and any provision that would cause this Agreement or the Plan to fail to satisfy Section 409A of
the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply with Section 409A of the Code (which amendment may be
retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company without the consent of the
Participant). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is not guaranteeing any particular tax outcome, and the Participant shall
remain solely liable for any and all tax consequences associated with the RSUs.

12.     Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed, temporary or
final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the
Internal Revenue Service.

13.    No Right to Future Awards or Continued Employment. The grant of the RSUs under this Agreement to the Participant is a
voluntary, discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any future awards.
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon the Participant any right to continued employment with the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries.

14.    Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to the Participant under this Agreement or the Plan shall not be
taken into account in determining any benefits to which the Participant may be entitled under any other compensatory arrangement
maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
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15.    Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the
amendment is applicable hereto; provided, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect the Participant’s rights with respect
to the RSUs without the Participant’s written consent, and the Participant’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is
deemed necessary by the Company to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code or Section 10D of the Exchange Act.

16.    Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a court
of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the
remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

17.     Relation to Plan. The RSUs granted under this Agreement and all of the terms and conditions hereof are subject to all of the
terms and conditions of the Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan will
govern. The Committee acting pursuant to the Plan, as constituted from time to time, shall, except as expressly provided otherwise
herein or in the Plan, have the right to determine any questions which arise in connection with this Agreement.

18.    Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the RSUs and the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means or request the
Participant’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by
electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and
maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

19.    Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed with the internal substantive laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other jurisdiction.

20.     Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 4 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of,
and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of the Participant, and the successors
and assigns of the Company.

21.     Acknowledgement. The Participant acknowledges that the Participant (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an
opportunity to review the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the
Plan and (d) agrees to such terms and conditions.

22.     Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which together will constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement on the day and year indicated below.

PLBY GROUP, INC.

By: __________________________________
Name: _______________________________
Title: ________________________________
Date: ________________________________

Participant Acknowledgment and Acceptance

By: __________________________________
Print Name: ___________________________
Date: ________________________________



PLBY GROUP, INC.
NOTICE OF GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

(Non-Employee Directors General Form)

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants to the Participant the number of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) set forth below
under the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). The RSUs are subject to all of the terms
and conditions in this Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units (this “Grant Notice”), in the Restricted Stock Units Agreement
attached hereto (the “Agreement”) and in the Plan. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Grant Notice will have
the meanings given to such terms in the Plan, and the Plan and the Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference into this Grant
Notice. If there are any inconsistencies between this Grant Notice or the Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall govern.

Participant: [Name]
Type of Grant: Restricted Stock Units
Date of Grant: [Grant Date]
Number of RSUs: [#]
Vesting Start Date: [Vesting Start Date]
Vesting Schedule: Subject to the conditions set forth in the Agreement, including but not limited to

the Participant’s continuous service as a Director until the applicable vesting date,
the RSUs [shall vest in three (3) equal installments on each of the first three
anniversaries of the Date of Grant / shall become vested in full on the date
that is the earlier of (a) the one-year anniversary of the Date of Grant and (b)
the date of the Company’s regular annual meeting of stockholders which
occurs in the calendar year following the calendar year in which the Date of
Grant occurs].

 Vesting Schedule may be included in an appendix to a grant agreement accepted via an electronic platform.

1
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PLBY GROUP, INC.

Restricted Stock Units Agreement

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted, pursuant to the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), to the Participant named in the Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Units (the “Grant Notice”) to
which this Restricted Stock Units Agreement is attached (together with the Grant Notice, this “Agreement”) an award of Restricted
Stock Units as set forth in such Grant Notice, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings
given to such terms in the Plan.

2. Grant of RSUs. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the
Plan, the Company has granted to the Participant, as of the Date of Grant, the number of RSUs set forth in the Grant Notice.
Each RSU shall represent the right of the Participant to receive one share of Common Stock subject to and upon the terms
and conditions of this Agreement.

3. Restrictions on Transfer of RSUs. Subject to Section 15 of the Plan, neither the RSUs evidenced hereby nor any
interest therein or in the shares of Common Stock underlying such RSUs shall be transferable prior to payment to the
Participant pursuant to Section 5 hereof other than by will or pursuant to the laws of descent and distribution.

4. Vesting of RSUs.

(a)     The RSUs shall vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Grant Notice (the period from the Date of
Grant until the last applicable vesting date, the “Vesting Period”), subject to the Participant continuing to serve as a Director
through the applicable vesting date. Any RSUs that do not so become vested will be forfeited, including, except as provided
in Section 4(b) or Section 4(c) below, if the Participant ceases to serve as a Director for any reason prior to the end of the
Vesting Period.

(b)    Notwithstanding Section 4(a) above, the RSUs shall become vested in full and payable to the Participant pursuant to
Section 5 hereof upon the date that the Participant ceases to be a Director by reason of the Participant’s death or the
Participant becomes Disabled. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” (or similar terms) shall mean a circumstance in
which the Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable
physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than 12 months and otherwise satisfies the requirements to be disabled under Section 409A of
the Code.

(c)    Notwithstanding Section 4(a) above, in the event of a Change in Control that occurs prior to the end of the Vesting
Period and subject to the Participant continuing to serve as a Director through such time, the RSUs shall become vested in
full and payable to the Participant pursuant to Section 5 hereof upon the consummation of the Change in
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Control, except to the extent that a Replacement Award is provided to the Participant to continue, replace or assume the
RSUs covered by this Agreement (the “Replaced Award”) immediately prior to (and contingent upon) the Change in
Control. If, after receiving a Replacement Award, the Participant experiences an involuntary termination by the Company of
the Participant’s service as a Director during the remaining vesting period for the Replacement Award, the Replacement
Award shall immediately vest in full. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Replacement Award” means an award (i) of the
same type (e.g., time-based restricted stock units) as the Replaced Award, (ii) that has a value at least equal to the value of
the Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly traded equity securities of the Company or its successor in the Change in
Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change in Control, (iv) if the
Participant holding the Replaced Award is subject to U.S. federal income tax under the Code, the tax consequences of which
to such Participant under the Code are not less favorable to such Participant than the tax consequences of the Replaced
Award, and (v) the other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to the Participant holding the Replaced Award
than the terms and conditions of the Replaced Award (including the provisions that would apply in the event of a subsequent
Change in Control). A Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent it does not result in the Replaced Award or
Replacement Award failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code. Without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation of the Replaced Award if the requirements of the
two preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of whether the conditions of this paragraph are satisfied will be
made by the Board or Committee, as constituted immediately before the Change in Control, in its sole discretion.

5.     Form and Time of Payment of RSUs.

(a)    Payment for the RSUs, after and to the extent they have become vested and nonforfeitable, shall be made in the form
of shares of Common Stock. Payment shall be made as soon as administratively practicable following (but no later than
thirty (30) days following) the date that the RSUs become vested pursuant to Section 4 hereof (the “Settlement Period”);
provided, however, that the Settlement Period shall be extended in the event vesting occurs during a closed trading window
in which case such payment shall be made on a day on which the sale of such shares of Common Stock would not violate
the terms of a blackout period (whether under the Company’s insider trading policy, applicable law or otherwise), but in any
event no later than March 15th of the calendar year following the calendar year in which such RSUs become vested.

(b)    Except to the extent provided by Section 409A of the Code and permitted by the Board or the Committee, no shares of
Common Stock may be issued to the Participant at a time earlier than otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

(c)    The Company’s obligations to the Participant with respect to the RSUs will be satisfied in full upon the issuance of
shares of Common Stock corresponding to such RSUs.
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6.     Dividend Equivalents; Voting and Other Rights.

(a)    The Participant shall have no rights of ownership in the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs and no right to
vote the shares of Common Stock underlying the RSUs until the date on which the shares of Common Stock underlying the
RSUs are issued or transferred to the Participant pursuant to Section 5 above.

(b)    From and after the Date of Grant and until the earlier of (i) the time when the RSUs become vested and are paid in
accordance with Section 5 hereof and (ii) the time when the Participant’s right to receive shares of Common Stock in
payment of the RSUs is forfeited in accordance with Section 4 hereof, on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if
any) to holders of shares of Common Stock generally, the Participant shall be credited with cash per RSU equal to the
amount of such dividend. Any amounts credited pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be subject to the same
applicable terms and conditions (including vesting, payment and forfeitability) as apply to the RSUs based on which the
dividend equivalents were credited, and such amounts shall be paid in cash at the same time as the RSUs to which they
relate are settled.

(c)    The obligation of the Company under this Agreement will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise of the
Company to deliver shares of Common Stock in the future, and the rights of the Participant will be no greater than that of an
unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of the
Company under this Agreement.

7.     Adjustments. The number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each RSU and the other terms and conditions of
the grant evidenced by this Agreement are subject to mandatory adjustment, including as provided in Section 11 of the Plan.

8.    Taxes. The Participant will be solely responsible for the payment of all taxes that arise with respect to the granting and
payment of the RSUs, including the payment of any shares of Common Stock.

9.    Compliance with Law.

(a)    The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state securities laws; provided,
however, that notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to
issue any shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a violation of any such
law.

(b)    Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement prevents the Participant from
providing, without prior notice to the Company, information to governmental authorities regarding possible legal violations
or otherwise testifying or participating in any investigation or proceeding by any governmental authorities regarding
possible legal violations, and for purpose of clarity the Participant is not prohibited from providing information voluntarily
to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 21F of the Exchange Act.

4



10. Compliance With Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Agreement and the Plan
comply with or be exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a
manner consistent with this intent, and any provision that would cause this Agreement or the Plan to fail to satisfy Section 409A of
the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply with Section 409A of the Code (which amendment may be
retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company without the consent of the
Participant). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is not guaranteeing any particular tax outcome, and the Participant shall
remain solely liable for any and all tax consequences associated with the RSUs.

11. Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed, temporary
or final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the
Internal Revenue Service.

12. No Right to Future Awards or Continued Service as a Director. The grant of the RSUs under this Agreement to the
Participant is a voluntary, discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any
future awards. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon the Participant any right to continued service as a Director.

13. Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to the Participant under this Agreement or the Plan shall not
be taken into account in determining any benefits to which the Participant may be entitled under any other compensatory
arrangement maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

14. Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the
amendment is applicable hereto; provided, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect the Participant’s rights with respect
to the RSUs without the Participant’s written consent, and the Participant’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is
deemed necessary by the Company to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code or Section 10D of the Exchange Act.

15. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a
court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and
the remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

16. Relation to Plan. The RSUs granted under this Agreement and all of the terms and conditions hereof are subject to all
of the terms and conditions of the Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the
Plan will govern. The Committee acting pursuant to the Plan, as constituted from time to time, shall, except as expressly provided
otherwise herein or in the Plan, have the right to determine any questions which arise in connection with this Agreement.

17. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the RSUs and the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, or future awards
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that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means or request the Participant’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic
means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in
the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by
the Company.

18. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed with the internal substantive laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other jurisdiction.

19. Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 3 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit
of, and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of the Participant, and the successors
and assigns of the Company.

20. Acknowledgement. The Participant acknowledges that the Participant (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an
opportunity to review the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the
Plan and (d) agrees to such terms and conditions.

21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which together will constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement on the day and year indicated below.

PLBY GROUP, INC.

By: __________________________________
Name: _______________________________
Title: ________________________________
Date: ________________________________

Participant Acknowledgment and Acceptance

By: __________________________________
Print Name: ___________________________
Date: ________________________________



PLBY GROUP, INC.
NOTICE OF GRANT OF

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS
(Employees General Form)

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants to the Participant the target number of performance-based Restricted Stock Units
(“PRSUs”) set forth below under the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). The PRSUs are
subject to all of the terms and conditions in this Notice of Grant of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (this “Grant Notice”),
in the Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement attached hereto (the “Agreement”) and in the Plan. Capitalized terms
used, but not otherwise defined, in this Grant Notice will have the meanings given to such terms in the Plan, and the Plan and the
Agreement are hereby incorporated by reference into this Grant Notice. If there are any inconsistences between this Grant Notice or
the Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall govern.

Participant: [Name]
Type of Grant: Performance-based Restricted Stock Units
Date of Grant: [Grant Date]
Target Number of PRSUs: [#]
Vesting Start Date: [Vesting Start Date]
Performance Period: Vesting Start Date through the seven (7) year anniversary of the

Vesting Start Date
Vesting Schedule: The target PRSUs are divided into four vesting tranches (each, a

“Tranche”), with each Tranche representing 25% of the target
number of PRSUs. The PRSUs in each Tranche shall vest and
become earned upon achievement of the following thirty (30) day
volume-weighted average price milestones (each, a “Performance
Objective”) for a share of Common Stock:

Tranche 1: $20,
Tranche 2: $30,
Tranche 3: $40, and
Tranche 4: $50,

in each case, prior to the end of the Performance Period and subject
to the Participant’s continued Service through the date that the Board
certifies that the Performance Objective for such Tranche has been
achieved (the “Certification Date”).

 Number to be evenly divisible by number of vesting tranches.
 Vesting Schedule may be included in an appendix to a grant agreement accepted via an electronic platform.

1
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PLBY GROUP, INC.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement

PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) has granted, pursuant to the PLBY Group, Inc. 2021 Equity and Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”), to the Participant named in the Notice of Grant of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (the
“Grant Notice”) to which this Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units Agreement is attached (together with the Grant Notice,
this “Agreement”) an award of performance-based Restricted Stock Units as set forth in such Grant Notice, subject to the terms and
conditions set forth in this Agreement.

1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used, but not otherwise defined, in this Agreement will have the meanings given to
such terms in Grant Notice, or, if not defined therein, then the Plan. As used in this Agreement:

a. “Cause” shall mean “Cause” as defined in the individual employment agreement in effect as of the Date of Grant
between the Participant and the Company or any Subsidiary (an “Employment Agreement”).

b. “Good Reason” shall mean “Good Reason” as defined in the Participant’s Employment Agreement.

c. “Service” shall mean the Participant’s employment or service with the Company or a Subsidiary, whether as an
employee, a Director, a consultant or similar individual who provides services to the Company or any Subsidiary that
are equivalent to those typically performed by an employee (provided that such person satisfies the Form S-8
definition of “employee”). Unless otherwise provided by the Board, the Participant’s Service shall not be deemed to
have terminated merely because of a change in the capacity in which the Participant renders Service or a change in
the Company or Subsidiary for which the Participant renders Service, provided that there is no interruption or
termination of the Participant’s Service. Furthermore, the Participant’s Service shall not be deemed to have been
interrupted or terminated in the case of transfers between locations of the Company and its Subsidiaries or if the
Participant takes any military leave, sick leave, or other bona fide leave of absence approved by the Company.

2.     Grant of PRSUs. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and in the Plan, the
Company has granted to the Participant, as of the Date of Grant, the target number of performance-based Restricted Stock Units set
forth in the Grant Notice (the “PRSUs”). Each earned and vested PRSU shall represent the right of the Participant to receive one
share of Common Stock subject to and upon the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Plan and achievement of the
Performance Objectives.
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3.     Vesting of PRSUs.

a. The PRSUs shall vest in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth in the Grant Notice upon achievement of the
relevant Performance Objective for each Tranche prior the end of the Performance Period, subject to the Participant’s
continued Service through the applicable Certification Date for such Tranche. The Board shall, periodically
throughout the Performance Period and upon request of the Participant, assess whether the Performance Objective
for a particular Tranche has been satisfied, and, if it concludes that such Performance Objective has been satisfied,
shall certify such achievement. Any PRSUs that do not vest prior to the end of the Performance Period shall be
forfeited, including, except as provided in Section 3(b) or Section 3(c) below, if the Participant ceases to be in
continuous Service for any reason prior to the end of the Performance Period.

b. Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, if the Participant’s Service is terminated by the Company or its Subsidiary
without Cause or the Participant terminates his or her Service for Good Reason, in each case prior to the end of the
Performance Period, then the PRSUs will remain outstanding and eligible to vest based on actual attainment of the
Performance Objectives until the earlier of (i) [the third anniversary of / 90 days following] such termination date
and (ii) the end of the Performance Period. Any PRSUs that do not vest within the foregoing timeframe shall be
immediately forfeited.

c. Notwithstanding Section 3(a) above, in the event of a Change in Control and subject to the Participant’s continued
Service through such time, the PRSUs shall become vested in full and payable to the Participant pursuant to Section
5 hereof upon the consummation of the Change in Control, except to the extent that a Replacement Award is
provided to the Participant to continue, replace or assume the PRSUs covered by this Agreement (the “Replaced
Award”) immediately prior to (and contingent upon) the Change in Control. If, within [three (3) months prior to or]
twenty-four (24) months after receiving a Replacement Award, the Participant’s Service is terminated by the
Company or its successor without Cause or the Participant for Good Reason during the remaining vesting period for
the Replacement Award, the Replacement Award shall immediately vest in full. For purposes of this Agreement, a
“Replacement Award” means an award (i) of the same type (e.g., Performance-based restricted stock units) as the
Replaced Award, (ii) that has a value at least equal to the value of the Replaced Award, (iii) that relates to publicly
traded equity securities of the Company or its successor in the Change in Control or another entity that is affiliated
with the Company or its successor following the Change in Control, (iv) if the Participant holding the Replaced
Award is subject to U.S. federal income tax under the Code, the tax consequences of which to such Participant under
the Code are not less favorable to such Participant than the tax consequences of the Replaced Award, and (v) the
other terms and conditions of which are not less favorable to the Participant holding the Replaced Award than the
terms and conditions of the Replaced Award (including the provisions that would apply in the event of a subsequent
Change in Control). A Replacement Award may be granted only to the extent it does not
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result in the Replaced Award or Replacement Award failing to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the
Code. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation
of the Replaced Award if the requirements of the two preceding sentences are satisfied. The determination of
whether the conditions of this paragraph are satisfied will be made by the Board or Committee, as constituted
immediately before the Change in Control, in its sole discretion.

4.     Restrictions on Transfer of PRSUs.

a. Subject to Section 15 of the Plan, neither the PRSUs evidenced hereby nor any interest therein or in the shares of
Common Stock underlying such PRSUs shall be transferable prior to the settlement of such PRSUs pursuant to
Section 5 hereof other than by will or pursuant to the laws of descent and distribution.

b. Further, subject to Early Release (defined below), during the twelve (12) month period following the settlement of
any PRSUs (the (“Transfer Restriction Period”), the Participant agrees that he or she will not offer, sell, contract to
sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of the shares of Common Stock received upon
settlement of such PRSUs (“Transfer Restricted Shares”) or enter into a transaction that would have the same effect,
or enter into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic
consequences of ownership of such shares of Common Stock, whether any of these transactions are to be settled by
delivery of any shares of Common Stock or otherwise, publicly disclose the intention to make any offer, sale, pledge
or disposition, or to enter into any transaction, swap, hedge or other arrangement, or engage in any short sales with
respect to any securities of the Company; provided, however, that the Transfer Restriction Period shall not apply to
any (a) transfers to satisfy any tax withholding obligations associated with the PRSUs; (b) transfers or distributions
to theParticipant’s direct or indirect affiliates (within the meaning of Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended); (c) transfers by bona fide gift to a member of the Participant’s immediate family or to a trust, the
beneficiary of which is the Participant or a member of the Participant’s immediate family for estate planning
purposes; (d) transfers by virtue of the laws of descent and distribution upon death of the Participant; (e) transfers
pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order; or (f) pledges of the Transfer Restricted Shares as security or
collateral in connection with a borrowing or the incurrence of any indebtedness by the Participant, provided,
however, that such borrowing or incurrence of indebtedness is secured by a portfolio of assets or equity interests
issued by multiple issuers, provided, however, that such plan does not provide for the transfer of Transfer Restricted
Shares during the Transfer Restriction Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company consummates a
liquidation, merger, stock exchange or other similar transaction which results in all of the Company’s stockholders
having the right to exchange their shares of Common Stock for cash, securities or other property, then the PRSUs
and shares of Common Stock into which they are settled shall be released from the Transfer Restriction Period
immediately prior to the date of such liquidation, merger, stock exchange or similar transaction (“Early Release”).
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5.    Form and Time of Payment of PRSUs.

a. Payment for the PRSUs, after and to the extent they have become vested and nonforfeitable, shall be made in the
form of one share of Common Stock for each vested PRSU. Payment shall be made following the applicable
Certification Date for such PRSUs on a day on which the sale of such shares of Common Stock would not violate the
terms of a blackout period (whether under the Company’s insider trading policy, applicable law or otherwise), but in
any event no later than March 15th of the calendar year following the calendar year in which such Certification Date
occurs.

b. Except to the extent provided by Section 409A of the Code and permitted by the Board or the Committee, no shares
of Common Stock may be issued to the Participant at a time earlier than otherwise expressly provided in this
Agreement.

c. The Company’s obligations to the Participant with respect to the PRSUs will be satisfied in full upon the issuance of
shares of Common Stock corresponding to such vested PRSUs.

6.    Voting and Other Rights.

a. The Participant shall have no rights of ownership in the shares of Common Stock underlying the PRSUs and no right
to vote the shares of Common Stock underlying the PRSUs until the date on which the shares of Common Stock
underlying the PRSUs are issued or transferred to the Participant pursuant to Section 5 above.

b. The obligation of the Company under this Agreement will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise of
the Company to deliver shares of Common Stock in the future, and the rights of the Participant will be no greater
than that of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the
obligations of the Company under this Agreement.

7.    Adjustments. The PRSUs and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable for each PRSU and the other terms and
conditions of the grant evidenced by this Agreement are subject to mandatory adjustment, including as provided in Section 11 of the
Plan.

8.    Taxes. To the extent that the Company or any Subsidiary is required to withhold federal, state, local or foreign taxes or other
amounts in connection with any payment made to or benefit realized by the Participant pursuant to this Agreement, the Participant
agrees that the Company or such Subsidiary will withhold any taxes or other amounts required to be withheld by the Company or
such Subsidiary under federal, state, local or non-U.S. law as a result of such payment or benefit in an amount sufficient to satisfy
the minimum statutory withholding amount permissible. To the extent that the amounts available to the Company or such
Subsidiary for such withholding are insufficient, it shall be a condition to the obligation of the Company to make any such delivery
or payment that the Participant or such other person make arrangements satisfactory to the Company for payment of the balance of
such taxes or other amounts required
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to be withheld. In no event will the market value of Common Stock to be withheld pursuant to this Section 8 to satisfy applicable
withholding taxes or other amounts exceed the minimum amount of taxes that could be required to be withheld. Notwithstanding
any other provision of this Agreement, the Company shall not be obligated to guarantee any particular tax result for the Participant
with respect to any payment provided to the Participant hereunder, and the Participant shall be responsible for any taxes imposed on
the Participant with respect to any such payment.

9.    Data Privacy. The Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in
electronic or other form, of the Participant’s personal data as described in this Agreement and any other PRSU grant materials
by and among, as applicable, Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and
managing the Participant’s participation in the Plan.

The Participant understands that the Company and its Subsidiaries may hold certain personal information about the
Participant, including, but not limited to, the Participant’s name, home address, email address and telephone number, date of
birth, social insurance number, passport number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any shares of stock
or directorships held in the Company, details of all options, PRSUs or any other entitlement to shares of Common Stock
awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in the Participant’s favor (“Data”), for the exclusive purpose of
implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

    The Participant understands that Data may be transferred to a stock plan service provider as may be designated by the
Company from time to time, which would be assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management
of the Plan. The Participant understands that the recipients of the Data may be located in the United States or elsewhere, and
that the recipients’ country (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy laws and protections than the Participant’s
country. The Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may request a list with the
names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her local human resources representative. The
Participant authorizes the Company, the stock plan service provider as may be designated by the Company from time to time,
and its affiliates, and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with implementing,
administering and managing the Plan, to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the
sole purpose of implementing, administering and managing his or her participation in the Plan. The Participant understands
that Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage the Participant’s participation in the
Plan. The Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may, at any time, view Data,
request additional information about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or refuse
or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human resources
representative. Further, the Participant understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis.
If the Participant does not consent, or if the Participant later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her employment status or
service and career with the Company will not be adversely affected; the only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing
the Participant’s consent is that the Company would not be able to grant the Participant options, PRSUs or other equity awards
or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, the Participant understands that refusing or
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withdrawing his or her consent may affect the Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the
consequences of the Participant’s refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, the Participant understands that he or she may
contact his or her local human resources representative.

10.     Compliance with Law.

a. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state securities laws; provided,
however, that notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan and this Agreement, the Company shall not be
obligated to issue any shares of Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement if the issuance thereof would result in a
violation of any such law.

b. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing in this Agreement prevents the Participant from
providing, without prior notice to the Company, information to governmental authorities regarding possible legal
violations or otherwise testifying or participating in any investigation or proceeding by any governmental authorities
regarding possible legal violations, and for purpose of clarity the Participant is not prohibited from providing
information voluntarily to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 21F of the Exchange Act.

11.     Compliance With Section 409A of the Code. To the extent applicable, it is intended that this Agreement and the Plan
comply with or be exempt from the provisions of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement and the Plan shall be administered in a
manner consistent with this intent, and any provision that would cause this Agreement or the Plan to fail to satisfy Section 409A of
the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply with Section 409A of the Code (which amendment may be
retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company without the consent of the
Participant). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is not guaranteeing any particular tax outcome, and the Participant shall
remain solely liable for any and all tax consequences associated with the PRSUs.

12.     Interpretation. Any reference in this Agreement to Section 409A of the Code will also include any proposed, temporary or
final regulations, or any other guidance, promulgated with respect to such Section by the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the
Internal Revenue Service.

13.     No Right to Future Awards or Continued Employment. The grant of the PRSUs under this Agreement to the Participant is
a voluntary, discretionary award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any future
awards. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon the Participant any right to continued employment with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

14.     Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to the Participant under this Agreement or the Plan shall not be
taken into account in determining any benefits to which the Participant may be entitled under any other compensatory arrangement
maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
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15.     Amendments. Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to this Agreement to the extent that the
amendment is applicable hereto; provided, however, that no amendment shall adversely affect the Participant’s rights with respect
to the PRSUs without the Participant’s written consent, and the Participant’s consent shall not be required to an amendment that is
deemed necessary by the Company to ensure compliance with Section 409A of the Code or Section 10D of the Exchange Act.

16.     Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of this Agreement shall be invalidated for any reason by a court
of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the
remaining provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

17.     Relation to Plan. The PRSUs granted under this Agreement and all of the terms and conditions hereof are subject to all of
the terms and conditions of the Plan. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan
will govern. The Committee acting pursuant to the Plan, as constituted from time to time, shall, except as expressly provided
otherwise herein or in the Plan, have the right to determine any questions which arise in connection with this Agreement.

18.     Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, deliver any documents related to the PRSUs and the
Participant’s participation in the Plan, or future awards that may be granted under the Plan, by electronic means or request the
Participant’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means. The Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by
electronic delivery and, if requested, agrees to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and
maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

19.     Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed with the internal substantive laws of the State of
Delaware, without giving effect to any principle of law that would result in the application of the law of any other jurisdiction.

20.     Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 4 hereof, the provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of,
and be binding upon, the successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns of the Participant, and the successors
and assigns of the Company.

21.     Acknowledgement. The Participant acknowledges that the Participant (a) has received a copy of the Plan, (b) has had an
opportunity to review the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, (c) understands the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the
Plan and (d) agrees to such terms and conditions.

22.     Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an
original but all of which together will constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement on the day and year indicated below.

PLBY GROUP, INC.

By: __________________________________
Name: _______________________________
Title: ________________________________
Date: ________________________________

Participant Acknowledgment and Acceptance

By: __________________________________
Print Name: ___________________________
Date: ________________________________



Exhibit 21.1

Name of Subsidiary Place of Incorporation
After Dark LLC* Delaware
Alta Loma Entertainment, Inc. Delaware
Artwork Holdings LLC Delaware
Big Bunny Holdings, LLC Delaware
Centerfold Digital, Inc. Delaware
China Products Licensing LLC Delaware
Honey Birdette (Aust) Pty Ltd Australia
Honey Birdette (Canada) Ltd. Canada
Honey Birdette (UK) Limited United Kingdom
Honey Birdette US Inc. Delaware
Honey Birdette (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore
ICS Entertainment, Inc. Delaware
Mansion Holdings LLC Delaware
N950PB, LLC Delaware
PB Global Acquisition Corp. Delaware
PB Spirits, LLC* Delaware
PB Touring GP, LLC Delaware
PB Touring LP Cayman Islands
PB Touring LP, LLC Delaware
PBTV LLC Delaware
Playboy California LLC Delaware
Playboy Enterprises, Inc. Delaware
Playboy Enterprises International, Inc. Delaware
Playboy Entertainment Group, Inc. Delaware
Playboy Media, LLC Delaware
Playboy Nevada LLC Delaware
Playboy New Venture LLC Delaware
Playboy Spirits, LLC Delaware
Playboy TV International LLC Delaware
Playboy TV UK Limited United Kingdom
Playboy.com, Inc. Delaware
PLBY Australia Pty Ltd Australia
Products Licensing LLC Delaware
Spice Entertainment, Inc. Delaware
Spice Hot Entertainment, Inc. Delaware
TLA Acquisition Corp. Delaware
Yandy Enterprises LLC Delaware

* Indicates a company that is not wholly owned directly or indirectly by PLBY Group, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-259216 on Form S-8 of PLBY Group, Inc. of our audit of Playboy
Enterprises, Inc. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, with a report date of March 31, 2021, appearing in this Annual Report in Form 10-K of
PLBY Group, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ Prager Metis CPAs LLP
Prager Metis CPAs LLP
El Segundo, California
March 16, 2022



Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

PLBY Group, Inc.
Los Angeles, California

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-259216) of PLBY Group, Inc. (“Company”) of our
reports dated March 16, 2022, relating to the consolidated financial statements, and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting, which appear in this Form 10-K. Our report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting expresses an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 16, 2022



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ben Kohn, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of PLBY Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2022

By: /s/ Ben Kohn
Ben Kohn
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lance Barton, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of PLBY Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2022

By: /s/ Lance Barton
Lance Barton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”), Ben
Kohn, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

a. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

b. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 16, 2022

By: /s/ Ben Kohn
Ben Kohn
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of PLBY Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”),
Lance Barton, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

a. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

b. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 16, 2022

By: /s/ Lance Barton
Lance Barton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


